

Norwegian University of Life Sciences Faculty of Environmental Sciences and Natural Resource Management

Philosophiae Doctor (PhD) Thesis 2018:79

Human-mediated effects on brown bear behavior and potential cascading effects

Menneskets påvirkning på brunbjørnens atferd, og potensielle kaskadeeffekter

Gro Kvelprud Moen

Human-mediated effects on brown bear behavior and potential cascading effects

Menneskets påvirkning på brunbjørnens atferd, og potensielle kaskadeeffekter

Philosophiae Doctor (PhD) Thesis

Gro Kvelprud Moen

Norwegian University of Life Sciences Faculty of Environmental Sciences and Natural Resource Management

Ås (2018)



Thesis number 2018:79 ISSN 1894-6402 ISBN 978-82-575-1547-8

PhD supervisors

Dr. Ole-Gunnar Støen Faculty of Environmental Sciences and natural Resource Management Norwegian University of Life Sciences 1432 Ås, Norway & Norwegian Institute for Nature Research 7485 Trondheim, Norway

Dr. Andrés Ordiz Faculty of Environmental Sciences and natural Resource Management Norwegian University of Life Sciences 1432 Ås, Norway

Professor Jon Swenson Faculty of Environmental Sciences and natural Resource Management Norwegian University of Life Sciences 1432 Ås, Norway & Norwegian Institute for Nature Research 7485 Trondheim, Norway

Dr. Jonas Kindberg Norwegian Institute for Nature Research 7485 Trondheim, Norway & Department of Wildlife, Fish and Environmental Studies Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences 901 83 Umeå, Sweden

Professor Göran Ericsson Department of Wildlife, Fish and Environmental Studies Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences 901 83 Umeå, Sweden

Evaluation committee

Professor Eivin Røskaft Department of Biology Norwegian University of Science and Technology 7491 Trondheim, Norway

Associate Professor Shyamala Ratnayeke Department of Biological Sciences, School of Science and Technology, Sunway University 47500 Selangor, Malaysia

Dr. Katrine Eldegard Faculty of Environmental Sciences and natural Resource Management Norwegian University of Life Sciences 1432 Ås, Norway

Table of Contents

Summaryv
Sammendragvii
List of papersix
Synopsis1
Introduction3
Objectives and their rationale6
How do brown bears behave during human encounters? (Paper I)6
Are brown bear reactions to human encounters consistent across populations and different human densities? (Paper II)6
Are brown bear flight reactions changing with more frequent encounters with humans? (Paper III)7
Can brown bears influence other species in the boreal forest, and is this modified by human disturbance? (Paper IV)7
Methods9
Study areas9
The bears
Experimental approaches to bears (papers I, II, and III)11
Survey of anthills (paper IV)12
Result14
Brown bears avoid humans on foot, and bear behavioral responses are stable across populations, gradients of human disturbance, and when repeatedly encountered (Paper I, Paper II, Paper III)
Bears reduce red forest ants in the boreal forest, and the effect can be modified by human presence (Paper IV)
Discussion
Brown bears react consistently to avoid humans18
Bears influence other species in the boreal forest20
How brown bears affect other species can be modified by human disturbance21
Conclusion22
References
Acknowledgements
Compilation of papers

Summary

Human disturbance has been found to influence wildlife in various ways, e.g., changing their distribution in the landscape or other behavioral traits as a response to the perceived predation risk. Brown bears (Ursus arctos) in Scandinavia avoid humans at different temporal and spatial scales, and this thesis aimed at investigating how bears react during encounters with humans on foot, and the consequences that bear responses might have on lower trophic levels. We experimentally approached brown bears in Sweden and Finland to investigate their flight reactions. The studies in this thesis showed that bears avoided humans when they were approached by moving away. We did not find indications of a change in the flight reactions across populations in Fennoscandia nor were their reaction related to the level of human disturbance in the area where the bears resided. We did not find a change in the initial flight reactions that would indicate habituation by bears that had been approached frequently by humans on foot, although the bears' activity patterns one to two days after the encounters suggested that they reacted less after being encountered frequently. We also investigated the effect bears have on anthill-building ants in the boreal forest. We found that the size of anthills within the *Formica rufa* group, of which some species are preferred by bears as food, were smaller in a study area with a high density of bears compared to an area with low density of bears, which could indicate that bears influenced the size of these anthills through their predation on ants. Ants are keystone species in the boreal forest and have an impact on other species, and the size of anthills reflect the number of ants in an anthill. The effect bears have on Formica rufa group ants could therefore have cascading ecological effects on other species in the boreal forest. We found that the effect bears have on these ants can be modified by human presence, because bears avoid human settlements, and the size of *Formica rufa* group anthills were larger closer to human settlements. Humans might therefore potentially mediate how brown bears influence other species through their influence on the number of ants.

v

Sammendrag

Forstyrrelser fra mennesker kan påvirke dyr på flere måter, for eksempel gjennom å endre hvordan de bruker landskapet eller ved en endring av atferd som en respons på en opplevd predasjonsrisiko. Brunbjørner (Ursus arctos) i Skandinavia unngår folk i både tid og rom, og målet med denne avhandlingen var å undersøke brunbjørners reaksjon i møte med mennesker til fots, og mulige konsekvenser av bjørners reaksjoner på lavere trofiske nivåer. Vi gjennomførte eksperimentelle forstyrrelsesforsøk på brunbjørner i Sverige og Finland for å undersøke fluktreaksjonene deres. Studiene i denne avhandlingen viste at brunbjørner unngikk folk i slike møter, og at de som oftest reagerte med å bevege seg vekk. Vi fant ingen indikasjon på at fluktreaksjonene var forskjellig på tvers av populasjoner i Fennoskandia, og de var heller ikke relatert til graden av menneskelig forstyrrelser i området der bjørnen oppholdt seg. Vi fant ingen endring i den umiddelbare fluktreaksjonen til bjørner som ble forstyrra gjentatte ganger, noe som kunne ha vært en indikasjon på habituering, selv om bjørnenes aktivitetsmønster i et par dager etter slike møter antydet at de reagerte mindre etter gjentatte møter. Vi undersøkte også bjørners påvirkning på maur som bygger maurtuer i den boreale skogen. Vi fant at maurtuer innenfor *Formica rufa* gruppa, en gruppe av maur som inneholder noen arter bjørner foretrekker å spise, var mindre i et studieområde med en høy tetthet av bjørn sammenlignet med et studieområde med lav tetthet av bjørn. Dette kan indikere at bjørner har en påvirkning på størrelsen av disse maurtuene fordi de graver i maurtuer og spiser maur. Maur er nøkkelarter i den boreale skogen, og påvirker andre arter. Størrelsen på maurtuer kan være en indikasjon på antall maur i maurtua, og påvirkningen fra bjørner på maur i Formica rufa gruppa kan derfor ha økologiske kaskadeeffekter på andre arter i den boreale skogen. Vi fant at bjørners påvirkning på disse maurene kan endres gjennom menneskelig tilstedeværelse, ettersom bjørner unngår bosetninger, og ettersom maurtuer i Formica rufa gruppen var større nær bosetninger. Mennesker kan derfor potensielt endre hvordan brunbjørner påvirker andre arter gjennom påvirkningen de har på antall maur.

List of papers

Paper I:

Moen, G. K., Støen, O.-G., Sahlén, V. & Swenson, J. (2012) Behaviour of solitary adult Scandinavian brown bears (*Ursus arctos*) when approached by humans on foot. PLoS ONE 7(2): e31699. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031699

Paper II:

Moen, G. K., Ordiz, A., Kindberg, J., Swenson, J. E., Sundell, J. & Støen, O.-G. Behavioral reactions of brown bears to approaching humans in Fennoscandia. Écoscience (in press)

Paper III:

Ordiz, A., Moen G. K., Sæbø, S., Stenset, N., Swenson, J. E. & Støen, O.-G. Habituation, sensitization, or consistent behavioral responses? Brown bear responses after repeated approaches by humans on foot. Manuscript

Paper IV:

Moen, G. K., Frank, S., Kindberg, J., Birkemoe, T., Ericsson, G., Swenson, J. E., & Støen O.-G. Brown bears (*Ursus arctos*) affect the abundance of red wood ants (*Formica rufa* group), a keystone species group in the Swedish boreal forest. Manuscript

Synopsis

Introduction

Human activity can influence wildlife in various ways, through e.g., habitat fragmentation (Crooks et al. 2017), habitat loss (Hoekstra et al. 2005), the presence of infrastructure like roads (Trombulak and Frissell 2000), or pollution (Derraik 2002). Among other influences on wildlife, human disturbance has been found to alter wildlife distribution patterns (e.g., Stalmaster 1978), increase stress levels (e.g., Lunde et al. 2016), and reduce energy intake (Kerley et al. 2002). If human disturbance is perceived by an individual animal as a predation risk, wildlife can react with antipredator strategies, even though the disturbance is not lethal (Lima 1998, Beale and Monaghan 2004), and can cause wildlife to relocate or change activity patterns (Neumann et al. 2013).

Human disturbance can also have an impact on the behavior and distribution of large carnivores (e.g., George and Crooks 2006, Zimmermann et al. 2014). This can in turn have an effect on other species in the ecosystem, as the prey species can react differently to human disturbance than the predator (Rogala et al. 2011), and use human presence as a shield towards predation (Berger 2007, Muhly et al. 2011, Steyaert et al. 2016a). This can also be linked to the concept of 'landscape of fear', which describes how different parts of the landscape represent characteristics that increase the risk of predation (Altendorf et al. 2001, Laundré et al. 2001).

Previous studies have shown that brown bears (*Ursus arctos*) change their use of the landscape in relation to human presence in both North America (e.g., Gibeau et al. 2002, Rode et al. 2006) and Europe (Naves et al. 2003, Nellemann et al. 2007). The brown bears in Scandinavia, where the fieldwork of this thesis was conducted, avoid humans on a range of scales. Their use of the landscape is related to human disturbance, as bears use areas farther from settlements more than expected (Nellemann et al. 2007), and female brown bears use more rugged terrain if living in home ranges with a higher degree of human disturbance (Martin et al. 2010). The use of the landscape is also related to season and category of bears, as females with cubs use areas closer to human settlements more than expected during the mating season in spring, while other categories of bears stay farther from settlements in this period (Steyaert et al. 2013).

This appears to be a strategy to avoid infanticide, as females whose cubs survived used areas closer to humans during the mating season compared to those whose cubs did not survive (Steyaert et al. 2016a). All categories of bears use areas farther away from settlements than expected after the mating season (Steyaert et al. 2013).

Brown bears in Scandinavia are hunted, and when the hunting season starts, solitary brown bears change their daily activity pattern (Ordiz et al. 2012). Bears also adjust their foraging behavior on berries during the hunting season, decreasing foraging during the morning, when the risk of being shot is highest, and also selecting lowerquality patches with fewer berries during this time of the day (Hertel et al. 2016). Human disturbance also influences the choice of resting sites by bears in Scandinavia, as resting sites during day-time are more concealed by vegetation than night-time resting sites (Ordiz et al. 2011). In addition, resting sites have more dense vegetation cover when closer to settlements, and during autumn, when more people use the forest, resting sites are located farther from human settlements (Ordiz et al. 2011). The effect of human disturbance has also been shown physiologically, as bears show indications of stress during autumn, when more people use the forest, and when closer to human settlements (Støen et al. 2015). Roads can be associated with human activity, and have an impact on wildlife (Trombulak and Frissell 2000). Scandinavian bears have a higher activity level during the night in areas with a higher density of roads (Ordiz et al. 2017), and select denning sites farther from roads than expected (Elfström et al. 2014a). These changes in behavior related to human disturbance or presence can be seen as long-term adaptations to avoid humans (Ordiz et al. 2011). All these studies show that brown bears in Scandinavia avoid humans, and this might have implications for the bears as well as other species in the boreal forest.

The studies conducted in this thesis focus on two main topics. The first topic (Papers I, II, and III) fill gaps in the knowledge of how brown bears react to human encounters, investigating the behavior during such encounters, the consistency in behavior across populations, and gradients of human densities, and examining whether bears change their behavior with more frequent encounters. These studies were conducted to obtain more information on how bears react in encounters with people using the forest, e.g., hikers and berry-pickers, and also in situations where bears move into areas with

greater human presence with higher risk of encountering humans. The numbers of both bears and outdoor users have been increasing in recent years in Fennoscandia (Kopatz et al. 2014, Swenson et al. 2017, Støen et al. 2018), and information about how bears react to human disturbance is important, both for the public that will obtain a better understanding of what to expect if they happen to encounter bears, and for managers, who make decisions in situations when bears occur close to humans. The second topic (Paper IV) concerns how brown bears can influence other species in the boreal forest, and how human presence can modify this effect, because bears avoid humans. Knowledge of how bears influence other species modified by human avoidance, adds to our understanding of the whole ecosystem, and is an important additional aspect of how humans affect wildlife and the ecosystem we live in.

Objectives and their rationale

How do brown bears behave during human encounters? (Paper I)

The Scandinavian brown bear population has increased over the last decades (Swenson et al. 2017), and the number of encounters between bears and humans has probably increased as a consequence. Aggressiveness varies among bear populations, and the Scandinavian brown bear is considered less aggressive than bears in other areas (Swenson et al. 1999b). The risk of being harmed by bears in Scandinavia is very low (Støen et al. 2018), but surveys of the attitudes towards large carnivores reveal negative attitudes or that some people fear brown bears (Røskaft et al. 2003, Ericsson et al. 2010). The question therefore arises: how do brown bears normally react to encounters with humans in the forest? Prior to this study, the knowledge of how bears behave during encounters with humans in Scandinavia was based on direct observations of bears (Swenson et al. 1999b). This provided valuable knowledge, but it did not describe the behavior during encounters when the bears were not observed. The recent development of GPS technology in wildlife research, with possibilities to obtain accurate positions from the animals as often as every minute, enabled us to collect accurate data on the behavior of collared bears also when not observed, and hence be able to investigate how bears behave in close proximity to humans during an encounter. The aim of the study was to describe reactions of single adult Scandinavian brown bears to encounters with humans on foot during experimental approaches, and identify factors affecting the behavior of the bears.

Are brown bear reactions to human encounters consistent across populations and different human densities? (Paper II)

With an expanding brown bear population in Fennoscandia during the last decades (Pulliainen 1983, Wikman 2010, Kopatz et al. 2014, Swenson et al. 2017) and bears expanding into areas with more people, a question has been raised whether the flight reaction of bears during encounters with humans changes with higher human density. In this study, we used data from experimental encounters where the bears were approached by field personnel in both southcentral Sweden and in central and southeastern Finland. The bears in Finland generally lived in a more human-dominated

area. The aim of the study was to investigate whether the flight reactions changed with different levels of human activity. Density of human population and roads inside the bears' home ranges and distance to roads and settlements when the bear was approached were used as proxies for human activity. We did not expect to see a change in the flight reactions among populations or different human densities, because bears in Europe are considered elusive, and this trait has probably been selected for during a long period of time.

Are brown bear flight reactions changing with more frequent encounters with humans? (Paper III)

The expansion of the brown bear population in Scandinavia (Swenson et al. 2017) may lead to more brown bears living in areas with high human density, and that these bears encounter people more frequently. Questions have been raised as to whether frequent encounters with humans leads to changes in the reactions of bears, and subsequently that it will be more dangerous for people to encounter these bears. Habituation can be described as a reduction of a reaction due to repeated exposure to the stimulus that causes the reaction (e.g., Harris (1943), as cited in Thompson and Spencer 1966). Habituated bears might display a reduced flight reaction, which may trigger potentially dangerous situations (Herrero et al. 2005). To test if bears change their reactions when they encounter people more often, we conducted repeated approaches on the same bears every third to fourth day up to eight times. If the bear reaction was reduced after repeated encounters, it would suggest that the bears exhibited sign of habituation, whereas an enhanced reaction could be defined as sensitization, where the stimulus leads to increased reactions (Blumstein 2016). We did not expect that the bears would change their behavioral responses. The rationale for this is that bears in Scandinavia generally avoid humans, and that this is a strong feature that have been selected for through generations (Ordiz et al. 2011).

Can brown bears influence other species in the boreal forest, and is this modified by human disturbance? (Paper IV)

Ants are important species in the boreal forest, e.g., through their mutualistic relationship with aphids (*Aphididae*) (Stockan and Robinson 2016, and references

therein) and contribution to nutrient cycling (e.g., Domisch et al. 2009), and they can be characterized as keystone species (Stockan and Robinson 2016). The omnivorous brown bear preys on anthill-building ant species, especially during spring and summer (e.g., Swenson et al. 1999a, Stenset et al. 2016). Some of the anthill-building species in the Formica rufa group are utilized more than expected by Scandinavian bears, whereas e.g., *F. exsecta*, in the *Coptoformica* subgenus, are less preferred (Swenson et al. 1999a). As a consequence of the predation, a large proportion of the anthills in an area can be disturbed (Elgmork and Unander 1999, Swenson et al. 1999a, Große et al. 2003). The objective of this study was to investigate whether brown bears, through their predation and disturbance of anthills, have an effect on the ant population. Our hypothesis was that there would be a negative effect. Size of anthills reflect the ant population (e.g., Liautard et al. 2003), thus we predicted to see a lower density and smaller anthills of the F. rufa group ants in an area with a high density of bears compared to a comparable area with a low density of bears. We predicted that there would not be an effect for anthills in the Coptoformica subgenus. As brown bears avoid human settlements, we predicted that the effect of bear predation of anthills would be less pronounced in areas closer to human settlements than farther away.

Methods

Study areas

The approaches in southcentral Sweden (Paper I, Swedish study area in Paper II, and Paper III), were conducted in Gävleborg and Dalarna counties (61.5°N, 15°E). The area consists of coniferous forest, dominated by Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) and Norway spruce (*Picea abies*), as well as lakes and bogs. The forest is heavily managed, and the study area is sparsely populated. There is an extensive system of gravel roads in the area, and only a few paved highways are present. The brown bear population in the area has been estimated to 30 bears/1000 km² (Solberg et al. 2006), and is hunted in the fall (Bischof et al. 2009).

The approaches in Finland (Paper II) were conducted in central and southeastern Finland (62.5° N, 27°E). This study area also consists of managed coniferous forest of Scots pine and Norway spruce. There is a dense network of roads in the area, and the average human population is higher than for the previously described study area in Sweden. The brown bear population has been estimated to be \geq 6 bears/1000 km² (Wikman 2010), and the population is hunted (Kojola et al. 2006).

We conducted distance sampling of anthills in three different study areas in Sweden (Paper IV); study area A in Dalarna and Gävleborg counties (25 * 25 km), study area B in Värmland County (25 * 25 km), and study area C, overlapping study area A, in Dalarna and Gävleborg counties (60 * 65 km) (Fig. 1). Study areas A and C overlap with the study area where the approaches in Sweden were conducted (Paper I, Swedish study area Paper II, and Paper III). Study area A and C had a high density of brown bears, whereas study area B had a low density of brown bears (Manel et al. 2004, Kindberg and Swenson 2018). All three study areas were otherwise comparable (see Table 1 & 2 in Paper IV), with a high proportion of managed coniferous forest, mainly Scots pine and Norway spruce, in addition to lakes and bogs (Table 1 in paper IV). All three study areas had a low density of human population, and a relatively high density of roads.



Figure 1: Study areas A, B, and C in south-central Sweden. Gray squares indicate DNA-samples identified as male brown bears, and white circles indicate DNA-samples identified as female brown bears during the last survey in Dalarna and Gävleborg counties, where samples also were collected from areas south of these two counties (Kindberg and Swenson 2018). The figure is the lower panel from figure 1 in Paper IV.

The bears

The brown bear population in Scandinavia is currently estimated to be around 3,000 individuals, most of which are in Sweden (Swenson et al. 2017). In the middle of the 19th century, the population was likely around 4,500 to 5,000 individuals (Swenson et al. 1995), and bears inhabited large parts of Scandinavia with the exception of the southern parts of Sweden, where they were already extirpated (Collet 1911-12 and Lönnberget 1929, as cited in Swenson et al. 1995). Following political goals in both Norway and Sweden to eradicate the bear population, e.g., through the use of bounties,

the brown bear was functionally extinct in almost all parts of Scandinavia by the 1900 (Swenson et al. 1995). The population size in 1930 has been estimated to around 130 individuals (Swenson et al. 1995). Following, the removal of the bounties and implementation of other conservation measures, the population increased throughout the 20th century (Swenson et al. 1995, Swenson et al. 2017). Female brown bears disperse shorter distance from their mother's home areas than do males (Støen et al. 2006), and the expansion of the population from the core areas in Sweden has been slow (Swenson et al. 1998). Today, the bear population in Sweden is hunted, with an annual national hunting quota of about 10% of the population (National Veterinary Institute 2017), and the bears in Norway are subject to licensed hunting when a set of conditions are met (Norwegian Environment Agency 2018).

The bear population in Finland was estimated to around 150 individuals in the 1960s (Pulliainen 1983). As for the Scandinavian population, the population has increased and reached 1,150 to 1,950 bears in 2009 (Wikman 2010, Kopatz et al. 2014). The bear population in Finland is hunted, with an annual national hunting quota of about 10% of the population (The Finnish Wildlife Agency 2017).

The bears approached in Sweden and Finland had been captured and equipped with collars that could record frequent GPS positions (Sundell et al. 2006, Arnemo et al. 2007). In Sweden, the handling of the bears was approved by the Swedish Ethical Committee on Animal Research and the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency. In Finland, the handling of the bears was approved by the National Animal Experiment Board and the Finnish Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry.

Experimental approaches to bears (papers I, II, and III)

The observers approaching the bears aimed to pass the bears at 50 m upwind the bears when they were passed. In Sweden, the bear collars were scheduled to deliver oneminute positions for one hour prior to the start of the approach, and for two hours after the start of the approach. The position data in Sweden was collected into the Wireless Remote Animal Monitoring database system (Dettki et al. 2013). In Finland, the bear collars were scheduled to send positions every 25 seconds or every minute from around the start of the approach. During the approaches, the observers used handheld GPS

devices to record their own movements. Based on the bears' activity in the time from start of one-minute positioning to the start of the approach, we categorized the bears as either passive or active. After the approach we measured the sighting distance, i.e., the horizontal vegetation cover, at the bears' initial sites, i.e., where they stayed prior to the start of the approach.

To test which variables influenced the bears' flight reactions, we used regression analysis and covariates connected to the bear (age and sex), the observers (distance to observers, number of observers), and the environment (vegetation cover). To test whether the flight reactions were influenced by human activity in the area, we used distance to human settlements and distance to roads from the location of the bear prior to the approach, and densities of humans and roads inside the bears' home ranges as proxies for the human disturbance. For the study where we tested if repeated approaches changed the bears' flight reactions (paper III), the bears were approached every third or fourth day, up to eight times per bear in a given year, and we included the number of the approach as a covariate in the regression models. We also used a Bayesian modeling approach to analyze potential changes in the daily activity patterns of bears during and after they were repeatedly approached (Paper III, Ordiz et al. 2013b). The Bayesian approach helped us deal with both the autocorrelated nature of the data (distance traveled were calculated from consecutive GPS positions), and missing GPS positions.

Survey of anthills (paper IV)

In all study areas, two observers conducted distance sampling of anthills following the protocol of Buckland et al. (2001). In study area A and B, the location of 25 transects was randomized and distributed throughout the study areas with a systematic grid of square-shaped transects. In study area C, distance sampling of anthills were conducted in forested areas in three different strata. Stratum 1 included areas 0-500 m from settlements, stratum 2 included areas 500-1500 m from settlements, and stratum 3 included areas farther than 1500 m from settlements. For strata 1 and 2, 20 settlements in the study area were selected, and a random position was the starting point of a square-shaped transect located within the forested area in connection to each of the

20 settlements. For stratum 3, 20 random positions were the starting points of the square-shaped transects in the forested areas farther than 1500 m from any settlement.

During the surveys, we recorded all anthills within 15 m from the transect line. When an anthill was observed, we measured the distance to the transect, decided if the anthill was active or inactive, and whether it had been disturbed. We measured the height and the base of the anthills to be able to calculate the size. Ten specimens were collected and identified later to species or group, using Douwes et al. (2012). Because it is difficult to distinguish the species in the *Formica rufa* group from each other (Douwes et al. 2012), these ant species were grouped. For the analysis, we also grouped species in the *Coptoformica* subgenus (Douwes et al. 2012). In addition, we recorded the habitat category at the site of the anthills and along the transects, using a handheld GPS receiver (Garmin Ltd., USA).

For the analysis of densities, we used the 'Distance' package in the software R (R Core Team 2018), and full geographic stratification, i.e., a detection function for each of the five study areas and strata. The densities were calculated and compared, as described in Buckland et al. (2001). For the comparison of anthill size, we calculated the mean of the height measurements from four cardinal directions for each anthill, and calculated volume as half of an ellipsoid (e.g., Risch et al. 2005). Some anthills were not included in the analysis of height and volume, if the measurements would not reflect the true height or volume of the anthill (e.g. if the anthill was built around a tree-stump).

Results

Brown bears avoid humans on foot, and bear behavioral responses are stable across populations, gradients of human disturbance, and when repeatedly encountered (Paper I, Paper II, Paper III)

We found that single adult Scandinavian brown bears generally reacted by moving away from approaching humans (Paper I). Most of the bears moved away when approached (80%). Younger bears moved away more often than the older bears, and this effect was reduced in the berry season (Table 1 in Paper I). There was also a tendency for bears to leave more often if the number of observers was higher (Table 1 in Paper I). FID for passive bears that left before we passed them was on average 69 ± 47 m (mean \pm SD) (n = 65), and FID for active bears leaving before we passed them was 115 ± 94 m (n = 13). FID for bears that left before we passed them was shorter with more horizontal vegetation cover at the initial site, for older bears, and if the bears were passive, compared to active (Table 2 in Paper I). The bears that moved to a new site after being approached, were active for 24 ± 23 minutes (n = 78) and moved on average $1,173 \pm 1,094$ m (n = 92) before they settled in a new site. None of the variables we tested influenced the distance moved or the time spent active after the approaches. During the encounters, only 15% of the bears were heard or seen, and the detection rate did not vary with sex of the bear or season (Paper I). No bears showed any aggressive behavior towards the observers.

We found no difference between Finland and Sweden in the proportion of bears that stayed or moved when approached, although the bears in Finland lived in areas with more human settlements and roads (Paper II). Likewise, there was no significant difference in FID for active and passive bears that left before the observers passed them between the two study areas (Sweden: 87 ± 72 m, median = 63 m, n = 78; Finland: $120 \pm$ 129 m, median = 69 m, n = 11) (Paper II). The human-related variables (density of human population and roads within the bears home ranges, distance from initial site to roads and distance from initial site to settlements) were not retained in the best models explaining FID, distance moved, or time spent moving after being approached (Paper II). Distance to roads from initial site and density of both settlements and roads in the

bears' home range was, however, present in the averaged model for the flight response stayed/moved, but the 95% CI of the effect size of these variables included zero, so the direction of the effect was unclear.

When the bears were approached repeatedly, the number of consecutive approaches did not influence FID (Fig. 2), but FID was shorter when the bears were passed at a shorter distance (Paper III). We did not detect a change in the proportion of bears that moved away with increasing number of consecutive approaches (Paper III).



Figure 2. Flight initiation distances (FID) of brown bears during encounters with humans on foot in southcentral Sweden, 2012-2014. The bears were approached every third to fourth day, three to eight times consecutively. Figure from paper III (Fig. 2). To better see the most common FID values, eleven approaches with FID larger than 200 m (between 214 and 681 m) were excluded from this figure, where only approaches with FID <200 m is included. In addition, 11 encounters had a FID between 214 and 681 m, see Fig. 3A in Paper III.

We compared the activity level of the bears three days after the approaches to the activity during the week before the first approach (the baseline). The bears increased their activity after the approaches on the approach day for all consecutive approaches. The next day, following approach 1-3, the bears reduced their activity level during midday, compared to the baseline. The reduction in activity level the day following the approach was less clear for approaches number 4-7.

Bears reduce red forest ants in the boreal forest, and the effect can be modified by human presence (Paper IV)

Anthills of the *F. rufa* group, of which some species are preferred as food by bears, were half the height in the study area with a high density of brown bears $(36 \pm 17 \text{ cm}, n = 70)$, compared to *F. rufa* group anthills in the study area with a low density of bears (67 ± 34 cm, n = 88) (Paper IV) (Fig. 3). We did not document a difference in densities of *F. rufa* group anthills between the study areas. The same difference in size was identified for *F. rufa* group anthills in the forest category 'Secondary thinning', where most of these anthills were recorded. We did not identify any difference in size for the *Coptoformica* subgenus, which includes *F. exsecta*, a species that is not preferred as food by bears.

We found no difference in the density of *F. rufa* group anthills between the three different strata with different distance to settlements in the third study area (C). However, we found a significant difference in the size of anthills among the strata, as *F. rufa* group anthills in the stratum closest to settlements (stratum 1: 0-500 m from settlements) were significantly higher (48 ± 21 cm, n = 59) than the anthills in stratum 2 (500-1500 m from settlements) (37 ± 17 cm, n = 65), but not stratum 3 (Fig. 3). However, when combining both strata >500 m from settlements (strata 2 and 3), the *F. rufa* group anthills were significantly lower than the anthills in the stratum closest to settlements (stratum 1). All *F. rufa* group anthills in study area C combined were significantly smaller than the anthills in the study area with a low density of bears (study area B) (Fig. 3).



Figure 3: Mean height of *Formica rufa* group anthills in study area A (high bear density, n = 72) and study area B (low bear density, n = 88) recorded during distance sampling of anthills in southcentral Sweden in 2016, and in study area C (high bear density), stratum 1 (C:1; 0-500 m from settlements, n = 59), stratum 2 (C:2; 500-1500 m from settlements, n = 66) and stratum 3 (C:3; farther than 1500 m from settlements, n = 52) recorded during distance sampling of anthills in southcentral Sweden in 2017. Figure from Paper IV (Fig. 2).

Discussion

Brown bears react consistently to avoid humans

Our results showed that the bears moved away from humans approaching on foot (Paper I), and that a low proportion of the bears are observed when passed at a relatively short distance, even when the observers are aware of the bears' presence (Paper I). The proportion of bears that stayed or moved away following an encounter and the FIDs were not significantly different in two study areas in Fennoscandia, which had different densities of humans and roads (Paper II). We also showed that the avoidance behavior was not influenced by increased human activity (Paper II). Finally, we found that the initial reaction to approaching humans on foot did not change with an increased number of consecutive approaches, though the changes in activity patterns in the days after the approaches might fade progressively (Paper III). All these results reinforced the previously reported pattern that brown bears in Scandinavia are elusive and avoid direct encounters with humans. Basically, bears avoid humans at all spatial and temporal scales that have been studied in Scandinavia.

The reactions of brown bears in Fennoscandia to approaching humans might differ from other populations in North America or Europe (Swenson et al. 1999b). The populations in both Finland and Scandinavia went through a severe decline in population size and a population bottleneck in the beginning of the 20th century, as described above (Swenson et al. 1994, Xenikoudakis et al. 2015). This might have resulted in selection for bears that generally avoid humans (Ordiz et al. 2011). One reason can be that less elusive individuals were removed from the population (Ordiz et al. 2011). Almost all of the Scandinavian bear mortality is human caused (Sahlén et al. 2006, Bischof et al. 2009), and areas closer to humans are considered to be associated with higher mortality risk (Steyaert et al. 2016b). It has also been argued that the relatively long mother-offspring period of brown bears can play a role related to the elusiveness in more human-dominated areas, as it might ensure a cultural effect where the more experienced mother can transfer avoidance behavior to the offspring (Swenson 1999). Nevertheless, the results from Paper I, II and III should be extrapolated with care to areas with much higher human densities and/or different management regimes, e.g. with no hunting on

bears. The human densities in our study areas are among the lowest in the bears' distribution in Europe (Steyaert et al. 2016a), and bears under other management regimes and human densities might react differently, although human avoidance is a well-established large carnivore behavioral pattern in human-dominated landscapes (Naves et al. 2003, Nellemann et al. 2007).

Encounters between wildlife and humans cause an initial reaction, e.g., that the animal usually flees. Encounters can also have a long term impact (e.g., Tarlow and Blumstein 2007 and references therein). Following an encounter, bears are more night active and less day active for at least two days and up to a week (Ordiz et al. 2013b), suggesting that bears adjust their behavior to avoid a similar experience in the days following an encounter. In paper III, we tested if repeated encounters would change this behavior. We found that the bears reduced their midday activity during the day following the encounters for the first three consecutive approaches, but this decrease in activity was less pronounced from the fourth approach onwards, which may be a sign of habituation. If habituation of bears were to occur, this could have both negative and positive effects for both bears and humans (Herrero et al. 2005). A positive effect for bears could be that they can canalize energy towards foraging instead of moving away from humans (Herrero et al. 2005) and a negative effect could be that habituation may lead to more dangerous situations, both for bears and humans (Herrero et al. 2005). However, the reduced reaction after approach 4-7 (Paper III) could also indicate that bears cannot afford a reduction in activity levels when these disturbances occur frequently, which would imply less foraging for several days after every disturbance event. This can be seen as a form of fatigue, where the lack of effect is caused by a lack in the ability of the bear to reduce the activity, and would therefore not be habituation (Thompson and Spencer 1966). Habituation is often used to describe a reduction of fear (McCullough 1982); the reaction to something that could be perceived as a danger is reduced, as the individual is exposed to the same stimulus numerous times. In our study, we suggest that the bears perceived an encounter with humans as a predation risk, and that this is the stimulus the bears reacted to. If the bears were habituated, the initial reaction to the encounter should also have decreased if the bears became habituated to the frequent encounters.

Although we have not identified that human densities alone have an effect on how brown bears react to human encounters (Paper II), other factors can of course influence how bears behave in closer proximity to humans. An important example is if bears become food conditioned (Elfström et al. 2014c). The behavior could also change if animals are wounded, which has been found as a major factor related to bear attacks resulting in human casualties in Scandinavia (Støen et al. 2018), or if there is a general lack of food, which has not been shown in Scandinavia (Elfström et al. 2014b). In other words, on an individual level, one can see differences in reactions to humans, but on a population level, the density of the human population in itself will probably not have an effect on how bears behave in meetings with humans. This provide that humans do not behave in a way that may habituate bears, such as feeding them or getting too close, for instance, during tourism activities that seek bear observations (e.g., Penteriani et al. 2017).

Bears influence other species in the boreal forest

Our results show that bears can influence red wood ants (Paper IV) through their predation on ants and disturbance of the anthills (Elgmork and Unander 1999, Swenson et al. 1999a, Stenset et al. 2016). We found that anthills of the *F. rufa* group, which includes species preferred as food by bears (Swenson et al. 1999a), were about half the height in an area with a high density of bears compared to an area with a low density of bears. Red wood ants play an important role in the boreal forest (e.g., Stockan and Robinson 2016), and influence other species, like birds (Haemig 1992, 1994), trees and plants (Kilpelainen et al. 2009, Grinath et al. 2014), and also plant species composition (Wardle et al. 2011). Thus, brown bears, through their predation on ants, may have indirect ecological effects on other species in the boreal forest, in addition to the more intuitive and better documented direct numerical effects, such as predation on neonate ungulates (e.g., Swenson et al. 2007). Our results could be of relevance also for other populations of bears, as other ant species are a part of bears' diet in other areas as well (Joshi et al. 1997, and references therein, Noyce et al. 1997).

These results add to our understanding of the interaction of species in various ecosystems. If the effect of a change in one trophic level on another level cascades to a third trophic level, this can be described as a trophic cascading effect (Paine 1980). The effects can either be a result of density-mediated indirect effects (Ordiz et al. 2013a), where the number of e.g., herbivores are reduced due to predation, or trait-mediated indirect effects (e.g., Abrams 1995), where the predators cause the prey to change their behavior as an antipredation strategy, and this influences the next trophic level. Even when a predator has become extinct from an area, prey species can still exhibit antipredator behavior when exposed to clues of the predator, as demonstrated by Sahlén et al. (2016), who showed that ungulates avoided sites with odor from brown bears in areas where the bears had been regionally extirpated for many decades.

Many studies have revealed trophic cascading effects (e.g., Estes et al. 2011 and references therein, Ripple et al. 2014 and references therein). In terrestrial ecosystems, trophic cascading effects have been demonstrated e.g., for the relationship between cougars (*Puma concolor*), mule deer (*Odocoileus hemionus*), and cottonwoods (*Populus fremontii*) (Ripple and Beschta 2006). In the study of Ripple and Beschta (2006) in Utah, USA, the change in number of cougars, following a large increase in the numbers of visitors to a national park, also reduced the abundance of other species, like amphibians and butterflies. In the boreal forest, changes in ungulate density, or their use of the landscape, can in its turn have cascading effects on other species, as suggested for e.g., moose (*Alces alces*), where plant species (bilberry (*Vaccinium myrtillus*) and wavy hairgrass (*Avenella flexuosa*)) (Mathisen et al. 2010), carabids (Melis et al. 2007), and gastropods (Suominen 1999) have been found to be influenced by the browsing intensity. Thus, predation can influence other species by indirect effects on the ecosystem through facilitation of other species (Ordiz et al. 2013a).

How brown bears affect other species can be modified by human disturbance Paper IV in this thesis reveals one of the ways bears affect other species in the forest, through predation of anthill-building species, and also how bears' avoidance of humans can modify this effect. This means that human disturbance, in addition to having an effect on the behavior and distribution of bears, can also modulate the interactions between bears and other species. Similar discussions have been published elsewhere. For instance, in some areas much of brown bears' diet is linked to marine resources, such as species of salmon (e.g., Hilderbrand et al. 1999b). Through this predation, nutrients are transported from the sea or rivers to the surrounding land (Hilderbrand et

al. 1999a, Helfield and Naiman 2006). Matsubayashi et al. (2015) found that there has been a decrease in the bears' consumption of both salmon (*Oncorhynchus keta* and *O. gorbuscha*) and sika deer (*Cervus nippon*) on Hokkaido island in Japan during the last two centuries, probably as a result of an increase in human activity in the area, including overfishing and the extinction of the Hokkaido wolves (*Canis lupus hattai*). The observed change to a more plant-based diet, might have implications for other species in the area (Matsubayashi et al. 2015) and could be another example of how humans have an effect on other species, in addition to an influence on bears.

Conclusion

Previous research, referred to above, shows a clear picture of how Scandinavian brown bears avoid humans on all scales surveyed. Avoidance of humans was also found when bears encountered humans on foot (Paper I) and their general reactions did not change with density of humans or roads (Paper II). We also found that bears in two different study areas in Fennoscandia showed similar flight reactions to human encounters (Paper II). In addition, we did not find a change in the initial flight reactions with more frequent encounters that would indicate habituation by the bears (Paper III). Hence, how bears react will probably not change if the bear population expands into more densely populated areas. By changing their behavior, bears create a spatiotemporal segregation between humans and bears, which is likely the key behavioral mechanism allowing a large carnivore like the bear to survive and even thrive in human-dominated landscapes.

Humans and human infrastructures are parts of the environment that brown bears in human-dominated landscapes reside in. It is thus important to consider that humans influence the bears not just directly through hunting and removal of individuals, but also indirectly through behavioral changes due to human presence and activities. In addition to modifying how bears are distributed in the landscape, humans also influence how bears affect other species (Paper IV). How humans influence interspecific interactions between large carnivores and other species should be a focus for future research, to better understand and quantify how the increasing human disturbance plays a role in defining community structures and ecosystems.

References

- Abrams, P. A. 1995. Implications of dynamically variable traits for identifying, classifying, and measuring direct and indirect effects in ecological communities. The American Naturalist 146:112-134.
- Altendorf, K. B., J. W. Laundré, C. A. L. González, and J. S. Brown. 2001. Assessing Effects of Predation Risk on Foraging Behavior of Mule Deer. Journal of Mammalogy 82:430-439.
- Arnemo, J. M., Å. Fahlman, P. Ahlqvist, R. Andersen, H. Andrén, S. Brunberg, A. Landa, O. Liberg, J. Odden, J. Persson, P. Segerström, and J. E. Swenson. 2007. Biomedical protocols for freeranging brown bears, gray wolves, wolverines and lynx. Norwegian School of Veterinary Science, Tromsø, Norway.
- Beale, C. M., and P. Monaghan. 2004. Human disturbance: people as predation-free predators? Journal of Applied Ecology **41**:335-343.
- Berger, J. 2007. Fear, human shields and the redistribution of prey and predators in protected areas. Biology Letters **3**:620-623.
- Bischof, R., J. E. Swenson, N. G. Yoccoz, A. Mysterud, and O. Gimenez. 2009. The magnitude and selectivity of natural and multiple anthropogenic mortality causes in hunted brown bears. Journal of Animal Ecology 78:656-665.
- Blumstein, D. T. 2016. Habituation and sensitization: new thoughts about old ideas. Animal Behaviour **120**:255-262.
- Buckland, S. T., D. R. Anderson, K. P. Burnham, J. L. Laake, D. L. Borchers, and L. Thomas. 2001. Introduction to Distance Sampling: Estimating Abundance of Biological Populations. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK.
- Crooks, K. R., C. L. Burdett, D. M. Theobald, S. R. B. King, M. Di Marco, C. Rondinini, and L. Boitani. 2017. Quantification of habitat fragmentation reveals extinction risk in terrestrial mammals. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **114**:7635-7640.
- Derraik, J. G. B. 2002. The pollution of the marine environment by plastic debris: a review. Marine Pollution Bulletin **44**:842-852.
- Dettki, H., G. Ericsson, T. Giles, and M. Norrsken-Ericsson. 2013. Wireless Remote Animal Monitoring (WRAM) - A new international database e-infrastructure for telemetry sensor data from fish and wildlife. p. 247-256. In: Proceedings Etc 2012: Convention for Telemetry, Test Instrumentation and Telecontrol (Eds. The European Society of Telemetry). Books on Demand, pp. 292, ISBN: 978-3-7322-5646-4.
- Domisch, T., L. Finér, S. Neuvonen, P. Niemelä, A. C. Risch, J. Kilpeläinen, M. Ohashi, and M. F. Jurgensen. 2009. Foraging activity and dietary spectrum of wood ants (*Formica rufa* group) and their role in nutrient fluxes in boreal forests. Ecological Entomology **34**:369-377.
- Douwes, P., J. Abenius, B. Cederberg, and U. Wahlstedt. 2012. Steklar: Myror- getingar. Hymenoptera: Formicidae - Vespidae. Artsdatabanken, Sverige.
- Elfström, M., M. L. Davey, A. Zedrosser, M. Müller, M. De Barba, O.-G. Støen, C. Miguel, P. Taberlet, K. Hackländer, and J. E. Swenson. 2014a. Do Scandinavian brown bears approach settlements to obtain high-quality food? Biological Conservation **178**:128-135.
- Elfström, M., A. Zedrosser, K. Jerina, O.-G. Støen, J. Kindberg, L. Budic, M. Jonozovič, and J. E. Swenson. 2014b. Does despotic behavior or food search explain the occurrence of problem brown bears in Europe? The Journal of Wildlife Management **78**:881-893.
- Elfström, M., A. Zedrosser, O.-G. Støen, and J. E. Swenson. 2014c. Ultimate and proximate mechanisms underlying the occurrence of bears close to human settlements: review and management implications. Mammal Review **44**:5-18.
- Elgmork, K., and S. Unander. 1999. Brown bear use of ant mounds in Scandinavia. Ursus 10:269-274.
- Ericsson, G., C. Sandström, J. Kindberg, and O.-G. Støen. 2010. Om svenskars rädsla för stora rovdjur, älg och vildsvin [On Swedes fear of large carnivores, moose and wildboar]. Umeå: Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences.

- Estes, J. A., J. Terborgh, J. S. Brashares, M. E. Power, J. Berger, W. J. Bond, S. R. Carpenter, T. E.
 Essington, R. D. Holt, J. B. C. Jackson, R. J. Marquis, L. Oksanen, T. Oksanen, R. T. Paine, E. K.
 Pikitch, W. J. Ripple, S. A. Sandin, M. Scheffer, T. W. Schoener, J. B. Shurin, A. R. E. Sinclair,
 M. E. Soulé, R. Virtanen, and D. A. Wardle. 2011. Trophic Downgrading of Planet Earth.
 Science 333:301-306.
- George, S. L., and K. R. Crooks. 2006. Recreation and large mammal activity in an urban nature reserve. Biological Conservation **133**:107-117.
- Gibeau, M. L., A. P. Clevenger, S. Herrero, and J. Wierzchowski. 2002. Grizzly bear response to human development and activities in the Bow River Watershed, Alberta, Canada. Biological Conservation **103**:227-236.
- Grinath, J., B. Inouye, and N. Underwood. 2014. Bears benefit plants via a cascade with both antagonistic and mutualistic interactions. Ecology Letters **18**:164-173.
- Große, C., P. Kaczensky, and F. Knauer. 2003. Ants: A food source sought by Slovenian brown bears (*Ursus arctos*)? Canadian Journal of Zoology **81**:1996-2005.
- Haemig, P. D. 1992. Competition between Ants and Birds in a Swedish Forest. Oikos 65:479-483.
- Haemig, P. D. 1994. Effect of ants on the foraging of birds in spruce trees. Oecologia 97:35-40.
- Helfield, J. M., and R. J. Naiman. 2006. Keystone interactions: Salmon and bear in riparian forests of Alaska. Ecosystems **9**:167-180.
- Herrero, S., T. Smith, T. D. DeBruyn, K. Gunther, and C. A. Matt. 2005. Brown bear habituation to people—safety, risks, and benefits. Wildlife Society Bulletin **33**:362-373.
- Hertel, A., A. Zedrosser, A. Mysterud, O.-G. Støen, S. M. J. G. Steyaert, and J. E. Swenson. 2016. Temporal effects of hunting on foraging behavior of an apex predator: Do bears forego foraging when risk is high? Oecologia **182**:1019-1029.
- Hilderbrand, G. V., T. A. Hanley, C. T. Robbins, and C. C. Schwartz. 1999a. Role of brown bears (Ursus arctos) in the flow of marine nitrogen into a terrestrial ecosystem. Oecologia **121**:546-550.
- Hilderbrand, G. V., C. C. Schwartz, C. T. Robbins, M. E. Jacoby, T. A. Hanley, S. M. Arthur, and C. Servheen. 1999b. The importance of meat, particularly salmon, to body size, population productivity, and conservation of North American brown bears. Canadian Journal of Zoology 77:132-138.
- Hoekstra, J. M., T. M. Boucher, T. H. Ricketts, and C. Roberts. 2005. Confronting a biome crisis: global disparities of habitat loss and protection. Ecology Letters **8**:23-29.
- Joshi, A. R., D. L. Garshelis, and L. D. S. James. 1997. Seasonal and habitat-related diets of sloth bears in Nepal. Journal of Mammalogy **78**:584-597.
- Kerley, L. L., J. M. Goodrich, D. G. Miquelle, E. N. Smirnov, H. B. Quigley, and M. G. Hornocker. 2002. Effects of roads and human disturbance on amur tigers. Conservation Biology 16:97-108.
- Kilpelainen, J., L. Finér, S. Neuvonen, P. Niemelä, T. Domisch, A. C. Risch, M. F. Jurgensen, M. Ohashi, and L. Sundström. 2009. Does the mutualism between wood ants (Formica rufa group) and Cinara aphids affect Norway spruce growth? Forest Ecology and Management 257:238-243.
- Kindberg, J., and J. E. Swenson. 2018. Björnstammens storlek i Dalarnas och Gävleborgs län 2017. The Scandinavian Brown Bear Research Project.
- Kojola, I., V. Hallikainen, T. Nygren, M. Pesonen, and V. Ruusila. 2006. Recent Trends and Harvest in Finland's Brown Bear Population. Ursus **17**:159-164.
- Kopatz, A., H. G. Eiken, J. Aspi, I. Kojola, C. Tobiassen, K. F. Tirronen, P. I. Danilov, and S. B. Hagen. 2014. Admixture and gene flow from Russia in the recovering northern European brown bear (*Ursus arctos*). Plos One **9**:e97558.
- Laundré, J. W., L. Hernández, and K. B. Altendorf. 2001. Wolves, elk, and bison: reestablishing the "landscape of fear" in Yellowstone National Park, U.S.A. Canadian Journal of Zoology 79:1401-1409.
- Liautard, C., W. D. Brown, K. R. Helms, and L. Keller. 2003. Temporal and spatial variations of gyne production in the ant *Formica exsecta*. Oecologia **136**:558-564.
- Lima, S. L. 1998. Nonlethal effects in the ecology of predator-prey interactions. BioScience 48:25-34.
- Lunde, E. T., C. Bech, R. D. Fyumagwa, C. R. Jackson, and E. Røskaft. 2016. Assessing the effect of roads on impala (*Aepyceros melampus*) stress levels using faecal glucocorticoid metabolites. African Journal of Ecology 54:434-441.
- Manel, S., E. Bellemain, J. E. Swenson, and O. François. 2004. Assumed and inferred spatial structure of populations: the Scandinavian brown bears revisited. Molecular Ecology **13**:1327-1331.
- Martin, J., M. Basille, B. Van Moorter, J. Kindberg, D. Allainé, and J. E. Swenson. 2010. Coping with human disturbance: spatial and temporal tactics of the brown bear (*Ursus arctos*). Canadian Journal of Zoology 88:875-883.
- Mathisen, K. M., F. Buhtz, K. Danell, R. Bergström, C. Skarpe, O. Suominen, and I.-L. Persson. 2010. Moose density and habitat productivity affects reproduction, growth and species composition in field layer vegetation. Journal of Vegetation Science **21**:705-716.
- Matsubayashi, J., J. O. Morimoto, I. Tayasu, T. Mano, M. Nakajima, O. Takahashi, K. Kobayashi, and F. Nakamura. 2015. Major decline in marine and terrestrial animal consumption by brown bears (*Ursus arctos*). Scientific Reports **5**:1-8.
- McCullough, D. R. 1982. Behavior, bears, and humans. Wildlife Society Bulletin 10:27-33.
- Melis, C., M. Sundby, R. Andersen, A. Moksnes, B. Pedersen, and E. Røskaft. 2007. The role of moose Alces alces L. in boreal forest – the effect on ground beetles (Coleoptera, Carabidae) abundance and diversity. Biodiversity and Conservation 16:1321-1335.
- Muhly, T. B., C. Semeniuk, A. Massolo, L. Hickman, and M. Musiani. 2011. Human Activity Helps Prey Win the Predator-Prey Space Race. Plos One **6**:e17050.
- National Veterinary Institute. 2017. Licensjakt på björn. http://sva.se/djurhalsa/vilda-djur/storarovdjur/licensjakt_pa_bjorn. Last updated: 06.07.2017. Accessed: February 2018
- Naves, J., T. Wiegand, E. Revilla, and M. Delibes. 2003. Endangered species constrained by natural and human factors: the case of brown bears in northern Spain. Conservation Biology 17:1276-1289.
- Nellemann, C., O.-G. Støen, J. Kindberg, J. E. Swenson, I. Vistnes, G. Ericsson, J. Katajisto, B. P. Kaltenborn, J. Martin, and A. Ordiz. 2007. Terrain use by an expanding brown bear population in relation to age, recreational resorts and human settlements. Biological Conservation **138**:157-165.
- Neumann, W., G. Ericsson, H. Dettki, and V. C. Radeloff. 2013. Behavioural response to infrastructure of wildlife adapted to natural disturbances. Landscape and Urban Planning **114**:9-27.
- Norwegian Environment Agency. 2018. Lisensfelling. http://www.rovviltportalen.no/content/1525/Lisensfelling. Last updated: 28.08.2015. Accessed: August 2018
- Noyce, K. V., P. B. Kannowski, and M. R. Riggs. 1997. Black bears as ant-eaters: seasonal associations between bear myrmecophagy and ant ecology in north-central Minnesota. Canadian Journal of Zoology 75:1671-1686.
- Ordiz, A., R. Bischof, and J. E. Swenson. 2013a. Saving large carnivores, but losing the apex predator? Biological Conservation **168**:128-133.
- Ordiz, A., O.-G. Støen, M. Delibes, and J. E. Swenson. 2011. Predators or prey? Spatio-temporal discrimination of human-derived risk by brown bears. Oecologia **166**:59-67.
- Ordiz, A., O.-G. Støen, S. Sæbø, J. Kindberg, M. Delibes, and J. E. Swenson. 2012. Do bears know they are being hunted? Biological Conservation **152**:21-28.
- Ordiz, A., O.-G. Støen, S. Sæbø, V. Sahlén, B. E. Pedersen, J. Kindberg, and J. E. Swenson. 2013b. Lasting behavioural responses of brown bears to experimental encounters with humans. Journal of Applied Ecology **50**:306-314.
- Ordiz, A., S. Sæbø, J. Kindberg, J. E. Swenson, and O.-G. Støen. 2017. Seasonality and human disturbance alter brown bear activity patterns: implications for circumpolar carnivore conservation? Animal Conservation **20**:51-60.
- Paine, R. T. 1980. Food webs: linkage, interaction strength and community infrastructure. Journal of Animal Ecology **49**:667-685.

- Penteriani, V., J. V. López-Bao, C. Bettega, F. Dalerum, M. d. M. Delgado, K. Jerina, I. Kojola, M. Krofel, and A. Ordiz. 2017. Consequences of brown bear viewing tourism: A review. Biological Conservation 206:169-180.
- Pulliainen. 1983. Behaviour of an expanding population of the brown bear (Ursus arctos) in northern Europe. Z. Säugetierkunde **48**:290-297.
- R Core Team. 2018. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Ripple, W. J., and R. L. Beschta. 2006. Linking a cougar decline, trophic cascade, and catastrophic regime shift in Zion National Park. Biological Conservation **133**:397-408.
- Ripple, W. J., J. A. Estes, R. L. Beschta, C. C. Wilmers, E. G. Ritchie, M. Hebblewhite, J. Berger, B. Elmhagen, M. Letnic, M. P. Nelson, O. J. Schmitz, D. W. Smith, A. D. Wallach, and A. J. Wirsing. 2014. Status and ecological effects of the world's largest carnivores. Science 343.
- Risch, A. C., M. F. Jurgensen, M. Schütz, and D. S. Page-Dumroese. 2005. The contribution of red wood ants to soil C and N pools and CO² emissions in subalpine forests. Ecology 86:419-430.
- Rode, K. D., S. D. Farley, and C. T. Robbins. 2006. Sexual dimorphism, reproductive strategy, and human activities determine resource use by brown bears. Ecology **87**:2636-2646.
- Rogala, J. K., M. Hebblewhite, J. Whittington, C. A. White, J. Coleshill, and M. Musiani. 2011. Human activity differentially redistributes large mammals in the Canadian Rockies National Park. Ecology and Society 16:16.
- Røskaft, E., T. Bjerke, B. Kaltenborn, J. D. C. Linnell, and R. Andersen. 2003. Patterns of self-reported fear towards large carnivores among the Norwegian public. Evolution and Human Behavior 24:184-198.
- Sahlén, E., S. Noell, C. S. DePerno, J. Kindberg, G. Spong, and J. P. G. M. Cromsigt. 2016. Phantoms of the forest: legacy risk effects of a regionally extinct large carnivore. Ecology and Evolution 6:791-799.
- Sahlén, V., J. E. Swenson, S. Brunberg, and J. Kindberg. 2006. Björnen i Sverige. A report from the Swedish Brown Bear Research Project to the Swedish White Paper on predator management, Stockholm, Sweden.
- Solberg, K. H., E. Bellemain, O.-M. Drageset, P. Taberlet, and J. E. Swenson. 2006. An evaluation of field and non-invasive genetic methods to estimate brown bear (*Ursus arctos*) population size. Biological Conservation **128**:158-168.
- Stalmaster, M. V. 1978. Behavioral responses of wintering bald eagels to human activity. Journal of Wildlife Management **42**:506-513.
- Stenset, N. E., P. N. Lutnæs, V. Bjarnadóttir, B. Dahle, K. H. Fossum, P. Jigsved, T. Johansen, W.
 Neumann, O. Opseth, O. Rønning, S. M. J. G. Steyaert, A. Zedrosser, S. Brunberg, and J. E.
 Swenson. 2016. Seasonal and annual variation in the diet of brown bears *Ursus arctos* in the boreal forest of southcentral Sweden. Wildlife Biology 22:107-116.
- Steyaert, S. M. J. G., J. Kindberg, J. E. Swenson, and A. Zedrosser. 2013. Male reproductive strategy explains spatiotemporal segregation in brown bears. Journal of Animal Ecology **82**:836-845.
- Steyaert, S. M. J. G., M. Leclerc, F. Pelletier, J. Kindberg, S. Brunberg, J. E. Swenson, and A. Zedrosser. 2016a. Human shields mediate sexual conflict in a top predator. Proceedings of the Royal Society B 283:20160906.
- Steyaert, S. M. J. G., A. Zedrosser, M. Elfström, A. Ordiz, M. Leclerc, S. C. Frank, J. Kindberg, O.-G. Støen, S. Brunberg, and J. E. Swenson. 2016b. Ecological implications from spatial patterns in human-caused brown bear mortality. Wildlife Biology **22**:144-152.
- Stockan, J., and E. J. H. Robinson. 2016. Wood Ant Ecology and Conservation. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Støen, O.-G., A. Ordiz, A. L. Evans, T. G. Laske, J. Kindberg, O. Fröbert, J. E. Swenson, and J. M. Arnemo. 2015. Physiological evidence for a human-induced landscape of fear in brown bears (Ursus arctos). Physiology & Behavior 152:244-248.

- Støen, O.-G., A. Zedrosser, S. Sæbø, and J. E. Swenson. 2006. Inversely density-dependent natal dispersal in brown bears Ursus arctos. Oecologia **148**:356.
- Støen, O. G., A. Ordiz, V. Sahlén, J. M. Arnemo, S. Sæbø, G. Mattsing, M. Kristofferson, S. Brunberg, J. Kindberg, and J. E. Swenson. 2018. Brown bear (Ursus arctos) attacks resulting in human casualties in Scandinavia 1977–2016; management implications and recommendations. Plos One 13:e0196876.
- Sundell, J., I. Kojola, and I. Hanski. 2006. A new GPS-GSM-based method to study behavior of brown bears. Wildlife Society Bulletin (1973-2006) **34**:446-450.
- Suominen, O. 1999. Impact of cervid browsing and grazing on the terrestrial gastropod fauna in the boreal forests of Fennoscandia. Ecography **22**:651-658.
- Swenson, J. E. 1999. Does hunting affect the behavior of the brown bear in Eurasia? Ursus **11**:157-162.
- Swenson, J. E., A. Bjarvall, A. Söderberg, P. Wabakken, and R. Franzén. 1994. Size, trend, distribution and conservation of the brown bear Ursus arctos population in Sweden. Biological Conservation 70:9-17.
- Swenson, J. E., B. Dahle, H. Busk, O. Opseth, T. Johansen, A. Söderberg, K. Wallin, and G. Cederlund. 2007. Predation on moose calves by European brown bears. Journal of Wildlife Management 71:1993-1997.
- Swenson, J. E., A. Jansson, R. Riig, and F. Sandegren. 1999a. Bears and ants: myrmecophagy by brown bears in central Scandinavia. Canadian Journal of Zoology-Revue Canadienne De Zoologie 77:551-561.
- Swenson, J. E., F. Sandegren, and A. Söderberg. 1998. Geographic expansion of an increasing brown bear population: evidence for presaturation dispersal. Journal of Animal Ecology **67**:819-826.
- Swenson, J. E., F. Sandegren, A. Söderberg, M. Heim, O. J. Sørensen, A. Bjärvall, R. Franzén, S. Wikan, and P. Wabakken. 1999b. Interactions between brown bears and humans in Scandinavia. Biosphere Conservation 2:1-9.
- Swenson, J. E., M. Schneider, A. Zedrosser, A. Söderberg, R. Franzén, and J. Kindberg. 2017. Challenges of managing a European brown bear population; lessons from Sweden, 1943– 2013. Wildlife Biology 2017:wlb.00251.
- Swenson, J. E., P. Wabakken, F. Sandegren, A. Bjärvall, R. Franzén, and A. Söderberg. 1995. The near extinction and recovery of brown bears in Scandinavia in relation to the bear management policies of Norway and Sweden. Wildlife Biology 1:11-25.
- Tarlow, E. M., and D. T. Blumstein. 2007. Evaluating methods to quantify anthropogenic stressors on wild animals. Applied Animal Behaviour Science **102**:429-451.
- The Finnish Wildlife Agency. 2017. Karhusaaliit. https://riista.fi/metsastys/saalisseuranta/karhusaaliit/. Last updated: 14.09.2017. Accessed: March 2018
- Thompson, R. F., and W. A. Spencer. 1966. Habituation: A model phenomenon for the study of neuronal substrates of behavior. Psychological Review **73**:16-43.
- Trombulak, S. C., and C. A. Frissell. 2000. Review of ecological effects of roads on terrestrial and aquatic communities. Conservation Biology **14**:18-30.
- Wardle, D. A., F. Hyodo, R. D. Bardgett, G. W. Yeates, and M.-C. Nilsson. 2011. Long-term aboveground and belowground consequences of red wood ant exclusion in boreal forest. Ecology 92:645-656.
- Wikman, M. 2010. Riistakannat 2010. Riistaseurantojen tulokset. Riista- ja kalatalouden tutkimuslaitos, Helsinki, Finland.

https://jukuri.luke.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/530656/rks2010_21.pdf?sequence=1

Xenikoudakis, G., E. Ersmark, J.-L. Tison, L. Waits, J. Kindberg, J. E. Swenson, and L. Dalén. 2015. Consequences of a demographic bottleneck on genetic structure and variation in the Scandinavian brown bear. Molecular Ecology 24:3441-3454. Zimmermann, B., L. Nelson, P. Wabakken, H. Sand, and O. Liberg. 2014. Behavioral responses of wolves to roads: scale-dependent ambivalence. Behavioral Ecology **25**:1353-1364.

Acknowledgements

In October 2008, I was driving back to Ås after my first field season in Tackåsen. I was a master student in the bearproject, and my backpack was full of good memories from a summer and autumn of fieldwork. I was fortunate to have you, Ole-Gunnar, as my supervisor for the master thesis ten years ago, and I have been fortunate yet again, as a PhD candidate, to have you as my main supervisor. Thank you, for all the guidance and support you have provided, your patience, and all the discussions we have had. I am very glad I have had the opportunity to be supervised by you! Jon, Andrés, Jonas, and Göran: Thank you for being a part of my group of supervisors. Thank you for contributing with exiting ideas, valuable advice, discussions and constructive remarks, and much more. Thank you all for sharing of your knowledge!

Sven, as the field supervisor in Tackåsen, you have always been the person to turn to, both for guidance in the skills of fieldwork, and for a seemingly endless knowledge of bears. Thank you for all the advice and stories you have shared.

Tackåsen, our field station, is a special place that change with the seasons and all the students and volunteers that stay for longer or shorter periods. To all of you I have had the pleasure of getting to know in Tackåsen: thank you for making the field seasons so memorable! Many have participated in the approaches and habitat surveys for the studies in this thesis; thank you for your great work. I would especially like to thank Agneta, Andrea, and David for their contributions to ensuring that the field station and the fieldwork run smoothly, and for their great company.

To Alexandra and Freya, thank you both for thorough and solid work searching for ants in the Swedish forest. It was a pleasure working with both of you. We got the hang of how to walk straight lines in the forest, and I hope and think we all achieved a pure fascination for the little creatures in the stacks of needles.

Veronica, Janne, Solve, Nina, Shane and Tone, thank you for the good collaboration on the manuscripts!

It is said that the bearproject is like a family, and you who belong to this family have been playing a part in making my years in the project a great experience – thank you!

I have enjoyed the company of so many people at Ås; Therese, Sam, Andrés, Marte, Mahdieh, Cyril, Joe, Pierre, Richard, Mari, Jon and many more. And Anne - thank you for being an inspiration and a great office mate!

During this PhD period, I have had the privilege to stay at the Norwegian Environment Agency in Trondheim during several periods. To all of you in Viltseksjonen: Thank you for welcoming me! Terje, Knut Morten and Susanne, thank you for facilitating the stay, and, of course, thanks to the Norwegian Environment Agency for financing parts the PhD project.

I would like to give a special thanks to you, Veronica. Thank you for valuable discussions, great company during my time in Trondheim, and for making sure these years have also included a bit of culture.

Thank you Tone G, for facilitating the labwork at Sørhellinga. Stig, thank you for solving all my questions related to the technicalities in the office. Kari – thank you for helping me navigate through forms and reports. And Grethe, and Ole-Wiggo –thank you for all the help in the final stage, making sure this thesis was formatted and distributed.

Finally, I will thank my family and friends, who have been curiously interested in my work, asked questions that I could not answer, and supported me through these years. Most of all, to my mother, Gunn Odlaug, my father, Ove, and my brother, Torkel; Thank you for all the support you have given me throughout these four years leading up to this final product. Thank you for believing in me, and encouraging me! I am truly very privileged!

Compilation of papers

Paper I

Behaviour of Solitary Adult Scandinavian Brown Bears (*Ursus arctos*) when Approached by Humans on Foot

Gro Kvelprud Moen¹, Ole-Gunnar Støen^{1,2}*, Veronica Sahlén¹, Jon E. Swenson^{1,3}

1 Department of Ecology and Natural Resource Management, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Ås, Norway, 2 Department of Wildlife, Fish and Environmental Studies, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Umeå, Sweden, 3 Norwegian Institute for Nature Research, Trondheim, Norway

Abstract

Successful management has brought the Scandinavian brown bear (*Ursus arctos* L.) back from the brink of extinction, but as the population grows and expands the probability of bear-human encounters increases. More people express concerns about spending time in the forest, because of the possibility of encountering bears, and acceptance for the bear is decreasing. In this context, reliable information about the bear's normal behaviour during bear-human encounters is important. Here we describe the behaviour of brown bears when encountering humans on foot. During 2006–2009, we approached 30 adult (21 females, 9 males) GPS-collared bears 169 times during midday, using 1-minute positioning before, during and after the approach. Observer movements were registered with a handheld GPS. The approaches started 869 ± 348 m from the bears, with the wind towards the bear when passing it at approximately 50 m. The bears were detected in 15% of the approach, going away from the observers, whereas some remained at the initial site after being approached (20%). Young bears left more often than older bears, possibly due to differences in experience, but the difference between ages decreased during the berry season compared to the pre-berry season. The flight initiation distance was longer for active bears (115 \pm 94 m) than passive bears (69 \pm 47 m), and was further affected by horizontal vegetation cover and the bear's age. Our findings show that bears try to avoid confrontations with humans on foot, and support the conclusions of earlier studies that the Scandinavian brown bear is normally not aggressive during encounters with humans.

Citation: Moen GK, Støen O-G, Sahlén V, Swenson JE (2012) Behaviour of Solitary Adult Scandinavian Brown Bears (Ursus arctos) when Approached by Humans on Foot. PLoS ONE 7(2): e31699. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0031699

Editor: André Chiaradia, Phillip Island Nature Parks, Australia

Received May 5, 2011; Accepted January 17, 2012; Published February 20, 2012

Copyright: © 2012 Moen et al. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Funding: The Scandinavian Brown Bear Research Project is funded by the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, the Norwegian Directorate for Nature Management, the Swedish Association for Hunting and Wildlife Management, WWF Sweden and the Research Council of Norway. This study received additional financial support from the research program "Adaptive Management of Fish and Wildlife" and the Norwegian Directorate for Nature Management. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing Interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

* E-mail: ole.stoen@umb.no

Introduction

Human disturbance can influence wildlife negatively by e.g. preventing successful breeding [1,2], causing animals to avoid quality foraging areas or quality habitats [3-6], altering activity patterns [7,8], or distribution patterns [9,10], or even causing increased mortality [11]. Carnivores often present a special challenge to managers, due to the negative attitudes associated with carnivore-human conflicts, e.g. killing livestock, threats to human life and challenges regarding reintroduction [12-15]. Bears (Ursus spp.) are commonly associated with undisturbed areas away from high human densities. Human disturbance can cause grizzly bears (Ursus arctos L.) to use less productive habitats [16-18] and habitats with low levels of human use [19]. The Scandinavian brown bear tends to avoid habitats close to forest roads, cabin resorts, and towns [20,21] and brown bears in Finland have been displaced from previously used habitat by large-scale mechanised forestry [22].

The introduction of bounties in Sweden (1647) and Norway (1733), and the subsequent intensive hunting [23,24], reduced the Scandinavian brown bear population from 4,000–5,000 individuals in the 1850's to approximately 130 animals around 1930 [25]. Brown bears received protection in Sweden in 1927 and in

Norway in 1973, however the Norwegian population was functionally extinct by 1931 [25]. After a slow recovery, the Scandinavian population consisted of around 700 individuals in 1995 [25]. The latest estimates are about 3,300 individuals in Sweden [26] and a minimum of 166 individuals in Norway [27]. Whereas the brown bear population has increased in size and distribution, the areas undisturbed by humans have decreased rapidly. An expanding bear population and extending human activities into the remaining habitats will most likely lead to more frequent bear-human encounters. In fact, there has been an increase in bear-caused human injuries since 1977, especially for hunters, and two people have been killed (O.-G. Støen et al. unpublished). In 2006, a bear-caused human fatality was documented in Finland, the first one since 1936 [28]. The incidents in Sweden have received high media attention and may have contributed to a documented reduction in Swedish people's tolerance towards bears [29]. This reduction in tolerance is more prominent in counties with carnivore presence than the rest of the country. People in Norway are also more afraid of brown bears and wolves (Canis lupus L.) than of the two other large carnivores in the country, Eurasian lynx (Lynx lynx L.) and wolverine (Gulo gulo L.) [30]. However, bear aggressiveness varies geographically and the brown bear in Scandinavia appears to be less aggressive than

those in Russia and North America, and only truly dangerous when wounded [31].

The management challenges of the increasing brown bear population include not only people's fear of carnivores in general, but also fear of the unknown [32]. Informing people about the biology and normal behaviour of large carnivores is a good management strategy to reduce people's fear [33] and increase public acceptance. This is essential to maintain sufficient population sizes in areas where carnivores already are present, as well as a requirement for a successful reintroduction of bears [34]. Although most of the bear-injured people were hunters, there are many more hikers and other recreational users in Scandinavian forests, where the public has the right of trespass on private lands. With increased numbers of bear-injured people and declining acceptance of bears, it is important to document how brown bears normally behave when approached by humans.

In this study, we have used technology that allowed us to determine the behaviour of the bears when encountering humans on foot without observing the bears in the field. Our main goals in this study are 1) to describe how solitary adult bears react to human approaches and 2) to identify factors affecting how bears react to human encounters. This knowledge can help managers when giving advice about what people in Scandinavia can expect when walking in areas with brown bears.

Materials and Methods

Study area

This study was conducted in the southernmost reproduction area of the Scandinavian brown bear population in Sweden (61° N, 14°E). The area consists of gently rolling hills, and most of the area (>90%) lies below the timberline (~750 m a.s.l.) [35]. The forest is heavily managed and dominated by Scots pine (*Pmus sylvestris* L.) and Norway spruce (*Picea abies* H. Karst). About 8% of the forested areas are clear-cuts, and about 40% of the forest is younger than 35 years [36]. The area is sparsely populated by humans, but there is an extensive road system, consisting of small gravel roads and paved public roads [21]. The bear population in the area is hunted and the density is about 30 individuals per 1000 km² [37,38].

The bears

We approached 21 female and 9 male radio-collared solitary adult bears; 4 to 19 years old. Of these, 14 females and 3 males were approached in more than one year. The bears were equipped with GPS Plus-3 or GPS Pro-4 neck collars (VECTRONIC Aerospace GmbH, Berlin, Germany), and a VHF transmitter implant (IMP 400L) (Telonics, USA). Methods used for marking and capturing bears have been described earlier [39,40]. All the bears used in this study were captured and handled in March -May the year of their respective approaches, i.e. 1-4 months prior to the start of the approach experiments. Bears can be captured for the first time both as adults and subadults, and older bears have therefore not necessarily been handled more often than younger bears. Bears in the study area reach 90% of their adult size at 4.1 years of age, and we defined the bears as adult when 4 years or older [41]. If the bear was not followed from birth, the age was determined by counting annuli of a cross-section of one of the premolar roots [42]. The bears were approached a maximum of six times each year, and we waited at least fourteen days between each approach of the same individual. The Scandinavian brown bear population is hunted, and the annual brown bear hunting season in Sweden starts on 21 August and ends on 15 October or when quotas are filled. The capturing of the bears were approved by the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (permit Dnr 412-7327-09 Nv) and the approaches were approved by the appropriate ethical committee i.e. Djuretiska nämnden in Uppsala, Sweden (permit C 47/9).

The approaches

We conducted 169 approaches; 19 in 2006 (29 June to 14 August), 61 in 2007 (7 June to 4 October), 76 in 2008 (6 June to 24 October), and 13 in 2009 (13 August to 10 October). We divided the field seasons into a pre-berry season (spring/early summer) and a berry season (summer/autumn), because the bears could potentially change behaviour after entering the period of hyperphagia in late summer. We used the date when we first observed fresh berries in the scats to separate the seasons; 20 July in 2006, 13 July in 2007, 14 July in 2008. In 2009, all the approaches were conducted in the berry season. Before an approach, we programmed the collars to register a GPS position every minute for three hours. Programming of the collars was made via a web-based SMS scheduling service approximately a week before the approach. Of the theoretical maximum of 181 GPS positions per bear per approach, we received 66±21 (mean \pm SD) positions (37 \pm 12% of theoretical maximum) in 2006, 89±30 positions (47±16%) in 2007, 145±43 positions (80±24%) in 2008, and 177 ± 3 positions (98±1%) in 2009. The increasing proportion of the theoretical maximum of positions received over the years was probably due to improved quality of the GPS collars, with increased position accuracy and fewer erroneous positions (Robert Schulte, Vectronic GmbH, pers.comm). The positions were stored, sent to a base station via SMS, and downloaded to a computer. The approaches started after one hour of 1-minute positions, between 11:00 hrs and 16:00 hrs local time. This time of the day was chosen because the bears are usually inactive in a resting site at this time [43], and because this is the time when most people are in the forest.

Prior to the approach, the bears were located using triangulations of the VHF signals from the radio collar and/or the implant using a portable receiver, a roof-mounted omni-directional antenna, and a hand-held yagi-antenna. One to four people, hereafter referred to as the observers, conducted the approaches. During the approach, the bear was monitored with VHF-tracking equipment, which enabled the observers to monitor the bear's movements while passing close by. The approaches started 869 ± 348 m (n = 154) from the bear, and were directed so that the observers would pass the bear upwind of it, with the wind coming at a 90° angle, and at a distance of approximately 50 m. The wind strength was measured when passing the initial site using the Beaufort Wind Scale (scale from 1 (1-3 mph) to 12 (73+ mph)). The observers continued for 500 m, and then walked back to the starting point with a minimum distance of 500 m from the bear's original location. The observers talked with each other and kept a normal hiking pace of 3.4±0.6 km/h (minimum 2.1 km/h, maximum 5.1 km/h). When just one observer approached the bear, this person talked to him- or herself. During the approach, the track of the observers was registered with a hand-held GPS receiver (Garmin GPSMAP 60CSx (Garmin Ltd., USA) or Magellan SporTrack Color (Thales, Santa Clara, California, USA)) that was programmed to record positions every 10 m. After the approach, the observer's tracklog was downloaded into the computer.

Passive and active bears

Based on the GPS positions from the start of the 1-minute positioning to the start of the approach, hereafter referred to as the control period, we could recognise two behaviours, passive and active. The bear was regarded as passive if it remained within a limited area that had a diameter between the outer GPS positions ${<}70~{\rm m}~(30~{\rm m}{\pm}13~{\rm m},{\rm minimum}~8~{\rm m},{\rm maximum}~69~{\rm m}),$ hereafter referred to as a cluster. Passive bears were usually resting, and we usually found daybeds in the cluster. The bear was regarded as active if the positions indicated movement. The distance between the two outermost positions were on average $411\pm327~{\rm m}$ (minimum 85 m, maximum 1092 m), and active bears were usually foraging. Depending on behaviour, as described above, the bears were grouped into passive and active for analysis. Most bears were either active or passive during the whole period, but 14 bears were active during the control period and became passive just before the approach started and were therefore analysed as passive bears. Eight bears were passive and became active during the control period, and were therefore analysed as active bears.

Habitat description

One to 41 days (median 4 days) after the approach, field personnel visited the clusters and described the vegetation where the bear had stayed during the control period, hereafter referred to as the initial site, and the cluster where the bear settled down after being disturbed, hereafter referred to as the second site. In cases where the bear was active during the control period, the last GPS position from the bear during the control period was defined as the initial site. We searched for daybeds, excrements, and other bear signs at the sites. In 2006, the horizontal vegetation cover in the initial and the second site was measured with an umbrella that was 95 cm in diameter and divided into eight equal sectors. The horizontal vegetation cover was measured at 10 m in every cardinal direction, and the sectors were scored for visibility (0 = 0 - 1)33% visibility, 0.5 = 33-66% visibility and 1 = 66-100%) with a maximum score of 32 if fully visible. The sums of the scores were used in the analyses. In 2007 to 2009, we measured the horizontal vegetation cover in the initial and at the second site as the sighting distance with a cylinder; 60 cm tall and 30 cm in diameter. This cylinder was divided into 2 colours, a red upper part and a white lower part [44]. We placed the cylinder in the bed, or in the midpoint of the initial site/second site when no bed was found, and walked in the cardinal directions until we no longer could see the cylinder.

To use the horizontal vegetation cover data from 2006, we estimated the comparability of the two sampling methods by using both the umbrella and the cylinder in 53 plots in 2007. The sum of the umbrella score in all cardinal directions (Sum_{UMBRELLA}) was regressed on the average of the distances in the four cardinal directions using the cylinder sighting distance (Average_{CYLINDER}). The linear equation was Average_{CYLINDER} = 10.7+(0.73*Sum_{UM-BRELLA}). The regression analyses showed a linear relationship (R^2 adj = 53.7%, n = 53, p<0.000). For the analyses, we used the estimated sighting distance from this equation for 2006, and the observed sighting distance for 2007, 2008 and 2009.

Data analysis

We did not find any difference in the maximum distance bears moved between the first and the second hour of 1-minute positions for bears that had been scheduled for an approach, but were not approached (two-tailed t-test: $t_{21} = 0.28$, p = 0.78, n = 22). Hence, we assumed that the bears would behave similarly in the control period and the following hour if they had not been disturbed. We calculated the speed between two successive positions (m/min), and transformed the data by (log(speed*100)) to normalise the residual distribution. Using statistical quality control, we estimated an upper control limit (UCL) [45] for the speed between two positions for passive and active bears during the control period. Only data from bears that stayed passive or active during the entire control period were used in the calculations of UCL. Based on UCL, we judged that passive and active bears had been disturbed once they reached speeds above 33.5 m/min (2.01 km/h) and 101.3 m/min (6.08 km/h), respectively.

If the bear remained in its initial site while being approached, we defined the tolerance distance as the shortest distance to the passing observers. When the speed between two positions exceeded the behaviour-specific UCL, we used ESRI® ArcMapTM 9.2 [46] to determine if this reaction occurred before or after the observers passed the bear. The distance to the observer at the time of the reaction was defined as the flight initiation distance (FID) [47-52]. When calculating FID, we did not include approaches where more than one GPS position from the bear was missing around the time of disturbance. The GPS position prior to the GPS position exceeding UCL was defined as the FID, and hence used for the calculation of the distances to the observers. In 15 approaches, the bears left the initial site, but the speed in the movement did not exceed UCL and we could therefore not determine FID. In four approaches, the bears left the site after the observers had ended their approach, and FIDs were not determined.

After leaving the initial site, some of the bears settled in a second site before the 1-minute positioning period was over. The distance between the coordinates of the beds in the initial and the second site was defined as the distance moved. At sites where a bed was found, but no coordinates were registered by field personnel, the midpoint of the cluster was used as the position of the site (n = 27). For active bears, we used the GPS position of FID as the start to determine the distance moved. We defined the time the bear spent active after disturbance as the time interval in minutes from the GPS position of FID to the first position in the second site.

We used generalised linear mixed models to determine if various variables were related to whether the bears remained or moved (using binomial link function), and linear mixed models for the analysis of the FID. The initial models consisted of the following variables and interactions: Age of the bear; Sex of the bear; Cover (sighting distance in the initial site); Activity of the bear (passive = 0; active = 1); Season (pre-berry = 0; berry = 1); Minimum distance between observer and initial site (only in the binomial model); Carcass present at initial site; Wind strength near bear; Number of observers; Age of the bear*Cover; Age of the bear*Activity of the bear; Age of the bear*Season; Sex of the bear*Cover; Sex of the bear*Activity of the bear; Sex of the bear*Season; Cover* Activity of the bear; Cover*Season. An AICbased backward elimination was performed on these models and the final models were selected based on the lowest value of AIC [53] (Table S1). We chose mixed models in order to account for the random effect of each individual bear using Bear ID as a random effect in the models, and thereby avoid biases caused by pseudoreplication. We used the statistical programming language and environment R version 2.8.1 [54], and the lmer (lme4 library) package.

Results

We passed the bears' initial sites at an average of 54 ± 61 m (n = 131), which was further than the average sighting distance in the initial sites (18±7 m, n = 120). There was significantly less cover in initial sites (25±10 m, n = 21) than second sites (17±8 m, n = 21) for active bears (two-tailed paired t-test: t_{31} = 2.88, p = 0.007), but no difference between the initial sites (17±8 m,

n = 99) and second sites (16±6 m, n = 95) for passive bears (twotailed paired t-test: $t_{183} = 1.07$, p = 0.29). The initial site of active bears had significantly less cover than those of passive bears (two-tailed t-test: $t_{22} = -3.80$, p = 0.001), but there was no difference in cover in the second sites of passive and active bears (two-tailed paired t-test: $t_{29} = -0.65$, p = 0.52).

Detection of the bears

None of the bears displayed any aggressive behaviour towards the observers, and none of the observers reported feeling threatened during any of the approaches. Bears were detected in 15% of the approaches (n = 154); 17 bears were seen, we heard movements from five bears, and during one approach we heard vocalization and movements. The detection rate did not vary with the sex of the bear (chi-squared test: $\chi^2 = 0.38$, df = 1, p = 0.36), or the season (chi-squared test: $\chi^2 = 0.38$, df = 1, p = 0.54). Most of the 17 bears were first seen while standing still, and after the initial observation, all of the bears walked or ran away. We observed a fresh carcass in eight of the initial sites.

Remaining or moving

The bears left the initial site and moved away from the observers in 80% of the approaches (n = 148); the bears that remained had a tolerance distance of 84 ± 64 m (median 62 m, minimum 23 m, maximum 313 m, n = 30). The older bears remained more often than the younger bears, but this difference decreased during the berry season (Table 1). We also found a tendency for the bears to leave more often with increasing number of observers (Table 1). The other variables were not related to whether the bears remained or left their initial site (Table 1).

Flight initiation distance (FID)

Passive bears that left before we passed the initial site had an average FID of 69 ± 47 m (median 59.6 m, minimum 13 m, maximum 309 m, n=65). Nine passive bears that remained at their initial site when we passed them at an average distance of 68 ± 68 m (median 159 m, minimum 27 m, maximum 248 m) left when the observers were on average 326±356 m (minimum 68 m,

Table 1. Results from the generalised linear mixed model for remaining or leaving the initial site.

Explanatory variables	β	SE	z	Р
Age of the bear	-0.558	0.223	-2.503	0.012
Sex of the bear (male = 0, female = 1)	-2.769	1.769	-1.536	0.125
Cover (sighting distance at the initial site)	0.204	0.215	0.945	0.345
Season (pre-berry = 0, berry = 1)	0.860	1.866	0.461	0.645
Wind strength near bear	-0.313	0.277	-1.128	0.259
Number of observers	0.843	0.488	1.727	0.084
Age of the bear * Season	0.304	0.130	2.338	0.019
Sex of the bear * Cover	0.128	0.099	1.288	0.198
Cover * Season	-0.139	0.108	-1.292	0.197

Results from the generalised linear mixed model (binomial link function) explaining whether brown bears remained (0) or left (1) their initial site when approached by humans on foot in central Sweden in 2006–2009 (n= 148). Test statistics are given for the model with the lowest value of AIC. The parameter β is the slope, SE denotes the standard error, Z denotes the z-value, and P denotes the p-value for the test.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0031699.t001

 Table 2. Results from the linear mixed model for flight initiation distance (FID).

Explanatory variables	β	SE	т
Age of the bear	-0.039	0.013	-3.038
Cover (Sighting distance at the initial site)	0.018	0.007	2.655
Activity of the bear (passive = 0, active = 1)	0.410	0.187	2.189

Results from the linear mixed model (Gaussian link function) explaining the flight initiation distance (FID) for brown bears when approached by humans on foot in central Sweden in 2006–2009 (n = 78). Test statistics are given for the model with the lowest value of AIC. The parameter β is the slope, SE denotes the standard error and T denotes the t-value. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0031699.1002

maximum 1221 m) away. Active bears that left before we passed them had an average FID of 115 ± 94 m (median 82.3 m, minimum 22 m, maximum 324 m, n = 13). The bears that left before we passed the initial site left at a shorter distance when there was more horizontal vegetative cover at the initial site (Table 2, Fig. 1). Younger bears left at a longer distance than older bears, and passive bears left at a shorter distance than active bears (Table 2, Figs. 1 and 2). The other variables did not seem to affect FID.

Distance moved and time spent active

The bears that settled at a new site after leaving their initial site before the schedule with 1-minute positions ended were active for 24 ± 23 min (minimum 2 min, maximum 101 min, n = 78), and moved on average $1,173\pm1,094$ m (minimum 99 m, maximum 6,291 m, n = 92) before they settled at the second site. Neither activity behaviour, age of the bear, season, the closest distance between observer and bear, nor sex of the bear was related to the



Sighting distance at initial site (m)

Figure 1. Flight initiation distance (FID) in relation to sighting distance at the initial site. Distribution of flight initiation distance (FID) for passive (circles and full line) and active (triangles and broken line) Scandinavian brown bears approached by humans on foot in central Sweden in 2006–2009 (n = 78), in relation to sighting distance at the initial site (shorter sighting distance indicates more horizontal vegetation cover).

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0031699.g001



Figure 2. Flight initiation distance (FID) in relation to age of the bear. Distribution of flight initiation distance (FID) for passive (circles and full line) and active (triangles and broken line) Scandinavian brown bears approached by humans on foot in central Sweden in 2006–2009 (n = 78), in relation to the age of the bear. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0031699.g002

time they spent active or the distance they moved (all p-values>0.22).

Discussion

Detection of the bears

None of the approached bears showed any form of aggressive behaviour, which is consistent with the view that the Scandinavian brown bear is less aggressive than brown bears in Asia and North America [31]. This may be a result of the extermination attempt during the 1600-1800's, when bold animals may have been removed selectively [25,31]. The few brown bears that survived in Sweden around the 1930s were reported to be wary [55]. The present population may contain more bold individuals because the population is larger; however hunting might take out some of the bolder individuals first [56]. The Scandinavian brown bear can act aggressively if wounded, when with cubs of the year, when surprised at carcasses, or if hunting dogs are involved in the encounter [31]. However, the bears we approached near carcasses did not show any aggressive behaviour. Most bears were standing still when first observed and changed behaviour after being detected; by walking or running away. This strengthens our conclusion that the bears wanted to avoid confrontations with humans.

We detected the bears in only 15% of the approaches. This is a low proportion considering that the observers knew the direction and the approximate distance to the bear. This clearly indicates that most encounters between hikers and bears go unnoticed by humans. This could be because bears tend to use densely vegetated sites as their daybed sites [43]. After the encounters, both active and passive bears settled in densely vegetated sites, perhaps to avoid exposing themselves to humans. The fact that there was no difference in sighting distances between initial and second sites of passive bears shows that the bears always select quite dense resting areas. Active bears were disturbed in areas that are more open and sought cover in sites with similar sighting distance as passive bears after being disturbed.

How did the bears behave when approached?

The bears showed a varied set of behaviours when approached. The majority of the bears left before we passed them, although some bears left and then came back towards the observers before leaving the area. Others remained until we passed before leaving, or simply remained in the area even after the approach. None of these behaviours should be considered abnormal.

We found that the younger bears moved away more often when approached than older, but this difference decreased during the berry season (Table 1). A previous study found that bears chose daybeds with more horizontal vegetation cover during the berry season than the pre-berry season [57]. This might indicate that the bears respond to the increased human activity during autumn (berry pickers, hunters etc) by choosing sites with more cover, and our results show that the bears are more easily disturbed during the berry season.

Grizzly bears' (also *U. arctos*) level of reaction to people has previously been found to not be influenced by distance (closer or further away than 150 m) when in cover [17]. We usually came closer to the bear than 150 m, but also did not find that the distance to the bear influenced whether the bear left or not.

One way to identify disturbance is using a flight response [58], i.e. as a quantitative measurement of a response defined as "the distance to which a person can approach a wild animal without causing it to flee" [59]. Our finding that the bears left at a greater distance from the observers when there was less cover in the initial site (Table 2, Fig. 1), suggests that the bears made a contextdependent decision of when to leave [58]. Escape theory predicts that prey will determine their behaviour based on the behaviour of the predator, and a change in behaviour of the prey will occur when the risk of remaining exceeds the cost of leaving [60,61]. The cost connected to leaving when approached by humans includes the loss of benefits achieved by continued foraging or resting, the energetic cost caused by leaving the site, and the cost of being detected. If the animal regards itself as well hidden, the benefit of leaving will occur at a shorter distance to the observer than if the animal is in open habitat, hence the animal should leave sooner in an open habitat [60]. Similar results to ours have also been documented in Eurasian lynx [62] and grizzly bears [16,63].

Another explanation for why bears remained longer at initial sites with more horizontal vegetation cover could be that the cover concealed scents to a certain degree and reduced noise from the observers, and hence delayed the bear's detection of the observers. Bears have an excellent sense of smell [64], and during our approaches, we made sure that the wind blew 90° in relation to our track, i.e. from us towards the bear when we passed it. We simulated hikers by behaving like them during the approaches, regarding the speed of the approach, and the noises we made.

We also found that active bears had a longer FID than passive bears (Table 2, Fig. 2). It is possible that active bears are more vigilant than passive bears, and when the bears already were active, the inclination to change behaviour and start moving away from the observers was probably higher than when the bears were passive. This pattern has been reported in desert bighorn sheep (*Ovis candensis* Shaw), which were more likely to flee from human disturbance when moving or standing, than when feeding or bedding [65].

Younger bears left the initial site more often than older bears (Table 1), and the younger bears left at a greater distance from the observers than older individuals (Table 2, Fig. 2). We suggest that this could be because young bears are less experienced. Though adult female grizzly bears have been found to be the most riskaverse category and female grizzly bears were normally found further from vehicles, noise, and paved roads than males [18], we did not detect any difference between the sexes in any of our analyses. These findings do not necessarily contradict each other. As mentioned earlier, hunting can cause individuals to become more wary by removing bold animals. As there is no hunting selection for sex in Sweden [66], we suggest that the sexes experience risk from humans in the same way. Hence, there is no difference in wariness and behaviour towards human encounters, even though females might choose habitats further from vehicles, roads and noise when they have the opportunity to choose. We approached the bears in habitats where they were usually not close to humans, hence the exposure to humans was not chosen by the bear itself and the reaction towards a human encounter could be based on the amount of previous experience. We did not detect animals of either sex more often, stressing that boldness did not vary by sex.

It is important to note that FID does not necessarily reflect the entire impact of human disturbance [67]. If a disturbance is great enough, it can cause an extra cost that can influence growth, health, and reproductive fitness [68]. An animal might detect a predator long before it decides to leave [60], and the bears probably reacted internally before reacting in a way that we could record by a change in GPS positions, making it hard to detect when the animal actually reacted initially [69]. A more accurate way to measure the reaction might be by using physiological measurements, such as heart rate [68,58]. Heart rates of kittiwakes (*Rissa tridactyla* L.) and European shag (*Phalacrocorax aristotelis* L.) increased by 50% when exposed to potentially threatening stimulus, indicating that the birds could be distressed even when there were no visible changes in behaviour [58].

Management implications

Our findings support an earlier conclusion that the Scandinavian brown bear normally is not aggressive [31]. Human fear can negatively affect the acceptance of bears and other carnivores, and it is important that people receive information about the bears' normal behaviour in order to feel safe when using the outdoors. Our results can contribute to educational material where people

References

- Albert DM, Bowyer BT (1991) Factors related to grizzly bear-human interactions in Denali National Park. Wildlife Soc Bull 19: 339–349.
- Giese M (1996) Effects of human activity on adelie penguin Pygoscelis adeliae breeding success. Biol Conserv 75: 157–164.
- Sutherland WJ, Crockford NJ (1993) Factors affecting the feeding distribution of red-breasted geese Branta ruficollis wintering in Romania. Biol Conserv 63: 61–65.
- Gander H, Ingold P (1997) Reactions of male alpine chamois Rupicapra r. rupicapra to hikers, joggers and mountainbikers. Biol Conserv 79: 107–109.
- Nellemann C, Vistnes I, Jordhøy P, Strand O, Newton A (2003) Progressive impact of piecemeal infrastructure development on wild reindeer. Biol Conserv 113: 307–317.
- Stevens MA, Boness DJ (2003) Influences of habitat features and human disturbance on use of breeding sites by a declining population of southern fur seals (Arctocephalus australis). J Zool 260: 145–152.
- Kitchen AM, Gese EM, Schauster ER (2000) Changes in coyote activity patterns due to reduced exposure to human persecution. Can J Zool 78: 853–857.
- Loehr J, Kovanen M, Carey J, Hogmander H, Jurasz C, et al. (2005) Genderand age-class-specific reactions to human disturbance in a sexually dimorphic ungulate. Can J Zool 83: 1602–1607.
- Stalmaster MV, Newman JR (1978) Behavioral responses of wintering bald eagles to human activity. J Wildl Manage 42: 506–513.
- Burger J (1981) The effect of human activity on birds at a coastal bay. Biol Conserv 21: 231–241.
- Wauters LA, Somers L, Dhondt AA (1997) Settlement behaviour and population dynamics of reintroduced red squirrels Sciurus vulgaris in a park in Antwerp, Belgium. Biol Conserv 82: 101–107.
- Treves A, Karanth KU (2003) Human-carnivore conflict and perspectives on carnivore management woldwide. Conserv Biol 17: 1491–1499.
- Packer C, Ikanda D, Kissui B, Kushnir H (2005) Conservation biology: lion attacks on humans in Tanzania. Nature 436: 927–928.

can obtain information about the normal behaviour of solitary adult bears, how to behave if they encounter them, and what generally to expect when hiking in bear habitat. Such information would be useful both in areas with an established brown bear population, and in areas where the bears are re-establishing.

Our findings document how solitary adult Scandinavian brown bears normally behave towards humans on foot in the forest. The probability that people will encounter a bear in Scandinavia is small, because the bears occur in low densities, the daytime habitat they choose is normally too dense for hiking, and because the bears normally are wary and avoid confrontations with humans if possible. Even though there seems to be great variation in the bears' reactions towards human disturbance at close range, most bears left the area before the observers passed the bear's initial site. Crucially, none of the bears behaved aggressively towards the observers.

Supporting Information

Table S1 List of candidate and selected models (lowest AIC value) for remaining or leaving the initial site, and the flight initiation distance (FID) for brown bears when approached by humans on foot in central Sweden in 2006–2009, respectively. We show AIC values, differences in AIC values between the selected model and each candidate model (Δ AIC), and AIC weights (Wi). (DOCX)

Acknowledgments

We thank Solve Sæbø for help with statistics; Sven Brunberg for valuable training and guidance; and Bjørn Erik Pedersen, Laura Scillitani and Peter M. K. Greve for assistance in the field in 2006 and 2007. This is scientific paper 128 from the Scandinavian Brown Bear Research Project.

Author Contributions

Conceived and designed the experiments: OGS JES. Performed the experiments: GKM OGS VS. Analyzed the data: GKM OGS VS. Wrote the paper: GKM. Edited the manuscript: OGS VS JES.

- Holmern T, Nyahongo J, Røskaft E (2007) Livestock loss caused by predators outside the Serengeti National Park, Tanzania. Biol Conserv 135: 518–526.
- Gurung B, Smith JLD, McDougal C, Karki JB, Barlow A (2008) Factors associated with human-killing tigers in Chitwan National Park, Nepal. Biol Conserv 141: 3069–3078.
- McLellan BN, Shackleton DM (1989) Immediate reactions of grizzly bears to human activities. Wildlife Soc Bull 17: 269–274.
 Olson TL, Gilbert BK, Squibb RC (1997) The effects of increasing human
- Olson TL, Gilbert BK, Squibb RC (1997) The effects of increasing human activity on brown bear use of an Alaskan river. Biol Conserv 82: 95–99.
- Gibcau ML, Clevenger AP, Herrero S, Wierzchowski J (2002) Grizzly bear response to human development and activities in the Bow River Watershed, Alberta, Canada. Biol Conserv 103: 227–236.
- Apps CD, McLellan BN, Woods JG, Proctor MF (2004) Estimating grizzly bear distribution and abundance relative to habitat and human influence. J Wildl Manage 68: 138–152.
- Elgmork K (1978) Human impact on a brown bear population. Biol Conserv 13: 81–103.
- Nellemann C, Støen O-G, Kindberg J, Swenson JE, Vistnes I, et al. (2007) Terrain use by an expanding brown bear population in relation to age, recreational resorts and human settlements. Biol Conserv 138: 157–165.
 Pulliainen E (1972) Distribution and population structure of the bear (Ursus
- Pulliainen E (1972) Distribution and population structure of the bear (Ursus arctos L.) in Finland. Ann Zool Fennici 9: 199–207.
- Lönnberg E (1923) Sveriges jaktbara djur. Stockholm, Sweden: Albert Bonniers Förlag, [In Swedish].
- Myrberget S (1978) Utviklingen i den norske bjørnebestand. Naturen 5: 219–238. [In Norwegian].
- Swenson JE, Wabakken P, Sandegren F, Bjärvall A, Franzén R, et al. (1995) The near extinction and recovery of brown bears in Scandinavia in relation to the bear management policies of Norway and Sweden. Wildl Biol 1: 11–25.
- Kindberg J, Swenson JE, Ericsson G, Bellemain E, Miquel C, et al. (2011) Estimating population size and trends of the Swedish brown bear Ursus arctos population. Widl Biol 17: 114–123.

- Tobiassen C, Brøseth H, Bergsvåg M, Aarnes SG, Bakke BB, Hagen S, Eiken HG (2011) Populasjonsovervåkning av brunbjørn 2009–2012: DNAanalyse av prøver samlet i Norge i 2010. Bioforsk Report 6: 49. 60 p. [In Norwegian].
- De Giorgio F, Rainio J, Pascali VL, Lalu K (2007) Bear attack A unique fatality in Finland. Forensic Sci Int 173: 64–67.
 Sandström C. Ericsson G (2009) Om svenskars inställning til rovdiur- og
- Sandström C, Ericsson G (2009) Om svenskars inställning til rovdjur- og rovdjurspolitik. Rapport 2009:1 Institutionen för vilt, fisk och miljö. Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet. pp 55. [In Swedish].
- Røskaft E, Händel B, Bjerke T, Kaltenborn BP (2007) Human attitudes towards large carnivores in Norway. Wildl Biol 13: 172–185.
- Sweison JE, Sandegren F, Söderberg A, Heim M, Sørensen OJ, et al. (1999) Interaction between brown bears and humans in Scandinavia. Biosphere Conserv 2: 1–9.
- Swenson JE, Sandegren F, Bjärvall A, Wabakken P (1998) Living with success: Research needs for an expanding brown bear population. Ursus 10: 17–24.
- Røskaft E, Bjerke T, Kaltenborn B, Linnell JDC, Andersen R (2003) Patterns of self-reported fear towards large carnivores among the Norwegian public. Evol Hum Behav 24: 184–198.
- Clark JD, Huber D, Servheen C (2002) Bear reintroductions: Lessons and challenges. Ursus 13: 335–345.
- Dahle B, Swenson JE (2003) Home ranges in adult Scandinavian brown bears (Ursus arctos): effect of mass, sex, reproductive category, population density and habitat type. J Zool 260: 329–335.
- Swenson JE, Jansson A, Riig R, Sandegren F (1999) Bears and ants: myrmecophagy by brown bears in central Scandinavia. Can J Zool 77: 551–561.
- Bellemain E, Swenson JE, Tallmon O, Brunberg S, Taberlet P (2005) Estimating population size of clusive animals with DNA from hunter-collected feces: four methods for brown bears. Conserv Biol 19: 150–161.
- Solberg KH, Bellemain E, Drageset O-M, Taberlet P, Swenson JE (2006) An evaluation of field and non-invasive genetic methods to estimate brown bear (Ursus arctos) population size. Biol Conserv 128: 158–168.
- Arnemo JM, Ahlqvist P, Andersen R, Berntsen F, Ericsson G, et al. (2006) Risk of capture-related mortality in large free-ranging mammals: experiences from Scandinavia. Wildl Biol 12: 109–113.
- Dahle B, Støen O-G, Swenson JE (2006) Factors influencing home-range size in subadult brown bears. J Mammal 87: 859–865.
 Zedroszer A. Dable B. Swenson IE (2006) Ponulation density and food anditions
- Zedrosser A, Dahle B, Swenson JE (2006) Population density and food onditions determine adult female body size in brown bears. J Mammal 87: 510–518.
- Matson GM, Van Daele L, Goodwin E, Aumiller Å, Reynolds HV, et al. (1993) A laboratory manual for cementum age determination of Alaskan brown bear first premolar teeth. Matson's Laboratory, Milltown, Montana, USA. 56 p.
- Moe TF, Kindberg J, Jansson I, Swenson JE (2007) Importance of dial behaviour when studying habitat selection: examples from female Scandinavian brown bears (Ursus arctos). Can J Zool 85: 518–525.
- Ordiz A, Stoen O-G, Langebro LG, Brunberg S, Swenson JE (2009) A practical method for measuring horizontal cover. Ursus 20: 109–113.
- Montgomery DC (2005) Introduction to statistical quality control. 5th ed. New York, USA: Wiley. 759 p.
- ESRI Inc (1999–2006) ESRI[®] ArcVIEW 9.2 ed.
- Frid A, Dill L (2002) Human-caused disturbance stimuli as a form of predator risk. Conserv Ecol 6: 11.

- 48. Stankowich T, Coss RG (2006) Effects of predator behavior and proximity on
- risk assessment by Columbian black-tailed deer. Behav Ecol 17: 246–254.
- Karlsson J, Eriksson M, Liberg O (2007) At what distance do wolves move away from an approaching human? Can J Zool 85: 1193–1197.
 Karlsson I, Siöström M (2007) Human attitudes towards wolves, a matter of
- Karisson J, Sjostrom M (2007) Human attitudes towards wolves, a matter of distance. Biol Conserv 13: 610–616.
- Tarlow EM, Blumstein DT (2007) Evaluating methods to quantify anthropogenic stressors on wild animals. App Anim Behav Sci 102: 429–451.
- Stankowich T (2008) Ungulate flight responses to human disturbance: A review and meta-analysis. Biol Conserv 141: 2159–2173.
- Akaike H (1974) A new look at the statistical model identification. IEEE Trans Autom Contr 19: 716–723.
- R Development Core Team (2009) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vieruna, Austria, 55. Wessfen S (1996) På lapplandsfällen bland björnar, Stockholm, Sweden: P.A.
- Wessen O (1990) Fa happandaghach bland ojornal. Sociationi, Sweetch Fifth Norstedt & Söners Förlag. pp 172. [In Swedish].
 Swenson JF (1990) Does hunting affect the behavior of brown beam in Furzeis?
- Swenson JE (1999) Does hunting affect the behavior of brown bears in Eurasia? Ursus 11: 157–162.
- Ordiz A, Støen OG, Delibes M, Swenson JE (2011) Predators or prey? Spatiotemporal discrimination of human-derived risk by brown bears. Oecologia 166: 59–67.
- Beale CM (2007) The behavioral ecology of disturbance responses. Int J Comp Psych 20: 111–120.
- Altmann M (1958) The Flight Distance in Free-Ranging Big Game. J Wildl Manage 22: 207–209.
- Ydenberg RC, Dill LM (1986) The economics of fleeing from predators. Adv Stud Behav 16: 229–249.
- Cooper Jr. WE (2008) Visual monitoring of predators: occurrence, cost and benefit for escape. Anim Behav 76: 1365–1372.
- Sunde P, Overskaug K, Kvam T (1998) Tolerance to humans of resting lynxes Lynx lynx in a hunted population. Wildl Biol 4: 177–183.
- Schleyer BO, Jonkel JJ, Rhoades KG, Dunbar DM (1984) The effects of nonmotorized recreation on grizzly bears behavior and habitat use. Interagency Grizzly Bear Study Team. Montana State University, Boezeman, Montana, USA, 83 p.
- Swenson JE, Gerstl N, Dahle B, Zedrosser A (2000) Action plan for the conservation of the brown bear (Ursus arctos) in Europe Nature and environment. Counsil of Europe Publishing. 69 p.
 Papouchis CM, Singer FJ, Sloan WB (2001) Responses of desert bighorn sheep
- Papouchis CM, Singer FJ, Sloan WB (2001) Responses of desert bighorn sheep to increased human recreation. J Wildlife Manage 65: 573–582.
 Bischör R, Fujita R, Zedrosser A, Söderberg A, Swenson JE (2008) Hunting
- Bischof R, Fujita R, Zedrosser A, Söderberg A, Swenson JE (2008) Hunting patterns, ban on baiting, and harvest demographics of brown bears in Sweden. J Wildl Manage 72: 79–88.
- Gill JA, Norris K, Sutherland WJ (2001) Why behavioural responses may not reflect the population consequences of human disturbance. Biol Conserv 97: 265-268.
- MacArthur RA, Geist V, Johnston RH (1982) Cardiac and behavioral responses of mountain sheep to human disturbance. J Wildlife Manage 46: 351–358.
- Smith TS, Herrero S, DeBruyn TD (2005) Alaskan brown bears, humans and habituation. Ursus 16: 1–10.

Paper II

Behavioral reactions of brown bears to approaching humans in Fennoscandia

Authors and affiliations

Gro Kvelprud Moen^{1,*}, Andrés Ordiz¹, Jonas Kindberg^{2,3}, Jon E. Swenson^{1,3}, Janne Sundell⁴,

Ole-Gunnar Støen^{3,1,*}

¹Faculty of Environmental Sciences and Natural Resource Management, Norwegian

University of Life Sciences, Postbox 5003, NO-1432 Ås, Norway

²Department of Wildlife, Fish, and Environmental Studies, Swedish University of

Agricultural Sciences, SE-901 83 Umeå, Sweden

³Norwegian Institute for Nature Research, NO-7485 Trondheim, Norway

⁴University of Helsinki, Lammi Biological Station, Pääjärventie 320, FI-16900 Lammi,

Finland.

* Corresponding authors. Email address: gro.moen@nmbu.no; Tel number: +4799721009.

Email address: ole.stoen@nina.no; Tel number: +4797119945.

Summary

Human disturbance causes behavioral responses in wildlife, including large carnivores. Previous research in Scandinavia has documented that brown bears (*Ursus arctos*) show a variety of behavioral reactions to different human activities. We investigated how proximity to human settlements and roads, as proxies of human influence, affected brown bears' reactions to encountering humans. We analyzed experimental approaches to GPS collared bears, 18 males and 23 single females, in Sweden (n = 148 approaches) and Finland (n = 33), conducted between 2004 and 2012. The bears in Finland inhabited areas with higher human density compared to Sweden. However, the proportion of bears staying or moving when approached and the flight initiation distances were similar in both countries. In Sweden, the flight responses were not dependent on human densities or roads inside the bears' home ranges or the distances from the bears to roads and settlements. Brown bears in Fennoscandia live in areas with relatively low human population densities, but in many areas with high forestry road densities. Our results show that bears' flight reactions were consistent between areas, which is an important message for management, reinforcing previous studies that have documented human avoidance by bears at very different spatial and temporal scales.

Keywords: experimental human disturbance, Finland, flight initiation distance, flight responses, human density, road density, Sweden

Introduction

Wildlife generally react to and avoid human activities. However, behavioral responses vary in relation to factors such as the individuals' previous experience, physical condition, age, degree of gregariousness, antipredator strategies, type of disturbance, and time of day when it occurs (e.g., Whittaker and Knight 1998, Beale and Monaghan 2004a, Stankowich 2008,

Vincze et al. 2016, Tablado and Jenni 2017). Human disturbance can have short- and longterm effects, such as changes in distribution and activity patterns, and reduced breeding success (Beale and Monaghan 2004b, Stankowich 2008 and references therein).

Moving away from or avoiding areas with human activity is indeed an antipredator response, with disturbance perceived as predation risk by the responding animal (e.g., Gill et al. 1996, Lima 1998, Frid and Dill 2002). Antipredator responses reduce risk and are therefore crucial in modulating animal behavior (e.g., Deecke et al. 2002). Nevertheless, risk avoidance implies costs, which animals try to minimize while maximizing survival (e.g., Gill et al. 1996, Lima 1998).

Mammalian carnivores can be especially vulnerable to human disturbance (e.g., George and Crooks 2006). Large carnivores, such as brown bears (*Ursus arctos*), show spatial and temporal reactions to a variety of human activities across their wide distribution range in North America (e.g., Gibeau et al. 2002, Nielsen et al. 2004, Rode et al. 2006) and Europe (e.g., Naves et al. 2003, Nellemann et al. 2007, Ordiz et al. 2017). In Scandinavia, as elsewhere, most brown bear mortality is caused by humans (Sahlén et al. 2006, Bischof et al. 2009) and mortality risk is higher closer to villages and roads (Steyaert et al. 2016). Not surprisingly, brown bears generally select for rugged areas far from people (Nellemann et al. 2007). Bears' resting sites are concealed by denser vegetation when bears are closer to villages and during daytime compared to nighttime, suggesting that bears perceive and react to proximity to people, especially in summer-autumn, when human activities outdoors are most common (Ordiz et al. 2011). Bears' stress levels are also higher when they are closer to humans (Støen et al. 2015).

Brown bears have been expanding in Scandinavia in the last century following a severe population decline, from approximately 130 bears around 1930 to ~3,000 bears in recent times (Swenson et al. 1995, Swenson et al. 2017), and some people express concern about

human safety in the forest. Similarly, in Finland there were only about 150 bears by the 1960's (Pulliainen 1983), and the population reached 1,150-1,950 bears in 2009 (Wikman 2010, Kopatz et al. 2014). Therefore, to better understand bear behavior and to inform management agencies and the public about the reactions of bears to casual encounters with outdoor users (hikers, berry or mushroom pickers, hunters, etc.), we have conducted several studies in Sweden that included experimental approaches to radio-collared bears. Most bears react by moving away, which holds for both single bears (Moen et al. 2012) and females with cubs (Sahlén et al. 2015). After the encounters, bears become more nocturnal (Ordiz et al. 2013), as they do when bear hunting seasons start (Ordiz et al. 2012), and when they live in areas with higher road densities (Ordiz et al. 2014). That is, the behavioral reaction of the bears goes beyond their initial flight after encountering a person, which can change bears' daily activity patterns for several days (Ordiz et al. 2013).

Whereas the research summarized above shows a solid pattern of bears' avoidance of people, it was conducted in areas with low human densities. There is a need for research on bear reactions to humans also in areas with higher human densities, because the range of brown bears has been expanding in Fennoscandia, with bears moving into more human-dominated landscapes (Swenson et al. 1998, Kojola and Heikkinen 2006). It is possible that bears relax their behavioral responses if they encounter humans more often and eventually habituate to their proximity. This could in turn make encounters with bears more dangerous, if they do not move away as consistently as we have documented so far (Moen et al. 2012, Sahlén et al. 2015).

In this study, we have conducted experimental approaches of radio-collared bears in Sweden and Finland to assess whether bears' behavioral responses, i.e., flight reactions, change in relation to the level of human activity. We used distance to roads and human settlements from the bears' initial sites and the densities of human population and roads in

bears' home ranges as proxies for human activity. We also controlled for variables that influence the bears' flight reactions, i.e., bear behavior (if it was active or passive when approached), vegetation concealment, season of the year, and individual characteristics of the bears (Moen et al. 2012, Ordiz et al. 2013, Sahlén et al. 2015). As previous studies show that brown bears in Scandinavia avoid humans on different scales, we did not expect to see a reduced behavioral response of bears encountered by people due to living in areas with higher human or road densities, but a consistent pattern of human avoidance by the bears.

Methods

Study areas

The experimental approaches were conducted in Sweden and Finland. The study area in southcentral Sweden ($61.5^{\circ}N \ 15^{\circ} E$, Gävleborg and Dalarna counties) consists of bogs and heavily managed coniferous forest of mainly Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) and Norway spruce (*Picea abies*). There are few main roads in the area, but a dense network of gravel roads ($1.0 \pm 0.8 \ \text{km/km}^2$, mean \pm SD) (Road map: Swedish National Land Survey). The human population in the area is low, 3.6 - 6.2 inhabitants/km² in the four municipalities where the study was conducted (Statistics Sweden). The whole study area is located below the timberline, which is at approximately 750 m a.s.l. (Dahle and Swenson 2003). Temperatures in the study area average -7° C in January and 15° C in July (Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute 2017a, b). The density of bears in the study area was estimated to ~30 bears/1000 km² (Solberg et al. 2006).

The study area in central and southeastern Finland (62.5°N 27°E) also consists of bogs and managed coniferous forest of Scots pine and Norway spruce. Altitudes range from 75 to 200 m a.s.l, all below the timberline. Temperatures average -8° C in January and 17° C in July (Finnish Meteorological Institute). There is a dense network of roads in the area

 $(1.5 \pm 1.1 \text{ km/km}^2)$ (National Land Survey of Finland), and the average human population is higher than in the Swedish study area (11.3 - 16.2 inhabitants/km²) (Statistics Finland 2008). An estimate of the bear density in the study area is ≥ 6 bears/1000 km² (Wikman 2010). The bears are hunted in the fall in both areas, with hunting quotas averaging about 10% of the estimated populations in recent years, i.e., ~300 bears are annually harvested in Sweden (National Veterinary Institute 2017) and ~100 in Finland (The Finnish Wildlife Agency 2017).

Bears and the experimental approaches

We analyzed 148 experimental approaches between humans and adult solitary brown bears (9 males and 21 females) conducted in Sweden from 2006 to 2009, and 33 approaches on solitary bears (9 males and 2 females) carried out in the Finnish study area from 2004 to 2012. The bears were either followed from birth, being captured with previously known mothers, or their age was determined through cross-section of the premolar roots (Matson et al. 1993). Bears were from four to twenty years old in Sweden, and three to eleven years old in Finland. In Sweden, we approached the bears between one and six times per season, with a minimum of 13 days and maximum of 92 days between each approach. Most of the bears in Sweden were approached during one season (n = 18), although some were approached during two (n = 10) or three seasons (n = 2). We approached the bears in Finland with a minimum of seven days and maximum of 50 days between the approaches. The bears in Finland were approached between one and six times per season, during one (n = 9) or three (n = 2) seasons.

The bears were captured and equipped with GPS Plus-3 or GPS Pro-4 neck collars (VECTRONIC Aerospace GmbH, Berlin, Germany) and a VHF transmitter implant (IMP 400L) (Telonics, USA) in Sweden, and Tracker GSM/GPS without VHF (Tracker Inc., Oulunsalo, Finland) in Finland (see Sundell et al. (2006) and Arnemo et al. (2007) for details). The females in Finland were equipped with the same collar as the Swedish bears. Handling was approved by the Swedish Ethical Committee on Animal Research and the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency in Sweden, and the National Animal Experiment Board and the Finnish Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry in Finland.

On the day of the approach in Sweden, the bears' GPS collars were scheduled to send positions every minute for three hours; one hour before the approach started and two hours after. The position data in Sweden was collected into the Wireless Remote Animal Monitoring (Dettki et al. 2013) database system for data validation and management. In Finland, the collars were scheduled to send positions every 25 seconds at the start of the approach, resulting in a poorer determination of pre-encounter behavior than in Sweden, and the interval of positions was gradually increased to 24 hours after the bear was passed by the observers. The females' collars were scheduled to send positions every minute. The approaches in Sweden were conducted between 10:00 and 16:00 local time, when most bears usually rest (Moe et al. 2007). The approaches in Finland were conducted between 08:00 and 19:00 local time. Prior to the approaches, the bears in Sweden were located based on triangulation of the VHF-signals from the neck collars and the implant. In Finland, bears' locations before the approach were obtained from GPS positions in real time. The approaches were conducted by one to six people $(1.9 \pm 0.7 \text{ observers})$, hereafter referred to as the observers, who mimicked hikers and talked to each other during the encounters. If only one observer conducted the approach, this person talked to him- or herself during the approach. The observers started the approaches 841 ± 336 m from the bear in Sweden and 952 ± 455 m in Finland, walked towards it, passing the initial sites at 57 ± 67 m in Sweden and 52 ± 21 m in Finland (the goal was passing the bears at approximately 50 m). During the approaches, the bear's location and movement were monitored using VHF-tracking equipment in Sweden and by observing the GPS positions on a computer by another observer who was in telephone contact with the observers in the field in Finland. After passing the bear, the observers

continued walking away (approximately 500 m), keeping a distance to the bear to avoid disturbing it a second time. The track of the observers in Sweden was registered with positions every 10 m using a hand-held GPS receiver and the observers' track in Finland was recorded with a GPS GSM device, similar to the bear collar (Benefon ESC!, Benefon Oyj, Salo, Finland), set for sending positions every 20 seconds.

Based on the GPS positions, bears were categorized as either 'passive', most typically resting in a daybed, or 'active', e.g., foraging or moving around. If the diameter of the positions in the control period, from start of minute positioning to the start of the approach, did not exceed 70 m (min: 6 m, max: 68 m), the bears were judged as 'passive' (Moen et al. 2012, Sahlén et al. 2015). Bears were considered 'active' if the diameter exceeded 70 m (min; 80 m, max; 1728 m), and the positions indicated movement in the time before approach (Moen et al. 2012, Sahlén et al. 2015). This was visually checked in ArcGIS 10.1 (ESRI 2012). Some bears changed their activity during the control period, and the new activity level was the basis for the analysis.

Site visits after encounters

In Sweden, field personnel visited both the initial site (IS), where the bear stayed prior to the encounter, and the second site (SS), where the bear settled down after being disturbed, a few days after the approaches were conducted. We located daybeds, verified by presence of bear hair, and used this as the center of the IS of the passive bears and SS. For passive bears without confirmed daybeds, the center of the cluster of GPS positions was defined as the IS, and the last position before the approach started was defined as the IS for active bears. As a proxy for concealment, the horizontal vegetation cover was measured as sighting distance (Ordiz et al. 2009) in both IS and SS. The average sighting distance of the four cardinal directions gave a sighting distance for each of the sites (see Ordiz et al. (2009) and Moen et al. (2012) for more details).

Data management and analysis

We calculated the speed between the bears' successive GPS positions and identified the reactions to the encounters using statistical quality control (Montgomery 2005) and an estimated upper control limit (UCL) for the control period, as described in Moen et al. (2012); flight reaction identified for passive bears when movement was > 33.5 m/min (> 2.01 km/h), and for active bears with movement > 101.3 m/min (> 6.08 km/h). The flight initiation distance (FID) was defined as the distance from the observer to the bears' last position prior to an increased movement, i.e., where the speed between the bear's two successive GPS positions exceeded the activity-specific UCL and the bear left the initial site. This was also checked visually in ArcGIS 10.1 (ESRI 2012). We did not include approaches where the positions were missing for more than two minutes around the disturbance event; therefore, 19 approaches were excluded from the analysis of FID. Three bears left their IS without exceeding the activity-specific UCL, hence no FID was registered.

Passing distance was calculated as the shortest distance between the IS and the observer, regardless of whether the bear was still in the IS when it was passed by the observer. The minimum distance from the observer to the bear (distance to observer) was calculated as the shortest distance from the observer to the bear during the encounter. If the bear was at the IS, distance to observer was calculated as distance from observer to IS. When a FID was recorded and the bear settled down in a SS before the end of the scheduled minute positioning, the distance between the position of FID and SS was defined as distance moved (DM). The difference between time of FID and the first position in SS was defined as the time the bears spent moving after disturbance (TSM). The method of data collection was different in Finland, which resulted in fewer GPS positions after the observer passed the bears' initial

sites. DM and TSM were therefore only calculated for the bears in the Swedish study area. In Sweden, two bears were encountered twice during one experiment, and DM and TSM were not included in the analysis. One bear left after the end of the encounter, and this was not included in the analysis of FID, DM, or TSM. In cases where the positioning prior to the approaches was insufficient, we could not decide on the activity level of the bear, and the encounters were not included in the analysis of FID, DM or TSM.

We used linear regression to analyze which variables affected whether bears stayed or moved when encountered, and their FID, DM, and TSM in Sweden. We included horizontal vegetation cover (sighting distance) at IS, the bears' age and sex, activity pattern prior to the encounter, season, number of observers, and passing distance or distance to observer as potential explanatory variables (Table 1), following previous studies (Moen et al. 2012, Ordiz et al. 2013, Sahlén et al. 2015). Horizontal vegetation cover (sighting distance) at SS was also included in the analysis of DM and TSM. The annual study periods were divided into preberry season (< 15 July) and berry season (\geq 15 July), which accounts for seasonality in bear phenology and intensity of outdoor human activities (Ordiz et al. 2013).

In addition, variables that could describe how bears perceive human disturbance in the area around the IS and in their home ranges were included (Table 1). Based on maps from Statistics Sweden and Swedish National Land Survey in Sweden, and National Land Survey of Finland in Finland, we calculated the distances from the bears' IS and SS to the closest road and the closest settlement using ArcGis 10.1 (ESRI 2012). Distance from IS and SS to the closest settlement was highly correlated (r > 0.90), hence we only used distance from IS to settlements in the regression models for DM and TSM.

The R package 'adehabitatHR' (Calenge 2006) was used to calculate the home range kernels for each bear and year, based on half-hour GPS positions from the bears, using "href" as the smoothing parameter (Calenge 2015). We calculated the home range kernels with

percentage levels of 50, 60, 70, 80, 90, and 95%. Densities of roads (km road/km²) and human population (inhabitants/km²) were identified within each home range level using PostGIS 2.2.2 (http://postgis.net/) and GEOSTAT 1 km² population grid for 2006 (Eurostat) for density of inhabitants and property map from 2016 (Swedish National Land Survey) for road density. We could not identify a significant difference in the variation of road density between the different levels of home range kernels (Levene's test: p = 0.63) (R package 'car': Fox and Weisberg 2011) (50% level: 1.06 ± 0.03 km road/km² (mean ± SE), 60% level: $1.09 \pm$ 0.03 km road/km², 70% level: 1.12 ± 0.03 km road/km², 80% level: 1.12 ± 0.03 km road/km², 90% level: 1.14 ± 0.02 km road/km², 95% level: 1.14 ± 0.02 km road/km²), so we used the 95% home range kernels in the analysis. Similarly, we could not identify a significant difference in the variation of human population density between the different levels of home range kernels (Levene's test: p = 0.96) (50% level: 0.14 ± 0.03 inhabitants/km², 80% level: 0.19 ± 0.04 inhabitants/km², 90% level: 0.2 ± 0.04 inhabitants/km², 95% level: $0.22 \pm$ 0.06 inhabitants/km²), and we also used the 95% home range kernel here.

We compared how close the bears' ISs were to settlements and roads in Sweden and Finland. We also tested if bears' FIDs where similar or not, and if approached bears stayed or moved away similarly in both countries. However, the method of data collection in Finland was different, which did not allow us to identify the bears' home ranges, hence we did not calculate the densities of roads or human population within the home ranges, and we did not include the data from Finland in the regression models to explore which variables affected the flight reactions of bears. Table 1. Overview of the potential explanatory variables included in the regression models to analyze flight reactions of brown bears in Sweden. The response variables were stayed or moved, flight initiation distance (FID), distance moved after being disturbed (DM), and time spent moving after being disturbed (TSM). Activity = activity of the bear prior to the encounter; passive (0) or active (1), Age = age of bear in years, Sex = sex of the bear; male (0) or female (1), Sighting distance in IS or SS = Sighting distance at initial site (IS) or second site (SS) in m, i.e., horizontal vegetation cover at the site, Season = pre-berry season (0) or berry season (1), Passing distance = closest distance from observer to initial site in m, Distance to observer = minimum distance between observer and bear during the encounter in m, Number of observers = number of observers conducting the encounter, Distance to settlements from IS = distance from initial site (IS) or second site (SS) to the closest road in m, Road HR = km road/km² within the bear's 95% home range kernel, Human HR = density of human population as inhabitants/km² within the bear's 95% home range kernel.

Response variable	Exploratory variables
Stayed or moved	Activity + Age + Sex + Sighting distance in IS + Season + Number of
	observers + Distance to observer + Distance to settlements from IS +
	Distance to road from IS + Road HR + Human HR
FID	Activity + Age + Sex + Sighting distance in IS + Season + Number of
	observers + Passing distance + Distance to settlements from IS + Distance to
	road from IS + Road HR + Human HR
DM and TSM	Activity + Age + Sex + Sighting distance in IS + Sighting distance in SS +
	Season + Number of observers + Distance to observer + Distance to
	settlements from IS + Distance to road from IS + Distance to road from SS +
	Road HR + Human HR

We used generalized linear mixed models with a binomial link function in 'glmer' in R package 'lme4' (Bates et al. 2015) to analyze which factors explained that bears stayed or moved when encountered. We used linear mixed models with function 'lmer' in R package 'lme4' (Bates et al. 2015) to analyze FID, DM, and TSM, which were all log transformed to account for left-skewed distributions. Using the function 'dredge' in R package 'MuMIn' (Barton 2017), possible candidate models for each of the flight responses were identified after standardizing the continuous variables to a mean of 0 and SD of 1 (Grueber et al. 2011) using package 'standardize' (Eager 2017). The random factor bear ID was used for all of the response variables. We calculated variance inflation factors (VIF) for the regression models for the different response variables, and they did not show sign of multicollinearity among variables. We did not identify any correlation between the covariates at r > 0.6.

Because there were several candidate models with $\Delta AICc < 2$ for the models with the response variables stayed or moved, DM and TSM, we averaged each set of models with the

function 'model.avg' in package 'MuMIn' (Barton 2017), and we report the outcome of the full average models (Burnham and Anderson 2002, Grueber et al. 2011). We interpreted the direction of the effects of the parameters included in the models with the 95% confidence intervals (CI) of the effect sizes (β). When the 95% CI did not include zero, the effect had a positive or negative effect on the response variable (Arnold 2010). We used R software (R Core Team 2018) for all statistical analysis.

Results

In Sweden, the bears' ISs were 20.0 ± 8.6 km (mean \pm SD) (n = 147) from the closest settlement, and 0.35 ± 0.21 km from the closest road. In Finland, the bears' ISs were 11.8 ± 6.2 km (n = 20) from the closest settlement, and 0.25 ± 0.13 km from the closest road, i.e., distances from IS to settlements (Wilcoxon rank-sum test: W = 2256, p-value = 0.0001) and distances from IS to roads (Wilcoxon rank-sum test: W = 1876, p-value = 0.046) were shorter in Finland than in Sweden. On average, the home range kernels (95%) of the bears approached in Sweden had a density of 1.1 ± 0.1 km road/km² and a human population density of 0.2 ± 0.4 inhabitants/km².

In Sweden, bears stayed in their IS in 40 encounters and moved away in 107, and they stayed in seven cases and moved away in 16 in Finland. The proportion of bears that stayed and moved was not significantly different in Sweden and Finland (Fisher's Exact test for count data: p-value = 0.803, n = 170). In Sweden, bears moved away more often during the berry season than before, and with a higher number of approaching observers. The 95% CI of the effect estimates of other variables included the zero value, and therefore the direction of the effect on the response was unclear (Tables 2 and 1A). Here we provide the results of the model averaging for each response variable. The sets of top candidate models ($\Delta AICc < 2$ compared to the model with the lowest AICc for each response variable) are in Appendix 1.

Average FID for bears that left before the observer passed the bear was 87 m \pm 72 m (median = 63 m, n = 78) in Sweden and 120 m \pm 129 m (median = 69 m, n = 11) in Finland. FID was not significantly different in the two countries (Wilcoxon rank-sum test: W = 393, p-value = 0.658) (Fig. 1). FID for bears in Sweden increased with longer sighting distance, i.e., less concealment at initial sites and longer passing distance (Table 3).

Table 2. Results from the generalized linear mixed regression (binomial link function) explaining the factors that influenced whether bears stayed (0) or moved (1), with test statistics (full average) for the averaged models with $\Delta AICc < 2$. The bears were experimentally approached in southcentral Sweden in 2006-2009 (n = 118). The continuous variables are scaled to 1 SD. See Table 1 for explanation of the variables. β is the effect size and SE the standard error.

Parameter	β	SE	95% CI
Intercept	-1.631	0.864	(-3.342, 0.080)
Season (pre-berry season = 0 , berry season = 1)	1.659	0.502	(0.664, 2.654)
Number of observers	0.762	0.382	(0.006, 1.519)
Distance to observer	-0.093	0.186	(-0.459, 0.274)
Human HR	0.068	0.180	(-0.286, 0.422)
Road HR	0.050	0.144	(-0.234, 0.334)
Distance to road from IS	0.014	0.082	(-0.148, 0.176)
Activity (passive = 0 , active = 1)	-0.037	0.232	(-0.494, 0.421)



Figure 1: Distribution of flight initiation distances (in meters) in Finland (n = 11) and Sweden (n = 78) following experimental approaches conducted from 2004 to 2012 on radio-collared brown bears, when the bears left their initial sites before the observers passed them.

Table 3. Results from the linear mixed regression of flight initiation distance (FID), with test statistics for the model with $\Delta AICc < 2$. The bears were experimentally approached in southcentral Sweden in 2006-2009 (n = 72). FID was log transformed. The continuous variables were scaled to 1 SD. See Table 1 for explanation of the variables. β is the effect size and SE the standard error.

	AICc	ΔAICc	Model weight	β	SE	95% CI
Model: FID ~ Sighting distance in	190.2	0.00	1			
IS + Passing distance						
Intercept				-0.001	0.106	(-0.211, 0.207)
Sighting distance in IS				0.342	0.097	(0.152, 0.534)
Passing distance				0.453	0.094	(0.269, 0.642)

Bears in Sweden that moved away from the initial site when encountered, moved on average $1,002 \pm 809$ m (n = 87) in 22 ± 21 min (n = 69). DM was longer for active than for passive bears, with more concealment in IS, and with more observers (Tables 4 and 2A). For TSM, the CI of the variables included in the model included zero, i.e., none of the variables had a clearly negative or positive effect on the response (Tables 5 and 3A).

Table 4. Results from the linear mixed regression of distance moved (DM), with test statistics (full average) for the averaged models with $\Delta AICc < 2$. The bears were experimentally approached in southcentral Sweden in 2006-2009 (n = 71). DM is log transformed. The continuous variables are scaled to 1 SD. See Table 1 for explanation of the variables. β is the effect size and SE the standard error.

Parameter	β	SE	95% CI
Intercept	-1.186	0.419	(-2.018, -0.354)
Activity (passive = 0 , active = 1)	0.918	0.324	(0.270, 1.566)
Sex (male = 0, female = 1)	0.410	0.315	(-0.213, 1.032)
Sighting distance in IS	-0.326	0.112	(-0.550, -0.102)
Number of observers	0.378	0.130	(0.118, 0.639)
Season (pre-berry season = 0 , berry season = 1)	0.066	0.179	(-0.288, 0.421)

Table 5. Results from the linear mixed regression of time spent moving after disturbance (TSM), with test statistics (full average) for the averaged models with $\Delta AICc < 2$. The bears were experimentally approached in southcentral Sweden in 2006-2009 (n = 63). TSM is log transformed. The continuous variables are scaled to 1 SD. See Table 1 for explanation of the variables. β is the effect size and SE the standard error.

Parameter	β	SE	95% CI
Intercept	2.217	0.405	(1.415, 3.019)
Number of observers	0.246	0.168	(-0.086, 0.579)
Sighting distance in IS	-0.062	0.117	(-0.293, 0.169)
Sex (male = 0, female = 1)	0.055	0.172	(-0.285, 0.396)

Discussion

Our experimental approaches of brown bears in Sweden and Finland showed similar flight reactions by the bears in both countries. The distance from bears' initial sites to settlements and roads were shorter in Finland than in Sweden, reflecting the higher densities of human population and roads in the study area in Finland. Nevertheless, the bears' responses showed a consistent pattern of human avoidance. The proportion of bears that stayed at their initial sites and the FID of the bears that moved were not different in Sweden and Finland. This consistency in bear behavior can be explained by several reasons. First, the bear populations in Sweden and Finland show similar historical trends, with recent population recovery after centuries of intense persecution (Pulliainen 1983, Swenson et al. 1995, Wikman 2010, Kopatz et al. 2014, Swenson et al. 2017). Second, bears are managed as game species in both countries, with similar annual levels of legal hunting (National Veterinary Institute 2017, The Finnish Wildlife Agency 2017), as explained in Methods. Third, it has also been suggested that some flight responses to disturbance, e.g., FID, are species-specific and therefore responses may be predictable and repeatable at different sites (Blumstein et al. 2003). In addition, large carnivores living in human-dominated landscapes are generally elusive, likely as a response to long-term human persecution, and European bears are no exception (Ordiz et al. 2011, Zedrosser et al. 2011).

We were able to analyze, at a finer scale, if human-related variables influenced the bears'
behavioral responses when they were approached in Sweden. The human-related variables road density and human population density inside home ranges of the approached bears, and distances to roads from the bears' initial sites when they were approached, were retained in the final, averaged model for the flight response variable stayed/moved (Table 2). However, the 95% CI of the effect estimates of those variables included zero, i.e., they explained some variation in the bears' flight response, but the direction of their effects was not clear. The human population density inside the home ranges of the approached bears in Sweden (0.2 \pm 0.4 inhabitants/km²) was lower than the average human population density in the study area generally (3.6 - 6.2 inhabitants/km²). However, the road density inside the home ranges (1.1 \pm 0.1 km road/km²) was virtually identical to the average values in the study area $(1.0 \pm 0.8 \text{ km})$ road/ km²). The low human densities and the lack of variation in road density may help explain the low effect of the human-related variables in these analyses. Regarding human density, bears avoid humans on the landscape scale, residing far from people (Nellemann et al. 2007), even if human density is generally low in our study area. Regarding road density, it reflects the dense network of forest roads built over the years to harvest the coniferous forest, and these roads are virtually impossible for bears to avoid, given their large home ranges. Previous research helps interpret these results as well. Whereas proximity to settlements did not influence how diurnal or nocturnal daily bear movements were, bears moved primarily in the nocturnal and twilight hours and less during daytime in areas with higher road density, compared to areas with no roads (Ordiz et al. 2014). In fact, roads have many negative effects on wildlife, e.g., causing direct mortality and favoring human activity (e.g., Trombulak and Frissell 2000), and the road network is indeed an impediment for Scandinavian bear movements (Bischof et al. 2017). Nevertheless, in the present study, we worked in an area with high and very constant gravel road density, and this lack of variation likely explains the relatively low magnitude of the road effect on the bears' flight responses.

Bears moved more often from their initial sites when approached in the berry season $(\geq 15 \text{ July})$, a period when bears spend most time foraging ("hyperphagia") and human activity levels are generally higher, than in the pre-berry season (Table 2), when the bear mating season occurs and there are fewer human activities outdoors (Ordiz et al. 2011). Previous research in Sweden has also shown that the bears' behavioral reactions are accentuated in summer, compared to spring. For instance, bears seek denser vegetation cover in summer to avoid human activities, including hunting (Ordiz et al. 2011, Ordiz et al. 2012). Number of observers was important for whether the bears stayed or moved away and for DM. The effects of human disturbance on wildlife reflect perceived predation risk, which has often been shown to vary, as in our case, with factors such as the distance between humans and animals and with the number of humans causing disturbance (Beale and Monaghan 2004b).

We do not claim that the observed flight responses by the bears in Fennoscandia provide a full picture of their perceived predation risk. For instance, in the absence of visible behavioral responses, physiological responses have been documented for several species (e.g., Fowler 1999). Stress can cause a reduction in fitness, which can be due to higher metabolic needs in response to increased heart rate after disturbance (e.g., Beale and Monaghan 2004b). In Sweden, previous research has shown that bears have higher stress levels, measured in terms of heart rate variability, when they are closer to people than when they are farther away (Støen et al. 2015). Bears also change daily movement patterns for several days after disturbance, therefore altering optimal foraging and resting times (Ordiz et al. 2013).

As in previous studies (Moen et al. 2012, Ordiz et al. 2013, Sahlén et al. 2015), we experienced no aggressive reactions by bears towards the observers, neither in Sweden nor in Finland, reinforcing the pattern of human avoidance by European brown bears. At the fine scale, bears rely on vegetation concealment or flee (Moen et al. 2012, Sahlén et al. 2015, this study) and at the landscape scale, bears spend most of the time far from human settlements

(Nellemann et al. 2007).

Our study in Fennoscandia includes the lowest human densities across the distribution range of brown bears in Europe, but bear populations also thrive in eastern and southern Europe with much higher human densities (Swenson et al. 2000). Although bears and other large carnivores are generally elusive, as described above, behavioral reactions to approaching humans might differ if encounters occur more often, as they may do in areas with a higher human population and outdoor activity elsewhere than in Fennoscandia. Our results provide important knowledge about bear reactions encountering people in the forest, but similar studies might be needed in other areas to reveal potential differences and similarities in large carnivore behavior when facing different human densities, activities and alternative management scenarios; e.g., bears are hunted in several European countries, but they are protected in southern Europe (Swenson et al. 2000).

Management implications

With expanding bear populations, bears are expected to settle closer to humans, and an important message to managers is that the bears' behavior to approaching humans does not seem to change solely based on the density of humans or roads in the bears' home ranges. Also, the lack of aggressive reactions by bears to observers on one hand, and the effects of human disturbance on bear behavior, which may cause fitness reduction as the ultimate cost of disturbance (Gill et al. 2001), on the other hand, are important messages for managers. In human-dominated landscapes, conservation-oriented management of large carnivores under hunting regimes, such as bears in Sweden and Finland, should aim to quantify and eventually account for the subtle, indirect effects of hunting and other human activities that cause disturbance, in addition to pay attention to more intuitive, lethal demographic effects (Frank et al. 2017, Bischof et al. 2018).

Acknowledgements

The study was conducted within the Scandinavian Brown Bear Research Project (SBBRP), which has primarily been funded by the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, the Norwegian Environment Agency, the Austrian Science Fund, and the Swedish Association for Hunting and Wildlife Management. The study in Finland was funded by Jenny and Antti Wihuri, Ella and Georg Ehrnrooth, Kone and Oskar Öflund foundations, and grants to Janne Sundell. We thank the field personnel in SBBRP and at Finnish Game and Fisheries Research Institute (currently Natural Resources Institute Finland) for assistance in field, Stefan Blumentrath for assistance with spatial analysis and John Stuiver for advice on spatial data handling. The reviews provided by Joacim Näslund and Ladislav Paule improved our original manuscript, which was reviewed in the frame of Peerage of Science. This is publication number 256 from the SBBRP.

References

- Arnemo, J. M., Å. Fahlman, P. Ahlqvist, R. Andersen, H. Andrén, S. Brunberg, A. Landa, O. Liberg, J. Odden, J. Persson, P. Segerström, and J. E. Swenson. 2007. Biomedical protocols for freeranging brown bears, gray wolves, wolverines and lynx. Norwegian School of Veterinary Science, Tromsø, Norway.
- Arnold, T. W. 2010. Uninformative parameters and model selection using Akaike's Information Criterion. The Journal of Wildlife Management 74:1175-1178.
- Barton, K. 2017. MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference. R package version 1.40.0.
- Bates, D., M. Mächler, B. Bolker, and S. Walker. 2015. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. Journal of Statistical Software **67**:1-48.
- Beale, C. M., and P. Monaghan. 2004a. Behavioural responses to human disturbance: a matter of choice? Animal Behaviour 68:1065-1069.
- Beale, C. M., and P. Monaghan. 2004b. Human disturbance: people as predation-free predators? Journal of Applied Ecology 41:335-343.
- Bischof, R., C. Bonenfant, I. M. Rivrud, A. Zedrosser, A. Friebe, T. Coulson, A. Mysterud, and J. E. Swenson. 2018. Regulated hunting re-shapes the life history of brown bears. Nature Ecology and Evolution 2:116-123.
- Bischof, R., S. M. J. G. Steyaert, and J. Kindberg. 2017. Caught in the mesh: roads and their networkscale impediment to animal movement. Ecography **40**:1369-1380.
- Bischof, R., J. E. Swenson, N. G. Yoccoz, A. Mysterud, and O. Gimenez. 2009. The magnitude and selectivity of natural and multiple anthropogenic mortality causes in hunted brown bears. Journal of Animal Ecology 78:656-665.

- Blumstein, D. T., L. L. Anthony, R. Harcourt, and G. Ross. 2003. Testing a key assumption of wildlife buffer zones: is flight initiation distance a species-specific trait? Biological Conservation 110:97-100.
- Burnham, K. P., and D. R. Anderson. 2002. Model selection and multimodel inference. A practical information-theoretic approach. 2nd edition. Springer, New York, USA.
- Calenge, C. 2006. The package "adehabitat" for the R software: a tool for the analysis of space and habitat use by animals. Ecological Modelling **197**:516-519.
- Calenge, C. 2015. Home range estimation in R: the adehabitatHR package. https://cran.rproject.org/web/packages/adehabitatHR/vignettes/adehabitatHR.pdf
- Dahle, B., and J. E. Swenson. 2003. Home ranges in adult Scadinavian brown bears (Ursus arctos): effect of mass, sex, reproductive category, population density and habitat type. Journal of Zoology 260:329-335.
- Deecke, V. B., P. J. B. Slater, and J. K. B. Ford. 2002. Selective habituation shapes acoustic predator recognition in harbour seals. Nature **420**:171-173.
- Dettki, H., G. Ericsson, T. Giles, and M. Norrsken-Ericsson. 2013. Wireless Remote Animal Monitoring (WRAM) - A new international database e-infrastructure for telemetry sensor data from fish and wildlife. p. 247-256. In: Proceedings Etc 2012: Convention for Telemetry, Test Instrumentation and Telecontrol (Eds. The European Society of Telemetry). Books on Demand, pp. 292, ISBN: 978-3-7322-5646-4.
- Eager, C. D. 2017. standardize: Tools for standardizing variables for regression in R. R package version 0.2.1.
- ESRI. 2012. ArcGIS Desktop: Release 10.1. Environmental Systems Research Institute, Redlands, CA.

Eurostat. GEOSTAT 1km² population grid for 2006.

http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/gisco/geodata/reference-data/population-distribution-demography/.

- Finnish Meteorological Institute. Temperature and precipitation statistics from 1961 onwards. http://en.ilmatieteenlaitos.fi/statistics-from-1961-onwards.
- Fowler, G. S. 1999. Behavioral and hormonal responses of Magellanic penguins (*Spheniscus magellanicus*) to tourism and nest site visitation. Biological Conservation **90**:143-149.
- Fox, J., and S. Weisberg. 2011. An {R} Companion to Applied Regression. 2nd edition. Sage, Thousand Oaks, CA.
- Frank, S. C., A. Ordiz, J. Gosselin, A. Hertel, J. Kindberg, M. Leclerc, F. Pelletier, S. M. J. G. Steyaert, O.-G. Støen, J. Van de Walle, A. Zedrosser, and J. E. Swenson. 2017. Indirect effects of bear hunting: a review from Scandinavia. Ursus 28:150-164.
- Frid, A., and L. M. Dill. 2002. Human-caused disturbance stimuli as a form of predation risk. Conservation Ecology **6**:11.
- George, S. L., and K. R. Crooks. 2006. Recreation and large mammal activity in an urban nature reserve. Biological Conservation **133**:107-117.
- Gibeau, M. L., A. P. Clevenger, S. Herrero, and J. Wierzchowski. 2002. Grizzly bear response to human development and activities in the Bow River Watershed, Alberta, Canada. Biological Conservation **103**:227-236.
- Gill, J. A., K. Norris, and W. J. Sutherland. 2001. Why behavioural responses may not reflect the population consequences of human disturbance. Biological Conservation **97**:265-268.
- Gill, J. A., W. J. Sutherland, and A. R. Watkinson. 1996. A method to quantify the effects of human disturbance on animal populations. Journal of Applied Ecology **33**:786-792.
- Grueber, C. E., S. Nakagawa, R. J. Laws, and I. G. Jamieson. 2011. Multimodel inference in ecology and evolution: challanges and solutions. Journal of Evolutionary Biology **24**:699-711.
- Kojola, I., and S. Heikkinen. 2006. The structure of the expanded brown bear population at the edge of the Finnish range. Annales Zoologici Fennici **43**:258-262.
- Kopatz, A., H. G. Eiken, J. Aspi, I. Kojola, C. Tobiassen, K. F. Tirronen, P. I. Danilov, and S. B. Hagen. 2014. Admixture and gene flow from Russia in the recovering northern European brown bear (Ursus arctos). Plos One **9**:e97558.

Lima, S. L. 1998. Nonlethal effects in the ecology of predator-prey interactions. BioScience 48:25-34.

- Matson, G., L. Van Daele, E. Goodwin, L. Aumiller, H. Reynolds, and H. Hristienko. 1993. A laboratory manual for cementum age determination of Alaska brown bear first premolar teeth. Matson's Laboratory, Milltown, Montana, USA.
- Moe, T. F., J. Kindberg, I. Jansson, and J. E. Swenson. 2007. Importance of diel behaviour when studying habitat selection: examples from female Scandinavian brown bears (*Ursus arctos*). Canadian Journal of Zoology 85:518-525.
- Moen, G. K., O.-G. Støen, V. Sahlén, and J. E. Swenson. 2012. Behaviour of solitary adult Scandinavian brown bears (*Ursus arctos*) when approached by humans on foot. Plos One **7**:e31699.
- Montgomery, D. C. 2005. Introduction to statistical quality control. 5th edition. Wiley, New York, USA.
- National Land Survey of Finland. Terrängkarta 1:100,000. https://tiedostopalvelu.maanmittauslaitos.fi/tp/kartta?lang=sv.
- National Veterinary Institute. 2017. Licensjakt på björn. http://sva.se/djurhalsa/vilda-djur/storarovdjur/licensjakt_pa_bjorn.
- Naves, J., T. Wiegand, E. Revilla, and M. Delibes. 2003. Endangered species constrained by natural and human factors: the case of brown bears in northern Spain. Conservation Biology 17:1276-1289.
- Nellemann, C., O.-G. Støen, J. Kindberg, J. E. Swenson, I. Vistnes, G. Ericsson, J. Katajisto, B. P. Kaltenborn, J. Martin, and A. Ordiz. 2007. Terrain use by an expanding brown bear population in relation to age, recreational resorts and human settlements. Biological Conservation 138:157-165.
- Nielsen, S. E., M. S. Boyce, and G. B. Stenhouse. 2004. Grizzly bears and forestry: I. Selection of clearcuts by grizzly bears in west-central Alberta, Canada. Forest Ecology and Management 199:51-65.
- Ordiz, A., J. Kindberg, S. Sæbø, J. E. Swenson, and O.-G. Støen. 2014. Brown bear circadian behavior reveals human environmental encroachment. Biological Conservation **173**:1-9.
- Ordiz, A., O.-G. Støen, M. Delibes, and J. E. Swenson. 2011. Predators or prey? Spatio-temporal discrimination of human-derived risk by brown bears. Oecologia **166**:59-67.
- Ordiz, A., O.-G. Støen, L. G. Langebro, S. Brunberg, and J. E. Swenson. 2009. A practical method for measuring horizontal cover. Ursus **20**:109-113.
- Ordiz, A., O.-G. Støen, S. Sæbø, J. Kindberg, M. Delibes, and J. E. Swenson. 2012. Do bears know they are being hunted? Biological Conservation **152**:21-28.
- Ordiz, A., O.-G. Støen, S. Sæbø, V. Sahlén, B. E. Pedersen, J. Kindberg, and J. E. Swenson. 2013. Lasting behavioural responses of brown bears to experimental encounters with humans. Journal of Applied Ecology **50**:306-314.
- Ordiz, A., S. Sæbø, J. Kindberg, J. E. Swenson, and O.-G. Støen. 2017. Seasonality and human disturbance alter brown bear activity patterns: implications for circumpolar carnivore conservation? Animal Conservation **20**:51-60.
- Pulliainen. 1983. Behaviour of an expanding population of the brown bear (Ursus arctos) in northern Europe. Z. Säugetierkunde **48**:290-297.
- R Core Team. 2018. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Rode, K. D., S. D. Farley, and C. T. Robbins. 2006. Sexual dimorphism, reproductive strategy, and human activities determine resource use by brown bears. Ecology **87**:2636-2646.
- Sahlén, V., A. Ordiz, J. E. Swenson, and O. G. Støen. 2015. Behavioural differences between single Scandinavian brown bears (*Ursus arctos*) and females with dependent young when experimentally approached by humans. Plos One **10**:e0121576.
- Sahlén, V., Swenson, J.E., Brunberg, S., Kindberg, J. 2006. Björnen i Sverige. A report from the Scandinavian Brown Bear Research Project to the Swedish White Paper on Predator Management, Stockholm, Sweden.

- Solberg, K. H., E. Bellemain, O.-M. Drageset, P. Taberlet, and J. E. Swenson. 2006. An evaluation of field and non-invasive genetic methods to estimate brown bear (*Ursus arctos*) population size. Biological Conservation 128:158-168.
- Stankowich, T. 2008. Ungulate flight responses to human disturbance: A review and meta-analysis. Biological Conservation **141**:2159-2173.
- Statistics Finland. 2008. Statistical Yearbook of Finland 2008. Multiprint Oy, Finland.
- Statistics Sweden. Population density per sq. km, population and land area by region and sex. Year 1991 2017.

http://www.statistikdatabasen.scb.se/pxweb/en/ssd/START_BE_BE0101_BE0101C/BefAr ealTathetKon/?rxid=ac8a9f3d-fc94-4c9f-b33e-a5fbf8d4c8ab.

- Statistics Sweden. Öppna geodata för tätorter. http://www.scb.se/hitta-statistik/regional-statistikoch-kartor/geodata/oppna-geodata/tatorter/.
- Steyaert, S. M. J. G., A. Zedrosser, M. Elfström, A. Ordiz, M. Leclerc, S. C. Frank, J. Kindberg, O.-G. Støen, S. Brunberg, and J. E. Swenson. 2016. Ecological implications from spatial patterns in human-caused brown bear mortality. Wildlife Biology 22:144-152.
- Støen, O.-G., A. Ordiz, A. L. Evans, T. G. Laske, J. Kindberg, O. Fröbert, J. E. Swenson, and J. M. Arnemo. 2015. Physiological evidence for a human-induced landscape of fear in brown bears (Ursus arctos). Physiology & Behavior 152:244-248.
- Sundell, J., I. Kojola, and I. Hanski. 2006. A new GPS-GSM-based method to study behavior of brown bears. Wildlife Society Bulletin (1973-2006) **34**:446-450.
- Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute. 2017a. Normal medeltemperatur för januari. http://www.smhi.se/klimatdata/meteorologi/temperatur/normal-medeltemperatur-forjanuari-1.3976.
- Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute. 2017b. Normal medeltemperatur för juli. http://www.smhi.se/klimatdata/meteorologi/temperatur/normal-medeltemperatur-for-juli-1.3991.
- Swedish National Land Survey. Fastighetskartan. https://www.lantmateriet.se/sv/Kartor-ochgeografisk-information/Kartor/Fastighetskartan/
- Swedish National Land Survey. Vägkartan. https://www.lantmateriet.se/sv/Kartor-och-geografiskinformation/Kartor/Vagkartan/.
- Swenson, J. E., N. Gerstl, B. Dahle, and A. Zedrosser. 2000. Action plan for the conservation of the brown bear in Europe (*Ursus arctos*). Strasbourg Cedex, Council of Europe. Nature and environment.
- Swenson, J. E., F. Sandegren, and A. Söderberg. 1998. Geographic expansion of an increasing brown bear population: evidence for presaturation dispersal. Journal of Animal Ecology 67:819-826.
- Swenson, J. E., M. Schneider, A. Zedrosser, A. Söderberg, R. Franzén, and J. Kindberg. 2017. Challenges of managing a European brown bear population; lessons from Sweden, 1943–2013. Wildlife Biology 2017:wlb.00251.
- Swenson, J. E., P. Wabakken, F. Sandegren, A. Bjärvall, R. Franzén, and A. Söderberg. 1995. The near extinction and recovery of brown bears in Scandinavia in relation to the bear management policies of Norway and Sweden. Wildlife Biology 1:11-25.
- Tablado, Z., and L. Jenni. 2017. Determinants of uncertainty in wildlife responses to human disturbance. Biological Reviews **92**:216-233.
- The Finnish Wildlife Agency. 2017. Karhusaaliit.

https://riista.fi/metsastys/saalisseuranta/karhusaaliit/.

Trombulak, S. C., and C. A. Frissell. 2000. Review of ecological effects of roads on terrestrial and aquatic communities. Conservation Biology **14**:18-30.

Vincze, E., S. Papp, B. Preiszner, G. Seress, V. Bókony, and A. Liker. 2016. Habituation to human disturbance is faster in urban than rural house sparrows. Behavioral Ecology **27**:1304-1313.

Whittaker, D., and R. L. Knight. 1998. Understanding wildlife responses to humans. Wildlife Society Bulletin **26**:312-317.

Wikman, M. 2010. Riistakannat 2010. Riistaseurantojen tulokset. Riista- ja kalatalouden tutkimuslaitos, Helsinki, Finland.

Zedrosser, A., S. M. J. G. Steyaert, H. Gossow, and J. E. Swenson. 2011. Brown bear conservation and the ghost of persecution past. Biological Conservation **144**:2163-2170.

Zuur, A. F., E. N. Ieno, N. J. Walker, A. A. Saveliev, and G. M. Smith. 2009. Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with R. Springer Science+Business Media, New York, USA.

Appendix 1

Sets of top candidate models, with $\Delta AICc < 2$ compared to the model with the lowest AICc for each response variable, for flight reactions of brown bears experimentally approached in southcentral Sweden.

Table 1A: Best candidate models ($\Delta AICc < 2$) following generalized linear mixed regression (binominal link function) explaining the factors that influenced whether brown bears stayed (0) or moved away (1) when approached by humans in southcentral Sweden, from 2006 to 2009 (n = 118). The continuous variables were scaled to 1 SD. See Table 1 for explanation of the variables.

Model	AICc	ΔAICc	weight
Season + Number of observers	134.41	0.00	0.21
Season + Number of observers + Distance to observer	134.99	0.58	0.16
Season + Number of observers + Human HR	135.24	0.83	0.14
Season + Number of observers + Road HR	135.49	1.08	0.12
Season + Number of observers + Distance to observer + Human HR	135.94	1.53	0.10
Season + Number of observers + Distance to road from IS	136.11	1.70	0.09
Season + Number of observers + Distance to observer + Road HR	136.18	1.78	0.09
Season + Number of observers + Activity	136.21	1.80	0.09

Table 2A. The best candidate models (Δ AICc < 2) following linear mixed regression explaining distance moved (DM) for bears when approached by humans in southcentral Sweden from 2006 to 2009 (n = 71). The bears left their initial sites before the observers passed them. DM is log transformed. The continuous variables are scaled to 1 SD. See Table 1 for explanation of the variables.

Model	AICc	ΔAICc	weight
Activity + Sex + Sighting distance in IS + Number of observers	202.93	0.00	0.55
Activity + Sighting distance in IS + Number of observers	204.51	1.58	0.25
Activity + Sex + Sighting distance in IS + Number of observers +	204.87	1.94	0.21
Season			

Table 3A. The best candidate models (Δ AICc < 2) following linear mixed regression explaining time spent moving after disturbance (TSM) for bears when approached by humans in southcentral Sweden from 2006 to 2009 (n = 63). The bears left their initial sites before the observers passed them. TSM is log transformed. The continuous variables are scaled to 1 SD. See Table 1 for explanation of the variables.

Model	AICc	ΔAICc	weight
Number of observers	167.62	0.00	0.37
Number of observers + Sighting distance in IS	168.31	0.68	0.26
NULL	168.74	1.12	0.21
Number of observers + Sex	169.26	1.64	0.16

Paper III

Habituation, sensitization, or consistent behavioral responses? Brown bear responses after repeated approaches by humans on foot

Andrés Ordiz^{1,*}, Gro Kvelprud Moen¹, Solve Sæbø², Nina Stenset¹, Jon E. Swenson^{1,3}, Ole-Gunnar Støen^{1,3}

Affiliations

¹Faculty of Environmental Sciences and Natural Resource Management, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, NO-1432 Ås, Norway

² Faculty of Chemistry, Biotechnology and Food Science, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Ås, Norway

³Norwegian Institute for Nature Research, NO-7485 Trondheim, Norway

*Corresponding author: <u>andres.ordiz@gmail.com</u> Phone: +34689987062

Abstract

1. Several large carnivore populations are increasing in human-dominated landscapes, but this good conservation news includes management challenges. Fear and negative human attitudes towards carnivores and potential risk for carnivore habituation to people are among the issues that require better knowledge on large carnivore behavior, to favor humancarnivore coexistence.

2. We performed up to 8 experimental, repeated approaches on 29 radio-collared brown bears in Sweden (totaling 195 approaches) to quantify if bears always avoided people or if they showed sign of habituation. We investigated changes in: a) the proportion of bears that moved away from approaching humans, b) the bear's flight initiation distance (FID), and c) daily movement pattern of the bears, following each approach. Changes in these responses with increasing number of encounters could indicate either habituation or sensitization to human presence.

3. Bears consistently avoided the approaching humans. The proportion of bears that stayed or moved away from their initial site and the FID did not increase or decrease with increasing number of consecutive encounters. The bears' daily movement pattern changed consistently every time they were approached.

4. After each approach, bears moved away immediately, followed by a reduced movement in the afternoon. Bears moved less during daytime for the next three days after an approach compared to their movement pattern the week before the approaches started. The initial reaction was consistent after all the repeated approaches, whereas the decrease in movement in the following hours and middays was less clear beyond the first three consecutive approaches.

5. The number of carnivore-human encounters may increase in human-dominated landscapes when carnivore numbers increase, but for bears this should not be directly

interpreted as an increased risk of aggressive behavior to occur. We could not detect any change in the natural response of the bears, i.e., avoiding people, at the level of disturbance they were exposed to. This is a comforting message for managers. However, altered daily activity patterns can have negative effects on the disturbed animals, an issue that also deserves attention from management.

Key words: experimental disturbance, flight initiation distance, human-wildlife interactions, large carnivore management, encounters, *Ursus arctos*.

Introduction

Large carnivores can play key roles in terrestrial and marine ecosystems (Hebblewhite et al., 2005; Estes et al., 2011), but predation, the core mechanism driving the ecological role of carnivores, is also a source of conflict for managers and stakeholders (Ordiz, Bischof & Swenson 2013; Redpath et al., 2013). Nowadays, and after centuries of human persecution, some populations of large carnivores are recovering in human-dominated landscapes (Chapron et al., 2014). In this context, increased fear among the public and negative attitudes to carnivores (Røskaft et al., 2007), and potential risk for carnivore habituation to people (e.g., Whittaker & Knight, 1998), are important management issues. More knowledge on the behavior of large carnivores in human-dominated areas is thus essential to inform managers and the public in order to improve human-carnivore coexistence.

Thousands of papers have focused on the concept of habituation (Thompson, 2009), a process leading to decreased responsiveness to a repeated stimulus. This is often adaptive, because it makes it less likely that individuals will respond to harmless stimuli (Rankin et al., 2009; Blumstein, 2016). Flight initiation distance (FID), the distance at which animals flee when they are approached by an observer, is often used as a proxy for animals' reactions to disturbance in studies on mammals, fishes, birds, reptiles, and amphibians (Runyan & Blumstein, 2004; Gotanda, 2009; Carrete & Tella, 2010; Rodríguez-Prieto et al., 2011; McNight & Howell 2015, as examples for each group). FID is also used to analyze habituation, but most studies have not used marked individuals, which has been highlighted as a major limitation to determine if they habituate to disturbance and to inform management (Blumstein, 2016).

It is well documented that large carnivores are elusive, avoid people and human activity both spatially and temporally (Wam et al., 2014; Ordiz et al., 2017). However, whether individual carnivores habituate after frequent encounters with people is less clear. This

knowledge is essential to both elucidate the capacity of such species to live in humandominated landscapes and to counteract negative effects of habituation of animals that are potentially dangerous for people (e.g., Penteriani et al., 2016). The Scandinavian brown bear is a good example of a large carnivore potentially dangerous for people (Støen et al. 2018) that has been recovering in recent decades in human-dominated landscapes (Swenson et al., 2017), and illustrates the population trend of other carnivore populations in Europe (Chapron et al., 2014) and North America (Bruskotter & Shelby 2010).

Reports of experimental approaches to radio-collared large carnivores are scarce in the scientific literature (Sunde et al., 1998 on lynx *Lynx lynx*; Sweanor et al., 2005 on mountain lions *Puma concolor*; and Wam et al., 2014 on wolves *Canis lupus*). None of these studies used GPS collars, and only one focused on habituation, showing that previous approaches had no significant influence on wolves' FID (Wam et al., 2014). FID has also been measured in unmarked American black bears *Ursus americanus* (Smith et al., 2012) and on GPS-collared Scandinavian brown bears (Moen et al. 2012; Ordiz et al., 2013; Sahlén et al., 2015), When experimentally approached, bears either fled or hid in dense vegetation (Moen et al., 2012; Sahlén et al., 2015), and bears changed their daily movement patterns in the following days (Ordiz et al., 2013).

Here, we analyzed the behavioral responses of GPS-collared bears that were repeatedly approached up to eight times, every third or fourth day for several weeks, in Sweden in 2012-2014. We analyzed if there were changes in FID, in the proportion of bears that stayed and moved away from their initial sites, and in daily movement patterns after repeated approaches. We aimed to investigate whether an increasing number of approaches led to: a) the bears habituated, i.e., having shorter FID, moving away less often, and/or displaying less changes in daily movement pattern; b) the bears sensitized, if they showed an increased responsiveness to similar and repeated stimuli (Blumstein, 2016), showing increased FID,

moving away more often, and/or showing increased changes in the daily movement pattern; or, c) no changes in responses across repeated approaches.

European large carnivores are generally more nocturnal than their counterparts living in more remote areas, such as northern latitudes of North America, which may be a behavioral response against the longer history of human persecution of carnivores in Europe (Ordiz et al., 2011). Differences in other life-history and demographic traits of bears in Europe and North America have also been explained in relation with the longer persecution history in Europe (Zedrosser et al., 2011). We therefore hypothesized that bears would not show evidence of habituation or sensitization. Finding no bear habituation or sensitization to repeated approaches, but a consistent pattern of human avoidance, would provide both important knowledge for large carnivore management and empirical support to the hypothesis that exposure to humans in the long run is a major reason for the transcontinental differences in large carnivore traits. Our study helps fill the gap of knowledge on habituation studies with radio-collared individuals and should be informative for policy making and large carnivore management in human-dominated areas.

Material and methods

Study area

The study was conducted in a ~11,500 km² study area in Dalarna and Gävleborg counties, southcentral Sweden (61.5°N, 15°E). Elevations range from 200 to 750 m for most of the study area, below the timberline of a highly managed, boreal forest dominated by Scots pine *Pinus silvestris* and Norway spruce *Picea abies*. Heather, grasses and berry-producing shrubs compose the understory layer. Human density is 4 to 7 inhabitants/km² (Ordiz et al., 2012). Besides forestry, berry picking, fishing, and hunting are common. Bear density reaches 30 bears/1000 km² (Solberg et al., 2006), and bears are hunted in the fall according to a quota system (Ordiz et al., 2012).

Approaches to brown bears and variables of interest

We conducted 195 approaches on 14 solitary females (9 subadults and 5 adults) and 15 solitary males (6 subadults and 9 adults). The bears were considered subadults if they were between one and three years old (Zedrosser et al., 2006). Bears had been captured from a helicopter using a remote drug-delivery system (Dan-Inject, Børkop, Denmark) and were followed with GPS-GSM collars (Vectronic Aerospace GmbH, Berlin, Germany) and abdominal VHF transmitter implants (400L or 700L, Telonics, USA). Capture and handling was approved by the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, permit 412-7327-09 Nv, and the Swedish Ethical Committee on Animal Research, applications C212/9, C47/9 and C7/12. When age of the bear was unknown, i.e., when the bear was not captured as dependent young with its radio-marked mother, a tooth was extracted for age determination (Matson et al., 1993). Capture and handling are further described in Arnemo, Evans & Fahlman (2012).

Collars were scheduled to take a GPS position every 30 minutes, providing a maximum of 48 positions per day. Additionally, during the approach days, the collars were scheduled with a web-based SMS service, to take a position every minute from one hour before the scheduled start of the approach until two hours afterwards, thus generating up to 180 positions. All the GPS positions were transmitted via the GSM network, downloaded remotely, and collected into the Wireless Remote Animal Monitoring database system (Dettki et al. 2013).

The bears were approached by humans on foot, between June and August of 2012, 2013, and 2014, before the annual hunting seasons started. Different bears were approached every year; only one bear was approached in two different years. The approaches were scheduled every third to forth day for up to eight consecutive approaches, but the interval between approaches and the number of approaches per bear varied due to collar or programming failure, or because the bear was impossible to locate the day of a scheduled approach. Most

individuals were subjected to seven approaches $(6.5 \pm 1.2, \text{mean} \pm \text{SD}, \text{range 3-8})$ and the approaches were done with three days (N = 84), four days (N = 73) or seven days (N = 8) intervals (3.6 ± 0.9) . Approaches were conducted between 10:00 and 15:00 local time (GMT+2), when bears are typically resting in daybeds (Moe et al., 2007; Ordiz et al., 2011, 2013). For each approach, the most recent GPS positions helped us find the bear, which was monitored during the approach by triangulation of the VHF transmitters with a Telonics TR-4 receiver and a RA-2AK antenna.

Passing distance, total number of observers, and minimum distance to observer: The approaches started 704 + 422 m away from the bears with the aim to pass them upwind. Initial sites of passive bears were passed at 37 + 59 m (N = 157) and initial sites of active bears were passed at 113 + 146 m (N = 33) (passing distance). The minimum distances between observer and bear was 63 ± 70 m (N = 186). Four approaches were not included in the analyses of the initial bear reaction, i.e., if the bear moved or stayed and FID could not be determined, due to missing GPS data from the bear or the observers when the encounter occurred. However, these four approaches were conducted, and the bears were presumably disturbed, thus the approaches contributed to the running number of consecutive approaches on a given bear. The running number of approaches therefore reflected how many times the bear was disturbed. Approaches were conducted by one to five observers (1.89 + 1.02)observers), who walked at normal hiking speed and talked to each other in a normal voice, simulating hikers. In 80 cases, one observer did the approach alone, but also talked to him/herself simulating the presence of more people. After passing the bear, the observer continued for 300-500 m before returning to the starting point, avoiding disturbing the bear again. Observers carried hand-held GPS units (Garmin GPSMAP 60CSx, Garmin Ltd, USA), which recorded their position with a time stamp every 10 m.

Vegetation cover: Concealment of vegetation at the initial site, where the bear was when the approach started, was measured as sighting distance, i.e., the minimum distance required for a 60 cm tall and 30 cm wide cylinder to be completely hidden from the observers' view (Ordiz et al., 2009). Sighting distance was the mean of four measurements taken in the cardinal directions (Sahlén et al., 2011), measured when the approached bear was \geq 3 km away and \geq 48 hours after the approach was done.

FID and bear activity: We defined FID as the distance at which the approached bear moved away from the observer. To determine that disturbance occurred, we calculated the distance traveled and time used by the bears between consecutive GPS positions, i.e., the speed of the bear, estimated as an upper control limit (UCL) (Montgomery, 2007). A disturbance event implied a higher speed than the expected during a control period, which lasted ~1 hour, from the start of the 1-minute positioning of the collar until the last GPS position before the approach started. We differentiated between passive (resting) bears and active (likely foraging) bears by looking at the spatial distribution of their GPS positions during the control period. When the longest distance between GPS positions exceeded 70 meters (Moen et al., 2012), bears were considered active (473 ± 440 m; N = 33 approaches), otherwise they were passive (29 ± 15 m; N = 158). We used the speed of bears that stayed passive or active during the control period to determine UCL. Speed was log (speed*100) transformed to reach normality before fitting a linear model, which was adjusted for the relative influence of each observation based on the duration of the control period. The intercept (β^0) and residual variance (s^2) were used to calculate UCL (Montgomery, 2007) as:

$$UCL = \beta^0 + t_{0,95 \, df} * \sqrt{(s^2 \, (1 + 1/n))} \qquad eqn \, 1$$

We obtained a UCL of 15.1 m/min (0.91 km/h) for passive bears and 99.2 m/min (5.95 km/h) for active bears. The existence of a low speed for passive bears was either due to GPS imprecision, or minor bear movements at the resting site. When the speed of an approached

bear exceeded the respective UCL threshold for passive and active bears and the bear left the initial site, we determined that the bear had reacted. FID was calculated as the distance between the bear and the observers at the last position the bear was before the speed of the bear exceeded the UCL threshold. Only positions within the three hours of 1-min positioning were considered, i.e., FIDs were not calculated for approaches where the bear left the site after the 1-min positioning had ended, or for approaches that lacked position data from the observers' track log or the bear at the time of disturbance (N = 7). Bears were either passive or active throughout the control period in most approaches, but 22 changed from active to passive, and 4 changed from passive to active. FID of these 26 approaches was determined based on the bear's behavior when the approach started.

Season: We divided the study periods into pre-berry (< 15 July) and berry seasons (\geq 15 July), accounting for seasonality in bear phenology and intensity of outdoor human activities, which are more common and widespread over the area in summer and autumn (Ordiz et al., 2013).

Statistical analysis

FID: We fitted a full model with FID (log transformed) of bears that moved away before the observers passed the initial site as response variable, and the number of approach (N = 1, 2, ..., 8), the number of observers (N = 1, 2, ..., 5), age class of the bear (subadult, adult), sex (male, female), passing distance, sighting distance, and season (pre-berry, berry) as explanatory variables, and bear ID as a random factor, accounting for the different number of approaches to each bear, using the function 'lmer' in R package 'lme4' (Bates et al., 2015). We did not find collinearity among variables. Due to few active bears (4 of 123 approaches included in the regression analysis), the activity level was not included as an explanatory variable in the models. Of course, FID could not be short if passing distance was long, but passing distance rather reflected the angle with which observers approached the bears and

therefore passing distance could influence FID. We used the function 'dredge' in R package 'MuMIn' (Barton, 2018) after standardizing the continuous response and explanatory variables to a mean of 0 and SD 1 (Grueber et al., 2011) with the package 'standardize' (Eager, 2017). We used a likelihood ratio test to compare models with only fixed effects and mixed models (Zuur et al., 2009) with the random factor bear ID, and retained the random factor (L = 2.12, p = 0.14).

Stayed or moved: We also tested if the proportion of bears that stayed at their initial sites or moved away when approached changed after repeated approaches, because this could also give an indication of habituation, sensitization, or lack of any of those responses.

Daily movement data: Using the bears' GPS positions recorded every 30 min, we calculated the bears' daily movement patterns as square root of meters moved per 30 min intervals (i.e., generating up to 48 values per 24 hours if there were no missing positions), from 7 days before the first approach until 3 days after the last approach on a bear. We compared the baseline movement pattern during the 7 days before the day of the first approach with the movement pattern of the bears during and after each of the consecutive approaches and the 3 following days. Differences in movement patterns throughout the season could occur due to changes in day light, so the effect of day light on movement was also estimated (Fig. 1A). We used a linear model in a Bayesian framework for the response variable square root of meters moved per 30 min intervals (as in Ordiz et al., 2013b):

$$y_{ijkl} = \beta_0 + \alpha_i + \beta_{age} x_i + \gamma_j + \lambda_{jl} + \epsilon_{ijkl} \qquad eqn \ 2$$

Where y_{ijkl} is the bear movement in square root of meters moved per 30 min intervals, β_0 is a general intercept, $\alpha_i \sim N(0, \sigma_{bear}^2)$ are the random bear effects (bear ID had 27 levels, Fig. 2A), x_i is the age of a given bear i with a continuous effect β_{age} . Further, γ_j is the day length effect for j = 1, ..., 48 and λ_{jl} are the time-of-day effects for j = 1 : 48 and l = 1 : 35 (48 time

levels for each of 35 day-categories, i.e., all days up to 7 days before each approach, up to 3 days after each approach, and for up to 7 approaches per bear). The error term is assumed normally distributed $\epsilon_{ijkl} \sim N(0, \sigma_2)$. The total number of day-observations was N = 822. In this part of the analyses, we did not include the effect of sex, which was confounded with other effects and was therefore omitted from the model. No effect of season was found (the posterior 95% credible interval contained 0 for the difference between pre-berry and berry seasons) and therefore it was removed from the final model. For the time-of-day effects, we assumed an autoregressive smoothing model:

$$\lambda_{jl} = \nu \cdot \lambda_{(j-1)l} + \varepsilon_{jl} \qquad eqn \ 3$$

Where $\varepsilon \sim N(0, \tau^2)$. The smoothing parameter is set as $1/\tau^2$ and is chosen on the basis of the deviance information criterion (DIC) for a range of possible values. Post hoc analyses included the computation of a "baseline" time-of-day activity as an average of the time-of-day-effects for all 7 days prior to the first approach. Contrasts between all other days after approaches with the baseline were also computed. The unknown model parameters were estimated by Bayesian posterior means using MCMC methods, implemented in OpenBUGS (Lunn et al., 2000). A burn-in period was determined to 5,000 iterations from visual inspection of convergence, hence the first 5,000 values were discarded from further analysis. The remaining chains were thinned by selecting every tenth value to reduce autocorrelation and to reduce data storage. This left 2,500 values as a basis for estimating posterior distributions, means and variance for each model parameter. The different models included the approaches for which all the relevant predictor variables had data, i.e., some approaches were not used in each statistical approach if there was no data for some of the variables.

Results

The number of the consecutive approach did not influence the proportion of bears that stayed (0 to 25%, N = 33 approaches) or moved away (75 to 100%, N = 158) from their initial site during the approaches (two-sided Fisher exact test: p = 0.79) (Fig. 1). The FID for bears that moved away before the observers passed the initial site was 73 ± 96 m (N = 145) (Fig. 2), and the FID did not change with increasing number of consecutive encounters. FID was shorter when the initial site was passed at a shorter distance (model weight = 0.53, N = 123, Table 1). Any other candidate models had delta AICc \geq 3.3 and model weights \leq 0.1 (Table 1A, Appendix 1).



Figure 1. Number of cases in which individual brown bears stayed or moved away during encounters with humans on foot in southcentral Sweden, 2012-2014. The bears were approached every third to fourth day, three to eight times consecutively.



Consecutive approach number

Figure 2. Flight initiation distances (FID) of brown bears during encounters with humans on foot in southcentral Sweden, 2012-2014. The bears were approached every third to fourth day, three to eight times consecutively. To better see the most common FID values, eleven approaches with FID larger than 200 m (between 214 and 681 m) were excluded from this figure. All approaches are reported in Figure 3A in Appendix 1.

Table 1. Results and test statistics for the linear mixed regression model of flight initiation distance (FID) of brown bears during encounters with humans on foot in southcentral Sweden, 2012-2014. The bears were approached every third to forth day, three to eight times consecutively. The top model is reported here, and other candidate models (none with Δ AICc<2) are reported in Table 1A in Appendix 1. The FID is log transformed, β is the slope, SE the standard error, and CI the 95% confidence intervals.

	AIC	Model weight	β	SE	95% CI
FID ~ Passing distance	311.8	0.53			
Intercept			-0.002	0.08	(-0.17, 0.16)
Passing distance			0.57	0.07	(0.43, 0.72)

The bears moved mostly during crepuscular and nocturnal hours during the week before the approaches, with a well-marked resting period around midday and another around midnight (Fig. 3).



Figure 3. Estimated time-of-day effect on the daily movement pattern (square root of meters moved per 30 min intervals) of brown bears during the week before a period with experimental approaches by humans on foot in southcentral Sweden, 2012-2014. The resting periods during midday and around midnight are visible in the figure. The curves represent the posterior mean of the time-of-day effect and the 95% credible intervals.

The bears moved away from their initial site when encountered, leading to a higher speed at midday the day of the approach (Fig. 4). Right after the initial reaction, the bears reduced movement for 4-5 hours (Fig. 4). The pattern of the initial reaction of the bears was consistent during all the consecutive approaches, whereas the reduction in movement in the following hours was less clear beyond the first three consecutive approaches (Fig. 4). Bears also seemed to increase their movement during the night and reduce their movement during daytime in the three days following the first three consecutive approaches (Fig. 5 and 6).



Figure 4. The estimated time-of-day effect and the effect of consecutive encounters with humans (1-7) on the daily movement pattern (square root of meters moved per 30 min intervals) of brown bears on the day of the experimental approaches by humans on foot, in contrast to the mean daily movement pattern during one week before the first approach (baseline) in southcentral Sweden, 2012-2014. The bears were approached between 10:00 and 15:00 local time, every third to fourth day. An elevated speed immediately after the encounters when the bears move away with a following drop in speed is visible. The drop in speed is less clear beyond the three first approaches.



Figure 5. The estimated time-of-day effect on the daily movement pattern (square root of meters moved per 30 min intervals) of brown bears the day after the first, second, and third consecutive approach by humans on foot, in contrast to the mean daily movement pattern during one week before the first approach (baseline) in southcentral Sweden, 2012-2014. The bears were approached between 10:00 and 15:00 local time, every third to forth day.



Figure 6. The estimated time-of-day effect on the daily movement pattern (square root of meters moved per 30 min intervals) of brown bears during the day of an approach by humans on foot, and the first, second, and third day after the approaches, in contrast to the mean daily movement pattern during one week before the first approach (baseline) in southcentral Sweden, 2012-2014 (top panel: during and after the first approach, bottom panel: during and after four consecutive approaches). The bears were approached between 10:00 and 15:00 local time every third to forth day. The curves represent the mean effects and the 95% credible intervals. *Top panel*: On the day of the first approach (Day 0), there was a significant increase in distance traveled by the brown bears during the approach, followed by a significant drop in distance traveled the next hours compared to the week before. A drop in activity during midday the first, second and third day (Day 1, Day 2 and Day 3) after the approach was visible, but not significant (credible intervals include the 0 value). *Bottom panel*: After the fourth approach, there was a tendency, but not significant (credible intervals include the 0 value), reduction in distance traveled in the mornings the first, second and third day (Day 1, Day 2 and Day 3).

Discussion

Brown bears that were approached repeatedly in southcentral Sweden showed a consistent reaction to approaching humans on foot. Both the proportion of bears that moved away from their initial site and FID were similar independent of the number of previous encounters with humans (Fig. 1 and 2). The immediate reaction of bears was also reflected in their daily movement pattern in a consistent manner, with a clear increase in speed when the bears moved away from the approaching humans, followed by a reduction in the movement that lasted 4-5 hours after the encounters. The initial reaction was consistent for all encounters, whereas the pattern showing less movement for some hours after the encounters was visible for the first encounters, but disappeared after four consecutive encounters (Fig. 4). The bears also seemed to move more in the night and less during daytime in the two following days, compared to the bears' movement pattern before the series of approaches started (Fig. 5 and 6).

Consistency in the proportion of bears that stayed and moved after approaches, the FID, and the immediate movement pattern, suggests a lack of both habituation or sensitization to repeated encounters with humans, at the intensity and repetition of disturbance we exposed the bears to. This is important information for wildlife managers in human-dominated landscapes, because increased frequency of encounters did not change how the bears reacted. This also reinforces our previous findings that bears in Scandinavia avoid encounters with humans as much as they possibly can, and do not show aggressive responses towards approaching humans mimicking hikers or berry pickers (Moen et al., 2012; Ordiz et al., 2013, Sahlén et al., 2015).

Wildlife in areas with humans are often elusive and more nocturnal than in remote areas (Gaynor et al., 2018), and large carnivores are no exception (e.g., Ordiz et al., 2014, 2017). We have earlier documented that most bears (~80%) run away from approaching humans

(Moen et al., 2012), and decrease their movement rates some hours following encounters and during mid-day in the next couple of days, altering their optimal foraging and resting routines (Ordiz et al., 2013). Beyond the consistency in the initial reaction to approaching humans, the bears reduced their response in the hours and days that followed after four consecutive approaches. This may indicate that the bears trade foraging for security, i.e., increasing activity at night and reducing it during daytime, and that this may not always be energetically possible for the bears. Bears have to achieve fat reserves before winter hibernation and might not be able to reduce activity levels after every disturbance event, when these events occur frequently. In a previous study, we documented that single female and male bears that are subject to hunting became more active at night and less active during daytime when hunting seasons started, whereas the change was less clear for females with cubs (Ordiz et al., 2012). Different use of habitat types and lower risk of encountering hunters might explain these differences, but it could also be that females with cubs must maintain their daily rhythms for the cubs to accumulate enough fat before hibernation (Ordiz et al., 2012).

Our study shows that bears consistently avoided humans as an immediate reaction and that it did not change with increasing number of consecutive encounters. However, the changes in behavior the following days seemed to fade progressively beyond three consecutive approaches, possibly due to energetic demands. Alternatively, the reduction in the response could be interpreted as an indication of habituation, unless the reduced response were due to fatigue with accumulated number of approaches. In case of fatigue, a reduction in a behavioral response should not be directly interpreted as habituation (e.g., Rankin et al., 2009). We suggest that if the bears were habituated with more frequent encounters, the initial bear reactions should have decreased as well, but this did not occur.

When measuring and interpreting habituation or sensitization to disturbance, it is important to consider the intensity of the disturbance event. The less intense the stimulus, the

faster and/or more pronounced the behavioral response reduction, whereas very intense stimuli may cause no observable decrease in response (Rankin et al., 2009). We cannot exclude that up to eight approaches with a three to four days interval is not enough disturbance to change the behavior of bears. However, given the low human density in our study area and the low risk for the study bears to encounter humans, our experiment likely represented an increase in the number of human encounters normally experienced by the bears. Alternatively, approaching humans may always be a very intense stimuli for bears.

Conclusions and management implications

The clearest result was that the initial response of the bears when encountering humans on foot was very consistent in both occurrence and strength across the series of consecutive approaches, thus discarding a clear pattern of habituation or sensitization to the repeated encounters. Experimental studies with radio-collared large carnivores are particularly scarce in the literature, owing to logistical, economic, and ethical challenges, and we are not aware of studies that included the amount of high resolution, GPS data we used here. We thus suggest that this study helps fill the gap between research on habituation and management (Blumstein, 2016).

Regarding human safety, the number of carnivore-human encounters is likely to increase in human-dominated landscapes where carnivore populations are partially recovering. Some brown bears can use areas very close to human settlements, which is often due to the social organization of the species, with more vulnerable bears avoiding conspecifics (Elfström et al., 2014). In such a scenario, our results show that an increased risk of encounters with people should not be interpreted as an increased risk for an attack to occur. The default brown bear reaction is to avoid being detected by an approaching human, by moving away or hiding in dense vegetation, and this behavior did not change with increasing number of encounters with humans. European bears generally avoid people, and a large proportion of the recorded attacks in Sweden in recent decades occurred because bears were wounded before they attacked a person (Støen et al. 2018). This pattern of human avoidance can change if other factors are involved; e.g., artificial feeding or bear access to human-related foods can reduce bear avoidance of people, thus human activities such as feeding of bears and bear viewing require active management to prevent habituation and the problems it can create (Penteriani et al., 2017, 2018).

Changes in daily activity patterns of animals that face encounters with people also deserve attention. Temporal avoidance of humans by large carnivores is likely a consequence of long-term persecution (e.g., Ordiz et al., 2011; Zedrosser et al., 2013), and our results show that disturbed bears tended to be even more nocturnal and less diurnal, thus reinforcing that pattern. On the positive side, temporal avoidance favors large carnivore and human coexistence in human-dominated landscapes. However, departures from optimal activity patterns in response to disturbance are receiving increasing attention in the scientific literature, because such changes can have negative consequences for fitness, interspecific interactions, community structure, and evolution (Gaynor et al., 2018; Shamoon et al., 2018). Now that large carnivores are recovering in human-dominated landscapes, behavioral reactions should also be accounted for by management agencies (Frank et al., 2017), aiming to reduce the probability of encounters between animals and people.

Acknowledgements

The study was financed by the Norwegian Environment Agency. We thank the field personnel, including several volunteers, of the Scandinavian Brown Bear Research Project for conducting many encounters and habitat surveys.

Literature list

Arnemo, J. M., Evans, A. L., & Fahlman, A. (2012). Biomedical protocols for free-ranging brown bears, gray wolves, wolverines and lynx. Hedmark University College. Evenstad, Norway.

Barton, K. (2018). MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference. R package version 1.40.4. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=MuM.

- Blumstein, D.T. (2016). Habituation and sensitization: new thoughts about old ideas. Animal Behaviour 120, 255-262.
- Bruskotter, J., & Shelby, L. B. (2010) Human dimensions of large carnivore conservation and management: introduction to the special issue. Human Dimensions of Wildlife, 15, 311–314.
- Carrete, M., & Tella , J. L. (2010). Individual consistency in flight initiation distances in burrowing owls: a new hypothesis on disturbance induced habitat selection. Biology Letters, 6, 167–170.
- Chapron, G., Kaczensky, P. Linnell, J. D. C. von Arx, M. Huber, D. Andrén, H., ..., & Boitani, L. (2014). Recovery of large carnivores in Europe's modern human-dominated landscapes. Science, 346, 1517-1519.
- Dettki, H., Ericsson, G. Giles, T., & Norrsken-Ericsson, M. (2013). Wireless Remote Animal Monitoring (WRAM) - A new international database e-infrastructure for telemetry sensor data from fish and wildlife. p. 247-256. In: Proceedings Etc 2012: Convention for Telemetry, Test Instrumentation and Telecontrol (Eds. The European Society of Telemetry). Books on Demand, pp. 292, ISBN: 978-3-7322-5646-4.
- Eager, C.D. (2017). Standardize: Tools for Standardizing Variables for Regression in R. R package version 0.2.1. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=standardize</u>.

- Elfström, M., Davey, M. L., Zedrosser, A., Müller, M., De Barba, M., Støen, O.G., Miquel,C., Taberlet, P., Hackländer, K., & Swenson, J.E. (2014). Do Scandinavian brown bearsapproach settlements to obtain high-quality food? Biological Conservation, 178, 128–135.
- Frank, S. C., Ordiz, A. Gosselin, J., Hertel, A., Kindberg, J., Leclerc, M., Pelletier, F., Steyaert, S. M. J. G., Støen, O.-G., Van de Walle, J., Zedrosser, A., & Swenson J. E. (2017). Indirect effects of bear hunting: a review from Scandinavia. Ursus 28, 150-164.
- Gaynor, K.M., Hojnowski, C.E., Carter, N.H., & Brashares J.S. (2018) The influence of human disturbance on wildlife nocturnality. Science, 80, 1232-1235
- Gotanda, K, Turgeon, K. & Kramer, D.L. (2009). Body size and reserve protection affect flight initiation distance in parrotfishes. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 63, 1563–1572
- Grueber, C. E., Nakagawa, S. Laws, R. J., & Jamieson, I. G. (2011). Multimodel inference in ecology and evolution: challanges and solutions. Journal of Evolutionary Biology 24, 699-711.
- Hebblewhite, M., White, C., Nietvelt, C., McKenzie, J., Hurd, T.E., Fryxell, ..., & Paquet, P.C. (2005). Human activity mediates a trophic cascade caused by wolves. Ecology 86, 2135–2144.
- Lunn, D.J., Thomas, A., Best, N., & Spiegelhalter, D. (2000) WinBUGS A Bayesian modelling framework: Concepts, structure, and extensibility. Statistics and Computing, 10, 325–337.
- Matson, G., Van Daele, L. Goodwin, E. Aumiller, L. Reynolds, H., & Hristienko, H. (1993).A laboratory manual for cementum age determination of Alaska brown bear first premolar teeth. Matson's Laboratory, Milltown, Montana, USA.

- McNight, D.T. & Howell, H.J. (2015). A comparison of the flight initiation distances of male and female American bullfrogs (*Lithobates catesbeianus*) and green frogs (*Lithobates clamitans*). Herpetological Conservation and Biology 10, 137-148.
- Moe, T. F., Kindberg, J., Jansson, I., & Swenson, J. E. (2007). Importance of diel behaviour when studying habitat selection: examples from female Scandinavian brown bears (*Ursus arctos*). Canadian Journal of Zoology 85, 518-525.
- Moen, G. K., Støen, O.-G., Sahlén, V., & Swenson J. E. (2012). Behaviour of solitary adult Scandinavian brown bears (*Ursus arctos*) when approached by humans on foot. Plos One 7:e31699.
- Montgomery, D.C. (2007) Introduction to statistical quality control. John Wiley & Sons.
- Estes, J. A, Terborgh, J., Brashares, J., Power, M. E., Berger, J., Bond, W. J., ..., & Wardle,D.A. (2011). Trophic downgrading of planet earth. Science 333, 301–306.
- Ordiz, A., Støen, O.-G., Langebro, L. G., Brunberg, S., & Swenson, J. E. (2009). A practical method for measuring horizontal cover. Ursus, 20, 109-113.
- Ordiz, A., Støen, O.-G., Delibes, M., & Swenson, J. E. (2011). Predators or prey? Spatiotemporal discrimination of human-derived risk by brown bears. Oecologia, 166, 59-67.
- Ordiz, A., Støen, O.-G., Sæbø, S., Kindberg, J., Delibes, M., & Swenson, J. E. (2012). Do bears know they are being hunted? Biological Conservation, 152, 21-28.
- Ordiz, A., Bischof, R., & Swenson, J.E. (2013) Saving large carnivores, but losing apex predators? Biological Conservation, 168, 128–133.
- Ordiz, A., Støen, O.-G., Sæbø, S., Sahlén, V., Pedersen, B. E., Kindberg, J., & Swenson, J. E. (2013). Lasting behavioural responses of brown bears to experimental encounters with humans. Journal of Applied Ecology, 50, 306-314.
- Ordiz, A., Kindberg, J., Sæbø, S., Swenson, J. E., & Støen, O.-G. (2014). Brown bear circadian behavior reveals human environmental encroachment. Biological Conservation, 173, 1-9.
- Ordiz, A., Støen, O-G. Delibes, M., & Swenson, J. E. (2017). Staying cool or staying safe in a human-dominated landscape: which is more relevant for brown bears? Oecologia, 185, 191–194.
- Penteriani, V., Delgado, M. M., Pinchera, F., Naves, J., Fernández-Gil, A., Kojola, I., ..., & López-Bao, J.V. (2016). Human behaviour triggers large carnivore attacks in developed countries. Scientific Reports, 6, 20552.
- Penteriani, V., López-Bao, J. V., Bettega, C., Dalerum, F., Delgado, M., Jerina, K., Kojola, I., Krofel, M., & Ordiz, A. (2017). Consequences of brown bear viewing tourism: a review. Biological Conservation, 206, 169–180.
- Penteriani, V., Delgado, M. Krofel, M. Jerina, K. Ordiz, A. Dalerum, F. Zarzo-Arias, A., & Bombieri, G. (2018). Evolutionary and ecological traps for brown bears *Ursus arctos* in human-modified landscapes. Mammal Review 48, 180–193.
- Rankin, C. H., Abrams, T., Barry, R. J., Bhatnagar, S., Clayton, D. F., Colombo, J., ..., Thompson, R.F. (2009). Habituation revisited: an updated and revised description of the behavioral characteristics of habituation. Neurobiology of Learning and Memory, 92, 135e138.
- Redpath, S. M., Young, J., Evely, A., Adams, W. M., Sutherland, W. J., Whitehouse, A., ...,
 & Gutiérrez, R.J. (2013). Understanding and managing conservation conflicts. Trends in
 Ecology and Evolution, 28, 100–109.
- Rodríguez-Prieto, I., Martín, J., & Fernández-Juricic, E. (2011). Individual variation in behavioural plasticity: direct and indirect effects of boldness, exploration and sociability on habituation to predators in lizards. Proceeding of the Royal Society B, 278, 266–273.

- Runyan, A.M., & Blumstein, D.T. (2004). Do individual differences influence flight initiation distance? Journal of Wildlife Management, 68, 1124-1129.
- Røskaft, E., Händel, B., Bjerke, T., & Kaltenborn, B. P. (2007). Human attitudes towards large carnivores in Norway. Wildlife biology, 13, 172-185.
- Sahlén, E., Støen, O-G., Swenson, J. E. (2011). Brown bear den site concealment in relation to human activity in Sweden. Ursus, 22, 152–158.
- Sahlén, V., Ordiz, A., Swenson, J. E., & Støen, O-G. (2015). Behavioural differences between single Scandinavian brown bears (*Ursus arctos*) and females with dependent young when experimentally approached by humans. Plos One, 10:e0121576.
- Shamoon, H., Maor, R., Saltz, D., & Dayan, T. (2018) Increased mammal nocturnality in agricultural landscapes results in fragmentation due to cascading effects. Biological Conservation, 226, 32–41.
- Smith, T. S., Oyster, J., Partridge, S. D., Martin, I. E., & Sisson, A. (2012) Assessing American black bear response to human activity at Kenai Fjords National Park, Alaska. Ursus, 23, 179-191.
- Solberg, K. H., Bellemain, E., Drageset, O.-M., Taberlet, P., & Swenson, J. E. (2006). An evaluation of field and non-invasive genetic methods to estimate brown bear (*Ursus arctos*) population size. Biological Conservation, 128, 158-168.
- Støen, O-G., Ordiz, A., Sahlén, V., Arnemo, J. M., Sæbø, S., Mattsing, G., ..., & Swenson, J.E. (2018). Brown bear (*Ursus arctos*) attacks resulting in human casualties in Scandinavia 1977±2016; management implications and recommendations. PLoS ONE 13(5): e0196876.
- Sunde, P., Stener, S. Ø., & Kvam, T. (1998). Tolerance to humans of resting lynxes *Lynx lynx* in a hunted population. Wildlife Biology, 4, 177–183.

- Sweanor, L. L., Logan, K. A., & Hornocker, M. G. (2005). Puma responses to close approaches by researchers. Wildlife Society Bulletin 33, 905–913.
- Swenson, J. E., Schneider, M., Zedrosser, A., Söderberg, A., Franzén, R., & Kindberg, J. (2017). Challenges of managing a European brown bear population; lessons from Sweden, 1943–2013. Wildlife Biology, wlb.00251.
- Thompson, R. F. (2009). Habituation: A History. Neurobiology of Learning and Memory, 91.
- Wam, H.K., Eldegard, K, & Hjeljord, O. (2014). Minor habituation to repeated experimental approaches in Scandinavian wolves. European Journal of Wildlife Research 60, 839–842.
- Whittaker, D., & Knight, R. L. (1998). Understanding wildlife responses to humans. Wildlife Society Bulletin, 26, 312-317.
- Zedrosser, A., Dahle, B., & Swenson, J. E. (2006). Population density and food conditions determine adult female body size in brown bears. Journal of Mammalogy, 87, 510–518.
- Zedrosser, A., Steyaert, S. M. J. G., Gossow, H., & Swenson, J.E. (2011). Brown bear conservation and the ghost of persecution past. Biological Conservation, 144, 2163-2170.
- Zuur, A. F., Ieno, E. N., Walker, N. J., Saveliev, A. A., & Smith, G. M. (2009). Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with R. Springer Science+Business Media, New York, USA.

APPENDIX 1

Table 1A. Candidate models within $\Delta AICc < 10$ for the linear regression model for FID of brown bears during encounters with humans on foot in southcentral Sweden, 2012-2014. The bears were approached every third to forth day three to eight times consecutively. Variables: App# = approach number; Age (adult/subadult); PD = passing distance; SD = sighting distance; Season = preberry/berry season; Sex = male/female; Obs = number of observers.

Mode	l Int	App#	Age	PD	SD	Season	Sex	Obs	df logLik AICc Delta Weight
5	-0.002			0.57					4 -151.719 311.8 0.00 0.53
37	0.065			0.57			+		5 -152.297 315.1 3.33 0.10
7	-0.044		+	0.57					5 -152.470 315.5 3.68 0.08
21	-0.016			0.57		+			5 -152.625 315.8 3.99 0.07
13	-0.004			0.56	0.09				5 -152.734 316.0 4.21 0.06
69	-0.105			0.57				0.053	5 -153.161 316.8 5.06 0.04
39	0.029		+	0.57			+		6 -153.078 318.9 7.10 0.02
23	-0.038		+	0.57		+			6 -153.190 319.1 7.33 0.02
53	0.052	8		0.57		+	+		6 -153.202 319.1 7.35 0.01
45	0.05			0.56	0.08		+		6 -153.416 319.6 7.78 0.01
15	-0.038		+	0.56	0.08				6 -153.531 319.8 8.01 0.01
29	-0.001			0.56	0.09	+			6 -153.644 320.0 8.23 0.01
101	-0.039)		0.57			+	0.056	6 -153.713 320.2 8.37 0.01
71	-0.127	7	+	0.57				0.048	6 -153.952 320.6 8.85 0.01
85	-0.101	1		0.57		+		0.056	6 -154.020 320.8 8.99 0.01
77	-0.01			0.56	0.08			0.045	6 -154.210 321.1 9.37 0.01



Figure 1A: Effect of day light on the daily movement pattern of brown bears (square root of meters per 30 min intervals) in southcentral Sweden, 2012-2014. Increased day light resulted in reduced midday activity and increased nocturnal activity.



Figure 2A. The random effect illustrating the individual variation in the average daily movement pattern of brown bears (square root of meters per 30 min intervals) in southcentral Sweden, 2012-2014.



Figure 3A. Flight initiation distances (FID) of brown bears during encounters with humans on foot in southcentral Sweden, 2012-2014. The bears were approached every third to fourth day, three to eight times consecutively.

Paper IV

Brown bears (*Ursus arctos*) affect the abundance of red wood ants (*Formica rufa* group), a keystone species group in the Swedish boreal forest

Authors and affiliation

Gro Kvelprud Moen¹, Shane Frank², Jonas Kindberg^{3,4}, Tone Birkemoe¹, Göran Ericsson³, Jon E. Swenson^{1,4}, Ole-Gunnar Støen^{4,1}

¹ Faculty of Environmental Sciences and Natural Resource Management, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Postbox 5003, NO-1432 Ås, Norway

² Department of Natural Sciences and Environmental Health, Faculty of Technology, Natural Sciences, and Maritime Sciences, University College of Southeast

Norway, NO-3800 Bø, Norway

³ Department of Wildlife, Fish, and Environmental Studies, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, SE-901 83 Umeå, Sweden

⁴ Norwegian Institute for Nature Research, NO-7485 Trondheim, Norway

Corresponding author:

Gro Kvelprud Moen, Faculty of Environmental Sciences and Natural Resource Management, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Postbox 5003, NO-1432 Ås, Norway, +47 997 21 009, e-mail: gro.moen@nmbu.no

Summary

Red wood ants (Formica rufa group) play an important ecological role and can be characterized as keystone species in the boreal forest. Red wood ants are also an important source of energy for brown bears (Ursus arctos), and bears can excavate a large portion of their anthills every year. Predation from brown bears could thus negatively influence the population size of these keystone species in boreal forests, with cascading consequences for the ecosystem. We examined whether brown bears influenced size and density of anthills in Sweden using distance sampling in two comparable study areas, with high and low densities of brown bears. We also examined whether such an effect from bears on anthills was modified by proximity to human settlements, which bears avoid, using three distance categories. We found that anthills of the F. rufa group, which includes species preferred by bears, were half the height in the area with a high density of brown bears compared to the area with a low density, but there was no difference in size of anthills from the Coptoformica subgenus, which includes species not preferred by bears. In an area with high density of bears, anthills were larger in close proximity to settlements (0-500 m) which are areas bears avoid compared with areas farther away (500-1,500 m and >1,500 m). However, there was no significant difference in the density of anthills between the two areas with different bear density, nor with distances to settlements. As the size of the anthills can be used as proxy for the number of ants in each anthill, our results suggest that bears reduce the population size of preferred ant species. Because F. rufa group ants are keystone species in the boreal forest and influence other species in the ecosystem, bear predation may have cascading consequences on the ecosystem.

Keywords

Ants, trophic cascading effects, ecosystem effects, ecosystem functionality, myrmecophagy, predation

Introduction

Anthills are well known structures in the boreal forest and can become more than 100 years old (Douwes et al. 2012). Anthill-building red wood ants (*Formica rufa* group) play an important ecological role, and can be characterized as keystone species in the boreal forest (Stockan and Robinson 2016), having disproportionate effects on ecosystems, due to their predation on invertebrates (e.g., Domisch et al. 2009), mutualistic relationship with aphids (Stockan and Robinson 2016, and references therein), contribution to nutrient cycling (Domisch et al. 2009, Wardle et al. 2011, Finér et al. 2013), and seed dispersal/removal (myrmecochory) (e.g., Gorb and Gorb 1999).

The omnivorous Scandinavian brown bear (*Ursus arctos*) preys on ants, with peak consumption of ants during spring and summer (Swenson et al. 1999, Stenset et al. 2016). Accordingly, ants are important to bears, as they are a reliable food source (Swenson et al. 1999, Stenset et al. 2016), and have a high lipid content compared to other food sources (Coogan et al. 2014). Scandinavian brown bears prey mainly on anthill-building species (i.e. *Formica* spp., Linnaeus 1758) and the wood-living ant *Camponotus herculeanus* (Linnaeus 1758) (e.g., Dahle et al. 1998, Swenson et al. 1999, Elfström et al. 2014, Frank et al. 2015, Stenset et al. 2016). During spring, about 20% of the energy in the diet of bears comes from ants, and more than 80% of this is *Formica* spp. (Stenset et al. 2016). Among the *Formica* spp., the anthills of *F*. (*F*.) *aquilonia* (Yarrow, 1955) and *F*. (*F*.) *polyctena* (Förster, 1850) are excavated by bears more often than expected, whereas *F*. (*F*.) *lugubris* (Zetterstedt, 1838)

and *F*. (*C*.) *exsecta* (Nylander, 1846), a species in the *Coptoformica* (Müller, 1923) subgenus, is not preferred by Scandinavian brown bears (Swenson et al. 1999).

In Scandinavia, Elgmork and Unander (1999) found that brown bears excavated 44% of the anthills they encountered along their tracks springtime in southeastern Norway, and Swenson et al. (1999) found that brown bears excavated on average 23% of the anthills each year in southcentral Sweden. Swenson et al. (1999) also estimated that bears consumed 4,000 to 5,000 ants from each anthill they excavated. Elgmork and Unander (1999) found that the bears' excavation depth ranged from just scratches on the surface to >50 cm into the anthill, with an average depth of 24 cm. The anthills were on average 94 cm high, hence, the average excavation depth was about 25% of the anthill height, and depth increased with volume of the anthill, so that bears often reached the central parts of the anthills (Elgmork and Unander 1999). The central parts of the anthill is important for the brood development in the anthills (Stockan and Robinson 2016), and the excavation of an anthill could therefore influence the development of workers in the colony. Thus, in addition to the number of ants consumed by a bear during a predation event, the disturbance to the anthill itself could be an additional cost to the colony. In addition to the use of ants as a food resource, bears can also use anthills as day beds (Elgmork and Unander 1999). Inactive anthills are frequently used as denning sites by Scandinavian brown bears (Manchi and Swenson 2005).

Anthill-building ants are also preyed upon or disturbed by other species than the brown bear, such as black woodpecker (*Dryocopus martius*) (Rolstad et al. 1998), green woodpecker (*Picus viridis*) (Rolstad et al. 2000), wild boar (*Sus scrofa*) (Zakharov and Zakharov 2011, Rybnikova and Kuznetsov 2015), and grouse species (e.g., capercaillie (*Tetrao urogallus*)) (Zakharov and Zakharov 2011). In two reserves in the Moscow and Arkhangelsk provinces in

Russia, wild boars, brown bears and grouse species were found to predate and disturb anthills of the *F. rufa* group extensively (Zakharov and Zakharov 2011). An effect of this disturbance may have been an increase in the occurrence of mixed colonies between different *F. rufa* group species (Zakharov and Zakharov 2011). Another study from Russia investigated the influence of wild boar on various *Formica* species, and found that increased disturbance, caused by a redistribution of wild boars during flooding, lead to a decrease in numbers and the size of anthills (Rybnikova and Kuznetsov 2015).

Scandinavian brown bears avoid settlements and use rugged terrain farther from settlements more than expected (Nellemann et al. 2007, Martin et al. 2010), but this depends on if it is a female with dependent offspring or a solitary bear and season (Nellemann et al. 2007, Steyaert et al. 2013). A previous study on Scandinavian brown bears found that females with cubs used areas between approximately 500 m and 1,500 m from settlements more than expected during the mating season (Steyaert et al. 2013). All categories of bears avoided areas closer to settlements, and all categories of bears used areas farther from settlements more than expected during the post-mating season (Steyaert et al. 2013). This avoidance of areas close to settlements by bears could result in less predation on ants in these areas.

Because ants are an important source of energy to bears and bears can excavate large portions of the anthills in an area (e.g., Elgmork and Unander 1999, Swenson et al. 1999, Zakharov and Zakharov 2011), we hypothesized that predation from brown bears would negatively influence the population size of red wood ants (*F. rufa* group), which includes ant species preferred by bears in boreal forests. We predicted that areas with a high density of bears would have fewer and smaller anthills from *F. rufa* group, compared to areas with no or few bears. We also predicted that this effect would be less pronounced or absent in anthill-

building species not preferred by bears, e.g., *Coptoformica* spp. Because bears avoid humans, we also predicted that human presence would modify this effect in areas with a high density of bears, in which bears would not influence the number and size of anthills from the *F. rufa* group in areas closer to human settlements, whereas this effect would be less pronounced or absent for *Coptoformica* spp. We tested our hypothesis using distance sampling of *F. rufa* group and *Coptoformica* spp. anthills in two comparable study areas in southcentral Sweden, with high and low densities of brown bears, and at varying distances to human settlements in a larger third study area with a high density of bears.

Methods

Study areas

To contrast the effect of bear density on anthill density and size, we conducted distance sampling of anthills in two study areas with similar habitat characteristics, but with high and low bear densities. To delineate study areas, we first used the locations of hunter-killed and other dead bears (Swedish Environmental Protection Agency 2017) and a bear density index (Frank et al. 2018) to find areas of relatively high and low bear densities. We then used Swedish Land Cover Data (Swedish National Land Survey) and elevation data (Swedish National Land Survey) in ArcGis version 10.1 (ESRI 2012), and compiled temperature and precipitation data (Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute 2017a, b, c) to find areas of high and low bear densities that were similar in topographic and environmental features. The selected areas were study area A, with a high density of bears, situated in Dalarna and Gävleborg counties in southcentral Sweden (center of the study area: 61.5°N, 15.0°E), and study area B, with a low density of bears, situated in northern Värmland county in southcentral Sweden (center of the study area: 60.5°N, 12.9°E) (Fig. 1). A miniscule part of study area B, including one transect, was located in Hedmark County in Norway. Each of

the two study areas covered 625 km² (25*25 km) and were located approximately 130 km apart. To test the prediction that human presence could modulate an observable impact of bears on anthill abundance and/or size, we conducted distance sampling in a third study area (study area C), overlapping study area A, in Dalarna and Gävleborg counties in southcentral Sweden (Fig. 1), with a high density of bears. Study area C was 3,900 km² (65*60 km).

Study areas A and C are located in the southern core area of the brown bear population in Scandinavia (e.g., Manel et al. 2004). In 2017, the total estimated population size in the two counties Gävleborg (18,199 km²) and Dalarna (28,189 km²) and areas south of these was 841 (772-945; 95% confidence intervals) bears (Kindberg and Swenson 2018). Study area B had a considerably lower density of brown bears than study area A and C, as it was located southwest of the main occurrence of the brown bears (e.g., Manel et al. 2004). The area has previously been inhabited by bears, but following a near extirpation of the bear population in Scandinavia in the 19th century, the population has not reestablished (Swenson et al. 1995, Xenikoudakis et al. 2015). The population in Värmland County (17,591 km²), in which study area B is located, was estimated to be 17 bears in 2013 (Kindberg and Swenson 2014), and only 11 different individuals were identified using DNA from scats in 2017 (Swedish Museum of Natural History 2017). Other consumers of ants, like the green woodpecker (Artdatabanken 2017b) and black woodpecker (Artdatabanken 2017a) are resident in all three study areas, whereas wild boars, are not present in any of the three study areas (Artdatabanken 2017c).

All three study areas consisted mainly of coniferous forest dominated by Norway spruce (*Picea abies*), Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*), clear-cuts/young forest, and bogs (Table 1). Study area B consisted of a slightly higher proportion of mixed forest than study area A

(5% compared to 1.3%, Table 1), but the tree species composition was similar, although study area B contained a small proportion of lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*) (Swedish Forest Agency). Other important tree species in the areas were birches (*Betula pubescens* and *B. pendula*) and aspen (*Populus tremula*). The forest is heavily managed in all study areas, with an extensive system of forestry roads, and the study areas are sparsely inhabited (Table 2). Mean temperature is -7°C to -8°C in January, and 15°C in July (Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute 2017b, a), and annual mean precipitation ranges from 600 to 900 mm (Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological and Hydrological Institute 2017c) (Table 2). The landscape is hilly, and most of the area has an inclination of 0 - 15%. Altitudes range from 175 m to 730 m (Table 2), and all three study areas are located below the timberline (~750 m) (Dahle and Swenson 2003). The study areas consist of 38 - 43% south- and west-facing terrain (Swedish National Land Survey). See Table 2 for a detailed comparison of the environmental variables in the different study areas.



Figure 1: Top panel: Location of transects in study area A, study area B and study area C (all strata combined) during distance sampling of anthills in southcentral Sweden in 2016 and 2017. Bottom panel: Study area A, B and C in southcentral Sweden. Grey squares indicate DNA samples identified as male brown bears, and white circles indicate DNA-samples identified as female brown bears during the last survey in Dalarna and Gävleborg counties, where samples also were collected from areas south of these two counties (Kindberg and Swenson 2018).

	Α	В	С
Deciduous forest	0.1%	2.1%	0.7%
Coniferous forest	62.5%	61.3%	55.9%
Mixed forest	1.3%	5.0%	2.5%
Clear-cuts/young forest	16.1%	20.0%	22.6%
Bogs	13.6%	8.3%	10.9%
Water/lakes	6.1%	2.9%	6.4%
Settlements	0.1%	0.1%	0.4%
Agricultural land	0.3%	0.3%	0.7%

Table 1: Distribution of different habitat classes in study area A, B and C based on Swedish Land Cover Data given in percent of total study area. (Data source: Swedish National Land Survey).

Table 2: Environmental variables in each of the three study areas (A, B and C) where distance sampling was conducted in southcentral Sweden in 2016 and 2017 (Data sources: *Swedish National Land Survey, ^DStatistics Sweden, ‡Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, †Frank et al. 2018).

	А	В	С
Km road/km ² (mean ± SD)*	1.1 ± 0.8	1.1 ± 0.8	1.2 ± 0.9
Inhabitants/km ² (mean \pm SD) ^a	0.06 ± 0.68	0.25 ± 1.36	0.88 ± 7.55
Mean temperature (°C) January ‡	-7°C	-8° C	-7°C
Mean temperature (°C) July ‡	15°C	15°C	15°C
Mean annual precipitation (mm) ‡	600-800 mm	700-900 mm	600-800 mm
Inclination: 0-15% *	97%	85%	95%
Altitude (m a.s.l.) *	230-650	175-600	170-730
South- and west-facing terrain*	38%	43%	41%
Density of bears †	High	Low	High

Data collection

Study areas A and B

We conducted distance sampling of both active and inactive anthills in study areas A and B between 13 July and 9 August 2016. Two observers surveyed 25 transects in each study area by foot, following the protocol of Buckland et al. (2001). Each transect was 1000 m long, except for two transects, one in each study area, which were 950 m and 960 m and terminated too early due to misinterpretation of the endpoint in the field. The transects were shaped as 250*250 m square circuits to reduce transportation time (Buckland et al. 2001). The location of the transects followed a systematic grid, in which the grid was oriented using one random starting position in each study area (e.g., Buckland et al. 2001, Thomas et al. 2010) (Fig. 1).

These positions functioned as the southwestern corner of one circuit in each study area. The southwestern corners of the remaining circuits were located in a grid, 5 km apart, and we surveyed all circuits located or partly located within the study area. We surveyed the circuits where parts of the line were outside the study area without adjustments to fit the whole circuit within the study area.

Study area C

Two observers conducted distance sampling of active anthills on transect in three different strata in study area C between 13 July to 10 August 2017, following the same protocol as for study areas A and B (Buckland et al. 2001). The three strata were defined according to distance to settlements (data from the Swedish Land Cover Data (Swedish National Land Survey)) and based on knowledge of how the bears use the landscape in relation to settlements (e.g., Steyaert et al. 2013); stratum 1: 0-500 m from settlements (20 transect lines), stratum 2: 500-1,500 m from settlements (20 transect lines), and stratum 3: >1,500 m from settlements (20 transect lines). Each of the 60 transects was 600 m long, and the lines were shaped as 150*150 m square circuits to reduce transportation time.

In all three strata, the transects were randomly placed with no overlap of the square circuits within coniferous and mixed forest, and >50-m away from roads, to avoid possible edge effects (Sorvari and Hakkarainen 2005), using ArcGis version 10.1 (ESRI 2012) and Swedish Land Cover Data (Swedish National Land Survey). We selected 20 permanently inhabited settlements within study area C using the Swedish Land Cover Data (Swedish National Land Survey). Only permanently inhabited settlements were used to avoid settlements consisting of only summer houses and to insure a similar level of human activity among the settlements. The number of inhabitants in each settlement varied from about 10 to 350. In strata 1 and 2,

one transect was placed within the available forest habitat near each of these 20 settlements, whereas 20 random positions were selected within all available forest habitat in stratum 3 (Fig. 1). Random positions were placed within the available forested habitat patches in the three strata, and these positions functioned as the southwestern corner of the transects. If parts of the square circuit fell outside a forested patch, the square circuit was moved clockwise until it could fit the patch. If this could not be achieved, a new random position was selected within the same stratum until the square circuit were fitted within a forested patch.

Study areas A, B, and C

We started the survey at any point of the transect and walked the square circuits clockwise. The transects were assigned randomly to one of the two observers, who were trained in the methodology before the survey started. In 2016, we started the survey in study area A, and surveyed study area B, before finishing the survey in study area A. In 2017, we surveyed transects in all three strata in study area C throughout the field season, with a predominance of strata 1 and 2 during the first 7 days. This was done to minimize the influence of a change in the observers' experience throughout the fieldwork. Time spent searching for anthills along the transects was adjusted to the terrain and habitat type, i.e., increased in areas with denser vegetation or more obstacles at or close to the transect. We could leave the transect to search for anthills if the terrain and sighting distance necessitated it, as suggested by Borkin et al. (2012).

We recorded the habitat types we traversed throughout the transect, based on Karlsson et al. (1991). We recorded habitat types into the following categories for use in the analyses: clearcuts (K1 and K2 following Karlsson et al. 1991), young forest (R1 and R2 following Karlsson et al. 1991), secondary thinning (G1 following Karlsson et al. 1991), mature forest

(old G1 and S1 following Karlsson et al. 1991), tree-rich bogs (TRB and B following Karlsson et al. 1991), water, and other (I and R following Karlsson et al. 1991). The observers used a handheld GPS receiver (Garmin GPSmap60CSx (Garmin Ltd., USA)) to record the tracklog of the transects, the start of each habitat type throughout the transect lines, and the position of each anthill. The length of the transect in each habitat type was calculated based on these positions.

When we detected an anthill, we recorded the perpendicular distance from the transect to the center of the anthill (5 cm accuracy), the status of the anthill (active or inactive), and whether it was intact or visibly disturbed. We considered the anthill as inactive if we could not count more than 10 ants on the surface of the anthill after gently disturbing its surface. The cause of the disturbance of anthills was determined by visual inspection, where e.g., removed building material from the top of the anthill and building material moved from the anthill to the ground indicated disturbance by bears (Elgmork 1999). Other vertebrates, like woodpeckers, make other and less invasive disturbances to anthills (Elgmork 1999), and were categorized as 'other disturbances'. Temperatures during the surveys ranged from 10 C° to 25 C°, which are temperatures when ants are typically active, and we only needed to revisit three anthills, because the weather or low temperature made it difficult to determine whether the anthill was active or not at the first visit. All anthills were measured; height in the four cardinal directions and the longest and shortest diameter (major and minor axis) of the base (1 cm accuracy). We used the average of the recorded heights in the analysis. We calculated volume as half an ellipsoid (e.g., Risch et al. 2005). If there was either tree stumps or rocks in or at the side of the anthill, or the anthills were not intact due to disturbance, and the measurements would not represent the size of the anthills, the anthills were not used in the analysis of height

and volume. We used Wilcoxon rank-sum tests and Two-sample t-tests to test for differences in anthill heights and volume (α -level = 0.05).

We collected 10 ant specimens from each active anthill and put them in Eppendorf tubes containing 70% ethanol for later species identification in the laboratory, using the Encyclopedia of the Swedish Flora and Fauna (Douwes et al. 2012). All identified ants belonged to the *Formica* (Forel, 1913) genus, and subgenera *Formica* (Linnaeus, 1758), *Coptoformica*, or *Raptoformica* (Forel, 1913). Species in the *F. rufa* group (e.g., *F. (F.) aquilonia, F. (F.) polyctena, F. (F.) lugubris, F. (F.) pratensis* (Reitzius, 1783), and *F. (F.) rufa* (Linnaeus, 1761)) are difficult to distinguish and was classified as one group, hereafter named the *F. rufa* group (Douwes et al. 2012, Stockan and Robinson 2016). Anthills from the *Coptoformica* subgenus (e.g., *F. (C.) exsecta, F. (C.) suecica* (Adlerz, 1902), and *F. (C.) pressilabris* (Nylander, 1846) /*F. (C.) foreli* (Bondroit, 1918)) was classified as another group, hereafter named *Coptoformica* spp.

Nests of *F. (F.) truncorum* (Fabricius, 1804) of the *Formica* subgenus were excluded from our analysis, because they do not build true anthills (Rosengren et al. 1979). The ant species *F. (R.) sanguinea* (Latreille 1798) of the *Raptoformica* subgenus were also excluded from our analysis, due to few recorded anthills. Two anthills in study area A and four anthills in study area C were not included in the analysis, because we failed to collect specimens from the anthills or the numbering of the tubes was mixed.

Data analysis

We used the R package 'Distance' (Miller 2017) to estimate the density of the *F. rufa* group anthills in each study area and strata. We analyzed the data with a full geographic

stratification, i.e. we used specific detection functions for study area A and B, and all three strata in study area C. The data was truncated in field at 15 m to avoid including observations at long distances and ensure good model fit (Buckland et al. 2001). The correlation between height of anthills and distance from the transect line was low (Study area A: Kendall's rank correlation: $\tau = 0.07$, z = 1.245, p-value = 0.213. Study area B: $\tau = 0.13$, z = 1.963, p-value = 0.050. Study area C, stratum 1: $\tau = 0.06$, z = 0.753, p-value = 0.451. Study area C, stratum 2: $\tau = 0.13$, z = 1.766, p-value = 0.077. Study area C, stratum 3: $\tau = 0.18$, z = 2.295, p-value = 0.022), indicating that the size bias for the recorded anthills with distance from the transects was minimal. To test for differences in density between F. rufa group anthills in study area A and B, and the three strata in study area C, we followed the method described in Buckland et al. (2001, pp. 84-86). Detectability can be influenced by different factors related to the transect lines or the objects, and we treated observer identity and habitat category as covariates when fitting the models for the detection functions (Marques et al. 2007, Buckland et al. 2015). We fitted possible models and used \triangle AIC to select the best model for the detection function, ensuring that the selected model had a good fit to the data by performing Cramér-von Mises tests (Buckland et al. 2001). R software (R Core Team 2018) were used for all statistical analysis.

In study areas A and B, the *F*. *rufa* group anthills were recorded on average 5.85 ± 4.25 m (mean \pm SD) from the transect (study area A: 4.80 ± 4.09 m, study area B: 6.71 ± 4.21 m). The best model for the detection function for *F*. *rufa* group, with the lowest \triangle AIC and good fit, was a hazard-rate key function with no adjustment terms for study area A (Cramér-von Mises; p-value = 0.876) (Table 1A, in Appendix 1), and a half-normal key function with no adjustment terms and observers as covariate in study area B (Cramér-von Mises; p-value = 0.286) (Table 2A, in Appendix 1). The effective strip half-width was 5.23 ± 1.53 m (estimate

± SE) in study area A and 10.76 ± 1.08 m in study area B. In study area C, the *F. rufa* group anthills were recorded on average 6.12 ± 3.81 m from the transects (stratum 1: 6.36 ± 3.68 m, stratum 2: 6.10 ± 4.21 m, stratum 3: 5.87 ± 3.44 m). In study area C, the best model for the detection function for *F. rufa* group in stratum 1, with the lowest Δ AIC and good fit, was a uniform key function with two polynomial adjustment terms (Cramér-von Mises; p-value = 0.353) (Table 3A in Appendix 1). The effective strip half-width was 10.41 ± 0.91 m. The best model for the detection function for *F. rufa* group in stratum 2, with the lowest Δ AIC and good fit, was a uniform key function with cosine adjustment terms (Cramér-von Mises; p-value = 0.597) (Table 4A in Appendix 1). The effective strip half-width was 10.31 ± 1.08 m. The best model for the detection function for *F. rufa* group in stratum 3, with the lowest Δ AIC and good fit, was a hazard-rate key function with no adjustment terms (Cramér-von Mises; p-value = 0.294) (Table 5A in Appendix 1). The effective strip half-width was 9.99 ± 1.33 m.

Results

Anthill records along the transects

We recorded 255 active and 90 inactive anthills ≤ 15 m from 49.9 km of transects in study area A and B, and 256 active anthills ≤ 15 m from 36 km of transects in study area C (Table 3). Active anthills were recorded along all transects, except one in study area A and two in study area B. In study area C we did not record any active anthills along five transects in stratum 1, two in stratum 2, and three in stratum 3.

The habitat category 'Secondary thinning' was the most common category surveyed, with 37% (9.16 km) in study area A and 52% (12.94 km) in study area B (Tables 3 & 4). Scots pine was most often the dominating tree-species within this habitat category in study area A,

whereas Norway spruce was the most dominant tree species in study area B (Table 4). The differences in habitat types and tree species dominance were minimal among the strata in study area C.

In study areas A and B 7.5% of the active anthills had been disturbed, whereas 17% of the active anthills were disturbed in study area C (Table 5). Disturbance to anthills by bears were only found in study areas A and C.

Table 3: Kilometers walked in each habitat category (25 transects of 1 km in study area A and B, and 20 transects of 600 m in each strata in study area C) and the number of active and identified anthills per group of species recorded in each of the habitat categories in each of the three study areas (A, B and C:1(stratum 1 in study area C), C:2 (stratum 2 in study area C) and C:3 (stratum 3 in study area C)) during distance sampling of anthills in southcentral Sweden in 2016 and 2017. In study area C, stratum 1: 0-500 m from settlements, stratum 2: 500-1,500 m from settlements, and stratum 3: farther than 1,500 m from settlements. *Formica rufa* group: *F. aquilonia, F. polyctena, F. lugubris, F. pratensis* and *F. rufa. Coptoformica* spp.: e.g., *F. exsecta*, F. *suecica and F. pressilabris.* Other *Formica* species: *F. truncorum, F. sanguinea*. Habitat categories: Sec.th.is Secondary thinning, Trb is Tree-rich bogs.

		Clear- cuts	Young forest	Sec.th	Mature forest	Trb	Bogs	Water	Other	Total
А	Length of transect (km)	1.43	5.97	9.16	1.52	3.49	0.91	1.54	0.99	25.0
	Formica rufa group	6	24	35	3	4	0	0	0	72
	Coptoformica spp.	0	28	3	1	16	0	0	0	48
	Other Formica species	0	22	2	1	1	0	0	0	26
	Inactive	0	21	19	3	10	0	0	3	56
В	Length of transects (km)	0.60	4.63	12.94	2.56	2.75	0.26	0.64	0.54	24.9
	Formica rufa group	1	10	62	11	3	0	0	1	88
	Coptoformica spp.	0	8	3	0	4	0	0	1	16
	Other Formica species	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	3
	Inactive	2	6	14	10	2	0	0	0	34
C:1	Length of transect (km)	1.23	1.95	5.60	2.17	0.32	0.17	0.18	0.38	12.0
	Formica rufa group	2	9	33	14	0	0	0	1	59
	Coptoformica spp.	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
	Other Formica species	0	13	0	0	0	0	0	0	13
C:2	Length of transect (km)	1.84	1.59	5.79	2.50	0.15	0.03	0.01	0.09	12.0
	Formica rufa group	16	6	25	19	0	0	0	0	66
	Coptoformica spp.	0	3	9	0	0	0	0	0	12
	Other Formica species	6	9	0	0	0	0	0	1	16
C:3	Length of transect (km)	1.42	2.72	6.03	1.21	0.37	0.06	0.02	0.16	12.0
	Formica rufa group	4	13	34	1	0	0	0	0	52
	Coptoformica spp.	1	14	9	0	0	0	0	0	24
	Other Formica species	2	4	2	0	0	0	0	0	8

Table 4: Kilometers walked in forest category 'Secondary thinning' divided into pine-dominated forest (*Pinus sylvestris*), spruce-dominated forest (*Picea abies*), deciduous-dominated forest (mainly *Betula pubescens*, *B. pendula*, and *Populus tremula*) and mixed forest in 25 transects of 1 km in study area A and B, and 20 transects of 600 m in each strata in study area C during distance sampling of anthills in southcentral Sweden in 2016 and 2017. In study area C, stratum 1: 0-500 m from settlements, stratum 2: 500-1,500 m from settlements, and stratum 3: farther than 1,500 m from settlements.

	Pine forest	Spruce forest	Deciduous forest	Mixed forest	NA	Total
Study area A	6.10	0.89	0.02	2.15	0.00	9.16
Study area B	2.06	6.02	0.14	4.70	0.01	12.94
Study area C: Stratum 1	2.02	0.18	0.18	3.21	0.00	5.60
Study area C: Stratum 2	3.01	0.42	0.00	2.36	0.00	5.79
Study area C: Stratum 3	3.68	0.45	0.02	1.87	0.00	6.03

Table 5: Active and inactive anthills disturbed by brown bears and other species or causes combined along transects in 25 transects of 1 km in study area A and B, and 20 transects of 600 m in each strata in study area C during distance sampling of anthills in southcentral Sweden in 2016 and 2017. In study area C, stratum 1: 0-500 m from settlements, stratum 2: 500-1,500 m from settlements, and stratum 3: farther than 1,500 m from settlements.

	Activity	No. Anthills	Disturbed by bears	Other disturbances	Unknown disturbances
Study area A	Active	148	9	0	7
	Inactive	56	5	3	16
Study area B	Active	107	0	0	3
	Inactive	34	0	7	3
Study area C					
Stratum 1	Active	76	4	0	5
Stratum 2	Active	95	8	0	12
Stratum 3	Active	85	7	0	8

Anthill density, height, and volume in study areas A and B

The densities of *F*. *rufa* group anthills were not significantly different between study areas A and B (z = 1.14, p-value = 0.253) (Table 6). However, the height of the anthills in the *F*. *rufa* group were significantly lower in study area A (36 ± 17 cm (mean \pm SD)), median = 35 cm, range: 8 – 93 cm, n = 70) compared to study area B (67 ± 34 cm, median = 62 cm, range: 10 - 198 cm, n = 88) (Wilcoxon rank-sum test: W = 1238, p-value <0.001) (Fig. 2), and also smaller in volume in study area A (205 ± 308 dm³, median = 121 dm³, range: 2 - 1899 dm³, n = 64) compared to study area B (731 ± 1061 dm³, median = 300 dm³, range 5 - 6370 dm³, n = 87) (Wilcoxon rank-sum test: W = 1516.5, p-value <0.001).

The same difference was seen when comparing *F. rufa* group anthills recorded only in the forest category 'Secondary thinning' (Height: W: 488.5, p-value <0.001. Volume: W = 641.5, p-value = 0.002); anthills were taller and larger in study area B (Height: 68 ± 35 cm, median = 62 cm, n = 62, Volume: 690 ± 1094 dm³, median = 287 dm³, n = 51) than in study area A (Height: 40 ± 16 cm, median = 38 cm, n = 35.Volume: 249 ± 343 dm³, median = 132 dm³, n = 34). The difference was similar for *F. rufa* group anthills found in pine-dominated forests of the habitat category 'Secondary thinning', where anthills in study area A (40 ± 16 cm, median = 38 cm, n = 23) were lower than anthills in study area B (58 ± 14 cm, median = 60 cm, n = 13) (W = 55, p-value = 0.002). However, in 'Secondary thinning' stands in spruce dominated forest, we only recorded four *F. rufa* group anthills in study area A, and we did therefore not test for differences in anthills between study areas A and B.

Table 6: Density estimates of *Formica rufa* group anthills per ha in study area A and study area B in southcentral Sweden. SE: standard error of the density, cv: percent coefficient of variation, lcl: lower confidence level, ucl: upper confidence level, df: degrees of freedom (df).

	Estimate	SE	cv	lcl	ucl	df
Study area A	2.75	0.90	0.33	1.46	5.19	92.85
Study area B	1.64	0.36	0.22	1.05	2.55	37.10



Figure 2: Height of *Formica rufa* group anthills in study area A (n = 72) and B (n = 88) recorded during distance sampling of anthills in southcentral Sweden in 2016, and in study area C, stratum 1 (C:1; 0-500 m from settlements, n = 59), study area C, stratum 2 (C:2; 500-1,500 m from settlements, n = 66) and study area C, stratum 3 (C:3; >1,500 m from settlements, n = 52) recorded during distance sampling of anthills in southcentral Sweden in 2017. Study areas A and C had a high density of brown bears, whereas the density was low in study area B.

The mean heights of *Coptoformica* spp. anthills was not significantly different between study areas A and B (W = 255, p-value = 0.087); but there was a trend that the anthills in study area B were higher (28 ± 13 cm, median = 24 cm, range: 14 – 65 cm, n = 16) than study area A (23 ± 9 cm, median = 20 cm, range: 9 - 49 cm, n = 45). However, the volume of *Coptoformica* spp. anthills was not significantly different between these study areas (Study area A: 22 ± 23 dm³, median = 14 dm³, n = 42. Study area B: 31 ± 34 dm³, median = 20 dm³, n = 15) (W = 260.5, p-value = 0.390). Due to few records, density of *Coptoformica* spp. anthills was not calculated. Overall, anthills of the *F. rufa* group were significantly higher $(53 \pm 32 \text{ cm}, \text{ median} = 46 \text{ cm}, \text{ range: } 8 - 198 \text{ cm}, n = 158)$ than those of *Coptoformica* spp. $(24 \pm 10 \text{ cm}, \text{ median} = 22 \text{ cm}, \text{ range: } 9 - 65 \text{ cm}, n = 61)$ (W = 1659.5, p-value <0.001). The volume of the *F. rufa* group anthills were $508 \pm 868 \text{ dm}^3$ (median = 205 dm³, range: 2 - 6370 dm³, n = 151) and *Coptoformica* spp. anthills were $24 \pm 26 \text{ dm}^3$ (median = 16 dm³, range: 1 - 132 dm³, n = 56), which were significantly different (W = 752, p-value <0.001). Mean height and volume for all active anthills were significantly correlated (Kendall rank correlation tau (paired): $\tau = 0.772, z = 17.25, p-value: <0.001$).

The inactive anthills did not differ in height from the active anthills in either study area A or B (study area A: W = 2778.5, p-value = 0.675; study area B: W = 1376.5, p-value = 0.511), but, similar to the active anthills, the inactive anthills in study area A were lower $(31 \pm 19 \text{ cm}, \text{median} = 27 \text{ cm}, \text{range: } 7 - 73 \text{ cm}, \text{n} = 43)$ than the inactive anthills in study area B (55 ± 34 cm, median = 50 cm, range: 6 - 145, n = 28) (W = 320, p-value <0.001).

Anthill density, height and volume in study area C:

The density of *F. rufa* group anthills in stratum 1 was not significantly different from the density in stratum 2 (z = -0.40, p-value = 0.689) or stratum 3 (z = 0.21, p-value = 0.836), and the density in stratum 2 was not different from density in stratum 3 (z = 0.59, p-value = 0.556) (Table 7).

Table 7: Density estimates of *Formica rufa* group anthills per ha in strata 1, 2, and 3 in southcentral Sweden. Estimates obtained with specific detection function for each stratum. Stratum 1: 0-500 m from settlements, Stratum 2: 500-1,500 m from settlements, Stratum 3: farther than 1,500 m from settlements. SE: standard error of the density, cv: percent coefficient of variation, lcl: lower confidence level, ucl: upper confidence level, df: degrees of freedom (df).

	Estimate	SE	cv	lcl	ucl	df
Stratum 1	2.32	0.53	0.23	1.46	3.69	25.87
Stratum 2	2.67	0.67	0.25	1.60	4.44	27.34
Stratum 3	2.17	0.52	0.24	1.35	3.49	37.3

The *F. rufa* group anthills in stratum 1 were significantly higher $(48 \pm 21 \text{ cm}, \text{median} = 46 \text{ cm}, \text{range: } 14 - 98 \text{ cm}, n = 59)$ than those in stratum 2 ($37 \pm 17 \text{ cm}, \text{median} = 34 \text{ cm},$ range: 10 - 80, n = 65) (W = 2538, p-value = 0.002), but not in stratum 3 ($46 \pm 20 \text{ cm},$ median = 43 cm, range: 14 - 102 cm, n = 44) (W = 1366, p-value = 0.6527) (Fig. 2). The *F. rufa* group anthills in stratum 3 were significantly higher than the *F. rufa* group anthills in stratum 1 were also significantly higher than the *F. rufa* group anthills in stratum 1 were also significantly higher than the *F. rufa* group anthills in stratu 1 were 0.022). We found the same pattern for volume, as *F. rufa* group anthills in strata 1 ($478 \pm 505 \text{ dm}^3$, median = 270 dm^3, range: $6 - 2291 \text{ dm}^3$, n = 53) were significantly larger than those in stratum 2 (292 ± 390 , median = 129 dm^3 , range: $2 - 2238 \text{ dm}^3$, n = 52) (W = 1744, p-value = 0.019), but not stratum 3 ($473 \pm 419 \text{ dm}^3$, median = 414 dm^3, range: $4 - 2067 \text{ dm}^3$, n = 36) (W = 889, p-value = 0.590).

The *F. rufa* group anthills in all strata in study area C combined were significantly lower than the *F. rufa* group anthills registered in study area B (W = 10,626, p-value <0.001) and study area A (W = 4598, p-value = 0.008) (Fig. 2). However, when only combining stratum 2 and 3 in study area C, *F. rufa* group anthills were not significantly different from *F. rufa* group anthills in study area A (W = 3292.5, p-value = 0.123), but still smaller than those in study area B (W = 7164.5, p-value <0.001).

F. rufa group anthills $(43 \pm 20 \text{ cm}, \text{median} = 42 \text{ cm}, \text{range: } 10 - 102 \text{ cm}, \text{n} = 168)$ were higher than the *Coptoformica* spp. anthills $(28 \pm 13 \text{ cm}, \text{median} = 28 \text{ cm}, \text{range: } 5 - 60 \text{ cm},$ n = 36) (W = 1704, p-value <0.001). The *Coptoformica* spp. anthills did not differ in height between stratum 2 (31 ± 17 cm, median = 36 cm, n = 12) and stratum 3 (28 ± 10 cm, median = 28 cm, n = 23) (Two-sample t-test: t = 0.537, df = 15.5, p-value = 0.599), nor in volume (Stratum 2: $58 \pm 63 \text{ dm}^3$, median = 39 dm^3 , n = 12. Stratum 3: $41 \pm 42 \text{ dm}^3$, median = 33 dm^3 , n = 20) (Two-sample t-test: t = 0.828, df = 16.9, p-value = 0.419). We did not record enough *Coptoformica* spp. anthills in stratum 1 (n = 2) to test this group against the other strata.

Discussion

In line with our hypothesis, the results indicated that brown bears influence the population of red wood ants in boreal forests by reducing the size, but not the density, of anthills of the preferred red wood ant species. We found that anthills of the F. rufa group were significantly smaller, on average half the height and size, in the area with a high density of bears compared with the area with no or few bears. Our results also show that F. rufa group anthills were taller and larger in the stratum near people (0-500 m from human settlements), which bears tend to utilize least, compared to those in the stratum utilized more than expected by bears. The same pattern in size of anthills was evident when looking only at anthills within the forest category 'Secondary thinning', where most of the anthills from the F. rufa group were recorded. However, contrary to our predictions, we did not find similar pattern in anthill density, although the densities of F. rufa group anthills we recorded coincided with densities found in other studies in Fennoscandia (Punttila 1996, Punttila and Kilpeläinen 2009, Finér et al. 2013, and references therein). In line with our predictions, there were no significant difference in height or volume of *Coptoformica* spp. anthills, which are utilized to a much lesser degree by Scandinavian brown bears, between the two study areas. The same pattern, with significant differences in size between anthills of the F. rufa group was also found when only considering anthills in the forest category 'Secondary thinning'. Based on these results, our hypothesis, that predation from bears reduced populations of preferred ant populations in boreal forests, seems to be supported.

Up to 25,000 ants inhabit large *F. exsecta* anthills (Douwes et al. 2012), whereas the anthills of some species in the *F. rufa* group can consist of 100.000 to 1 mill. workers (Savolainen and Vepsäläinen 1988). Anthill size can be used as a proxy for the number of workers in the anthill (e.g., Deslippe and Savolainen 1994, Liautard et al. 2003); hence, size probably indicates how much each anthill will influence the surrounding ecosystem. Our results suggest that brown bears reduced the average size of the anthills of their preferred species (*F. rufa* group anthills) by 46%, but not the density. The difference in anthill sizes could influence the number of ants in the areas, and reducing the number of ants in an area may in turn have effects on the ecosystem functionality.

According to Rosengren et al. (1979), 2-3 anthills/ha is needed to exert a strong effect on other species in a forest landscape, and the overall densities we estimated were within this range. Exclusion experiments have shown that reducing the number of ants in an area can cause changes to other species in the ecosystem. One example is a study conducted in northern Sweden, where *F. aquilonia* ants were excluded from spruce trees close to their colonies (Haemig 1994). The trees where ants were excluded had a higher diversity of arthropods and spiders, and arthropod-feeding birds visited these trees more often than trees where the ants were not excluded (Haemig 1992, 1994). Another study conducted in northern Sweden looked at the effect of excluding ants on the forest floor (Wardle et al. 2011). They found that the absence of ants increased diversity and richness of vascular plants, and increased biomass of the most common herbaceous species. This effect could be due to the transportation of seeds by ants. In turn, this ant-mediated change in the plant composition also caused an increase in active soil microbes, influencing e.g., litter decomposition. Grinath et al. (2014) investigated plants near *F. obscuripes* (Forel 1886) anthills that had been damaged by American black bears (*Ursus americanus*) in Colorado, USA. They found that

the reduction in number of ants following bear predation increased the reproduction of rabbitbrush (*Chrysothamnus viscidiflorus*), because the mutualistic relationship between ants and treehoppers (*Pubilia modesta*, Uhler: Membracidae) had been weakened and the treehoppers' negative effects on the plants were reduced (Grinath et al. 2014).

It could be argued that habitats close to settlements would display different characteristics than areas farther from settlements, e.g., that settlements are located in or closer to more productive areas, which could maybe affect anthill size and density. For the study on human influence in study area C, we only surveyed forested areas, and because the transects had to fit within the borders of a forest patch excluding a 50 m buffer from roads, we only surveyed patches of a certain minimum size. This way of selecting which area to survey contributed to both the comparison of more similar habitat across the different strata, even the stratum closest to settlements, in addition to ensuring that we surveyed the habitat type most often used by Formica ants in our study area A and B. However, this selection of areas to survey did not provide completely comparable density estimates between study areas A/B and C, because not all parts of the study area C would have a non-zero probability of being surveyed (Thomas et al. 2010). Nonetheless, the results from study area C were consistent with the results from the study areas A and B. Furthermore, the F. rufa group anthills in study area B were higher than F. rufa group anthills in study area C, whereas F. rufa group anthills in strata 2 and 3 in study area C did not differ significantly from the anthills in study area A, where all the transects were located more than 500 m from settlements.

Certain key habitat characteristics influence the occurrence and densities of species in the *F*. *rufa* group, such as altitude and latitude (e.g. Laine and Niemelä , 1989, as cited in Stockan and Robinson 2016), vegetation composition (Rosengren et al. 1979), aspect (Kilpeläinen et

al. 2008, Risch et al. 2008), habitat type (e.g., Punttila and Kilpeläinen 2009), forest age (e.g., Kilpeläinen et al. 2008), and forest management (e.g., Rosengren et al. 1979). All study areas were located below the timberline, and the altitudes of the three study areas were comparable. South- and west-facing hills are the aspects most often inhabited by ants (Stockan and Robinson 2016, and references therein). The aspects in the three study areas were comparable, with 38% and 43% south- and west-facing terrain in study area A and B, respectively (Table 2). Ants in the F. rufa group use a broad range of forested habitat types, except pure beech (Fagus sylvatica) stands (Eichhorn 1963 and Wellenstein 1967, cited in Stockan and Robinson 2016). They tend to prefer older forest stands, but are found in a wide variety of forest age classes (e.g., Travan 1998, cited in Stockan and Robinson 2016). Forestry can influence both composition and abundance of F. rufa ants through the mechanical disturbances during logging and ground preparation (Stockan and Robinson 2016). Foraging routes and prey densities can be affected, and changes in the size of forest patches can cause changes to the composition of ant species (Stockan and Robinson 2016). Clear-cutting can also cause the development of many small, but maybe short-lived, anthills (Rosengren et al. 1979). Study area A consisted of a lower portion of clear-cuts/young forest, deciduous forest, and mixed forest than study area B (Table 1). Study area A also contained more bogs and water/lakes than study area B (Table 1). Despite the small differences in habitat structure between the two study areas in general, the main environmental factors influencing anthill composition and density in the two study areas were similar, and we consider the two study areas to be comparable.

To ensure that we compared the size of anthills for ants living under similar conditions, we also investigated sizes of anthills recorded only in the habitat category 'Secondary thinning'. This is a broad habitat category, where the tree trunks are ≥ 10 cm in diameter at 1.3 m, and

more than 10 years remains until the trees are ready to be harvested (Karlsson et al. 1991). We found that most of the *F. rufa* group anthills were located in this habitat category (Table 3). We identified the same pattern as for the entire dataset when we analyzed the data only for the *F. rufa* group anthills in habitat category 'Secondary thinning'. Our results were the same; anthills were smaller in size in study area A than in study area B. This supported the general finding that there was a difference in anthill size between the two study areas, presumably due to brown bear predation on preferred ant species.

In study areas A and B, our aim was to survey all inactive anthills, in addition to the active anthills. We found that 26% of the anthills were inactive/abandoned in study areas A and B combined. This agrees with the results of Punttila and Kilpeläinen (2009), who reported that 25% of the anthills surveyed in Finland were abandoned. The proportion of inactive anthills can be influenced by fragmentation of the forest, as more anthills of *F. aquilonia* have been found to be abandoned on clear-cuts compared to the forest interior (Sorvari and Hakkarainen 2007). Also, we found that a higher proportion of the inactive anthills were disturbed. However, it is interesting to note that the size difference between the two areas seen in active anthills, was present also in inactive anthills.

Conclusion

Our results showed that anthills of the *F. rufa* group, which are preferred as food by brown bears, were lower and smaller in an area with a high density of bears, compared to an area with a much lower density of bears. Anthills of *Coptoformica* spp., which is not preferred by bears, did not differ significantly in size between these two areas. The anthills were larger in a zone close to human settlements and smaller in the area used more than expected by bears. We did not find a significant difference in ant densities between the two study areas, nor at

different distances to human settlements in a third study area. We therefore conclude that predation and/or anthill excavation by bears influenced the population size of the preferred anthill-building ant species through a decrease in anthill size. This might have cascading consequences for the ecosystem functionality in areas with and without bears, through the ants' effect on other species.

Acknowledgements

We want to thank Alexandra Thiel for help with fieldwork in 2016, and Freya Egan for help with fieldwork in 2017. No ethical permits were needed to collect the ant specimens (Swedish Board of Agriculture:

http://www.jordbruksverket.se/amnesomraden/djur/olikaslagsdjur/forsoksdjur). The study was conducted in the Scandinavian Brown Bear Research Project (SBBRP), which mainly has been financed by the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, the Norwegian Environment Directorate, the Austrian Science Fund, and the Swedish Association for Hunting and Wildlife Management.
References

- Artdatabanken. 2017a. Artfakta. Dryocopus martius. Spillkråka
- https://artfakta.artdatabanken.se/taxon/100049. Access date: 26.09.2017 Artdatabanken. 2017b. Artfakta. Picus viridis. Gröngöling.
- https://artfakta.artdatabanken.se/taxon/102977. Access date: 26.09.2017 Artdatabanken. 2017c. Artfakta. Sus scrofa. Vildsvin.

https://artfakta.artdatabanken.se/taxon/6010576. Access date: 29.09.2017

- Borkin, K. M., R. W. Summers, and L. Thomas. 2012. Surveying abundance and stand type associations of Formica aquilonia and *F. lugubris* (Hymenoptera: Formicidae) nest mounds over an extensive area: Trial a novel method. European Journal of Entomology **109**:47-53.
- Buckland, S. T., D. R. Anderson, K. P. Burnham, J. L. Laake, D. L. Borchers, and L. Thomas. 2001. Introduction to Distance Sampling: Estimating Abundance of Biological Populations. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK.
- Buckland, S. T., E. A. Rexstad, T. A. Marques, and C. S. Oedekoven. 2015. Distance sampling: Estimating Abundance of Biological Populations. Springer, Heidelberg, Germany.
- Coogan, S. C. P., D. Raubenheimer, G. B. Stenhouse, and S. E. Nielsen. 2014. Macronutrient Optimization and Seasonal Diet Mixing in a Large Omnivore, the Grizzly Bear: A Geometric Analysis. Plos One. 9:e97968
- Dahle, B., and J. E. Swenson. 2003. Home ranges in adult Scadinavian brown bears (Ursus arctos): effect of mass, sex, reproductive category, population density and habitat type. Journal of Zoology 260:329-335.
- Dahle, B., O. J. Sørensen, E. H. Wedul, J. E. Swenson, and F. Sandegren. 1998. The diet of brown bears Ursus arctos in central Scandinavia: effect of access to free-ranging domestic sheep Ovis aries. Wildlife Biology 4:147-158.
- Deslippe, R. J., and R. Savolainen. 1994. Role of Food Supply in Structuring a Population of Formica Ants. Journal of Animal Ecology, **63**:756-764.
- Domisch, T., L. Finér, S. Neuvonen, P. Niemelä, A. C. Risch, J. Kilpeläinen, M. Ohashi, and M. F. Jurgensen. 2009. Foraging activity and dietary spectrum of wood ants (*Formica rufa* group) and their role in nutrient fluxes in boreal forests. Ecological Entomology **34**:369-377.
- Douwes, P., J. Abenius, B. Cederberg, and U. Wahlstedt. 2012. Steklar: Myror- getingar. Hymenoptera: Formicidae - Vespidae. Artsdatabanken, Sverige.
- Elfström, M., M. L. Davey, A. Zedrosser, M. Müller, M. De Barba, O.-G. Støen, C. Miguel, P. Taberlet, K. Hackländer, and J. E. Swenson. 2014. Do Scandinavian brown bears approach settlements to obtain high-quality food? Biological Conservation **178**:128-135.
- Elgmork, K. 1999. Bjørnens liv. Kolltorp Forlag, Hønefoss, Norway.
- Elgmork, K., and S. Unander. 1999. Brown bear use of ant mounds in Scandinavia. Ursus 10:269-274.
- ESRI. 2012. ArcGIS Desktop: Release 10.1. Environmental Systems Research Institute, Redlands, CA.
- Finér, L., M. F. Jurgensen, T. Domisch, J. Kilpeläinen, S. Neuvonen, P. Punttila, A. C. Risch, M. Ohashi, and P. Niemelä. 2013. The role of wood ants (Formica rufa group) in carbon and nutrient dynamics of a boreal Norway spruce forest ecosystem. Ecosystems 16:196-208.
- Frank, S. C., M. Leclerc, F. Pelletier, F. Rosell, J. E. Swenson, R. Bischof, J. Kindberg, H. G. Eiken, S. B. Hagen, and A. Zedrosser. 2018. Sociodemographic factors modulate the spatial response of brown bears to vacancies created by hunting. Journal of Animal Ecology 87:247-258.
- Frank, S. C., S. M. J. G. Steyaert, J. E. Swenson, I. Storch, J. Kindberg, H. Barck, and A. Zedrosser. 2015. A "clearcut" case? Brown bear selection of coarse woody debris and carpenter ants on clearcuts. Forest Ecology and Management **348**:164-173.
- Gorb, S. N., and E. V. Gorb. 1999. Effects of Ant Species Composition on Seed Removal in Deciduous Forest in Eastern Europe. Oikos **84**:110-118.
- Grinath, J., B. Inouye, and N. Underwood. 2014. Bears benefit plants via a cascade with both antagonistic and mutualistic interactions. Ecology Letters **18**:164-173.

Haemig, P. D. 1992. Competition between Ants and Birds in a Swedish Forest. Oikos **65**:479-483. Haemig, P. D. 1994. Effect of ants on the foraging of birds in spruce trees. Oecologia **97**:35-40.

- Karlsson, C., S.-E. Westman, L. Eng, and B. Hedberg. 1991. Skogsuppskattning, skogsinventering. 2nd edition. KW, Sollefteå, Sweden.
- Kilpeläinen, J., P. Punttila, L. Finér, P. Niemelä, T. Domisch, M. F. Jurgensen, S. Neuvonen, M. Ohashi, A. C. Risch, and L. Sundström. 2008. Distribution of ant species and mounds (*Formica*) in different-aged managed spruce stands in eastern Finland. Journal of Applied Entomology 132.
- Kindberg, J., and J. E. Swenson. 2014. Björnstammens storlek i Sverige 2013 länsvisa skattningar och trender. Scandinavian Brown Bear Research Project.
- Kindberg, J., and J. E. Swenson. 2018. Björnstammens storlek i Dalarnas och Gävleborgs län 2017. The Scandinavian Brown Bear Research Project.
- Liautard, C., W. D. Brown, K. R. Helms, and L. Keller. 2003. Temporal and spatial variations of gyne production in the ant *Formica exsecta*. Oecologia **136**:558-564.
- Manchi, S., and J. E. Swenson. 2005. Denning behaviour of Scandinavian brown bears Ursus arctos. Wildlife Biology **11**:123-132.
- Manel, S., E. Bellemain, J. E. Swenson, and O. François. 2004. Assumed and inferred spatial structure of populations: the Scandinavian brown bears revisited. Molecular Ecology **13**:1327-1331.
- Marques, T. A., L. Thomas, S. G. Fancy, and S. T. Buckland. 2007. Improving estimates of bird density using multi-covariate distance sampling. The Auk **124**:1229-1243.
- Martin, J., M. Basille, B. Van Moorter, J. Kindberg, D. Allainé, and J. E. Swenson. 2010. Coping with human disturbance: spatial and temporal tactics of the brown bear (*Ursus arctos*). Canadian Journal of Zoology 88:875-883.
- Miller, D. L. 2017. Distance: Distance Sampling Detection Function and Abundance Estimation. R package version 0.9.7. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=Distance.
- Nellemann, C., O.-G. Støen, J. Kindberg, J. E. Swenson, I. Vistnes, G. Ericsson, J. Katajisto, B. P. Kaltenborn, J. Martin, and A. Ordiz. 2007. Terrain use by an expanding brown bear population in relation to age, recreational resorts and human settlements. Biological Conservation **138**:157-165.
- Punttila, P. 1996. Succession, forest fragmentation, and the distribution of wood ants. Oikos **75**:291-298.
- Punttila, P., and J. Kilpeläinen. 2009. Distribution of mound-building ant species (*Formica* spp., Hymenoptera) in Finland: preliminary results of a national survey. Annales Zoologici Fennici 46:1-15.
- R Core Team. 2018. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Risch, A. C., M. F. Jurgensen, M. Schütz, and D. S. Page-Dumroese. 2005. The contribution of red wood ants to soil C and N pools and CO² emissions in subalpine forests. Ecology **86**:419-430.
- Risch, A. C., M. F. Jurgensen, A. J. Storer, M. D. Hyslop, and M. Schütz. 2008. Abundance and distribution of organic mound-building ants of the Formica rufa group in Yellowstone National Park. Journal of Applied Entomology **132**:326-336.
- Rolstad, J., B. Løken, and E. Rolstad. 2000. Habitat selection as a hierarchical spatial process: the green woodpecker at the northern edge of its distribution range. Oecologia **124**:116-129.
- Rolstad, J., P. Majewski, and E. Rolstad. 1998. Black woodpecker use of habitats and feeding substrates in a managed Scandinavian forest. Journal of Wildlife Management **62**:11-23.
- Rosengren, R., K. Vepsäläinen, and H. Wuorenrinne. 1979. Distribution, nest densities, and ecological significance of wood ants (the Formica rufa group) in Finland. Bulletin SROP **11**:183-213.
- Rybnikova, I. A., and A. V. Kuznetsov. 2015. Complexes of *Formica* s. str. nests in the Darwin Nature Reserve and causes of their degradation. Entomological Review **95**:947-952.
- Savolainen, R., and K. Vepsäläinen. 1988. A competition hierarchy among boreal ants: Impact on resource partitioning and community structure. Oikos **51**:135-155.

- Sorvari, J., and H. Hakkarainen. 2005. Deforestation reduces nest mound size and decreases the production of sexual offspring in the wood ant *Formica aquilonia*. Annales Zoologici Fennici **42**:259-267.
- Sorvari, J., and H. Hakkarainen. 2007. Wood ants are wood ants: deforestation causes population declines in the polydomous wood ant *Formica aquilonia*. Ecological Entomology **32**:707-711.
- Stenset, N. E., P. N. Lutnæs, V. Bjarnadóttir, B. Dahle, K. H. Fossum, P. Jigsved, T. Johansen, W. Neumann, O. Opseth, O. Rønning, S. M. J. G. Steyaert, A. Zedrosser, S. Brunberg, and J. E. Swenson. 2016. Seasonal and annual variation in the diet of brown bears *Ursus arctos* in the boreal forest of southcentral Sweden. Wildlife Biology 22:107-116.
- Steyaert, S. M. J. G., J. Kindberg, J. E. Swenson, and A. Zedrosser. 2013. Male reproductive strategy explains spatiotemporal segregation in brown bears. Journal of Animal Ecology **82**:836-845.
- Stockan, J., and E. J. H. Robinson. 2016. Wood Ant Ecology and Conservation. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Swedish Environmental Protection Agency. 2017. Rovbase. http://rovbase.se/
- Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute. 2017a. Normal medeltemperatur för januari. http://www.smhi.se/klimatdata/meteorologi/temperatur/normal-medeltemperatur-forjanuari-1.3976.
- Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute. 2017b. Normal medeltemperatur för juli. http://www.smhi.se/klimatdata/meteorologi/temperatur/normal-medeltemperatur-for-juli-1.3991.
- Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute. 2017c. Normal uppmätt årsnederbörd, medelvärde 1961-1990. http://www.smhi.se/klimatdata/meteorologi/nederbord/normaluppmatt-arsnederbord-medelvarde-1961-1990-1.4160
- Swedish Museum of Natural History. 2017. Teknisk rapport Björnspillningsinventering 2017
- Swenson, J. E., A. Jansson, R. Riig, and F. Sandegren. 1999. Bears and ants: myrmecophagy by brown bears in central Scandinavia. Canadian Journal of Zoology-Revue Canadienne De Zoologie 77:551-561.
- Swenson, J. E., P. Wabakken, F. Sandegren, A. Bjärvall, R. Franzén, and A. Söderberg. 1995. The near extinction and recovery of brown bears in Scandinavia in relation to the bear management policies of Norway and Sweden. Wildlife Biology 1:11-25.
- Thomas, L., S. T. Buckland, E. A. Rexstad, J. L. Laake, S. Strindberg, S. L. Hedley, J. R. B. Bishop, T. A. Marques, and K. P. Burnham. 2010. Distance software: design and analysis of distance sampling surveys for estimating population size. Journal of Applied Ecology 47:5-14.
- Wardle, D. A., F. Hyodo, R. D. Bardgett, G. W. Yeates, and M.-C. Nilsson. 2011. Long-term aboveground and belowground consequences of red wood ant exclusion in boreal forest. Ecology **92**:645-656.
- Xenikoudakis, G., E. Ersmark, J.-L. Tison, L. Waits, J. Kindberg, J. E. Swenson, and L. Dalén. 2015. Consequences of a demographic bottleneck on genetic structure and variation in the Scandinavian brown bear. Molecular Ecology 24:3441-3454.
- Zakharov, A. A., and R. A. Zakharov. 2011. Immigration and formation of mixed colonies in Red wood ants (Hymenoptera, Formicidae). Entomological Review **91**:141-151.

Appendix 1:

Table 1A: Summary of the detection function models for *Formica rufa* group anthills in study area A in southcentral Sweden. Key functions: HR = hazard-rate, HN = half-normal, Uni = uniform. Adjustment terms: cos = cosine, poly = polynomial. CvM: p-value Cramér-von Mises test.

Key	Adjustment	Order of			
function	term	adj. terms	Covariate	CvM	ΔAIC
HR			~1	0.876	0.00
HR			Observer	0.875	0.74
HN	cos	2, 3	~1	0.818	1.03
Uni	cos	1, 2, 3	NA	0.649	1.49
HN			~1	0.061	5.68
HR			Habitat category	0.996	6.20
HR			Habitat category + observer	0.971	7.22
HN			Observer	0.061	7.62
Uni	poly	2,4	NA	0.036	8.38
HN			Habitat category	0.062	13.12
HN			Habitat category + observer	0.063	15.06

Table 2A: Summary of the detection function models for *Formica rufa* group anthills in study area B in southcentral Sweden. Key functions: HR = hazard-rate, HN = half-normal, Uni = uniform. Adjustment terms: cos = cosine, poly = polynomial. CvM: p-value Cramér-von Mises test.

Key	Adjustment	Order of			
function	term	adj. terms	Covariate	CvM	ΔAIC
HN			Observer	0.286	0.00
HR			Observer	0.483	0.21
HR			Habitat category + observer	0.198	1.31
HN			Habitat category + observer	0.082	4.33
HN			~1	0.988	8.34
Uni	cos	1	NA	0.960	8.41
Uni	poly	2	NA	0.989	8.43
HR			~1	0.994	10.16
HN			Habitat category	0.825	13.58
HR			Habitat category	0.866	15.23

Table 3A: Summary of the detection function models for *Formica rufa* group anthills in stratum 1 in study area C in southcentral Sweden. Stratum 1: 0-500 m from settlements. Key functions: HR = hazard-rate, HN = half-normal, Uni = uniform. Adjustment terms: cos = cosine, poly = polynomial. CvM: p-value Cramér-von Mises test.

Key	Adjustment	Order of			
function	term	adj. terms	Covariate	CvM	ΔAIC
Uni	poly	2	NA	0.353	0.00
HR			~1	0.914	0.21
HR			Observer	0.847	1.63
HN			Habitat category + Observer	0.286	1.65
HN			~1	0.546	1.75
HR			Habitat category	0.648	1.88
HN			Observer	0.531	2.43
Uni	cos	1	NA	0.462	3.18
HN			Habitat category	0.386	6.00
HR			Habitat category + Observer	0.068	18.58

Table 4A: Summary of the detection function models for *Formica rufa* group anthills in stratum 2 in study area C in southcentral Sweden. Stratum 2: 500-1,500 m from settlements. Key functions: HR = hazard-rate, HN = half-normal, Uni = uniform. Adjustment terms: cos = cosine, poly = polynomial. CvM: p-value Cramér-von Mises test.

Key	Adjustment	Order of			
function	term	adj. terms	Covariate	CvM	ΔAIC
Uni	cos	1	NA	0.597	0.00
HN			~1	0.484	1.05
HR			~1	0.693	1.30
Uni	poly	2	NA	0.252	2.13
HN			Observer	0.566	2.56
HR			Observer	0.795	3.06
HN			Habitat category	0.603	5.06
HR			Habitat category	0.573	5.28
HN			Habitat category + Observer	0.453	6.68
HR			Habitat category + Observer	0.549	7.27

Table 5A: Summary of the detection function models for *Formica rufa* group anthills in stratum 3 in study area C in southcentral Sweden. Stratum 3: farther than1,500 m from settlements. Key functions: HR = hazard-rate, HN = half-normal, Uni = uniform. Adjustment terms: cos = cosine, poly = polynomial. CvM: p-value Cramér-von Mises test.

Key	Adjustment	Order of			
function	term	adj. terms	Covariate	CvM	ΔAIC
HR			~1	0.294	0.00
Uni	cos	1	NA	0.151	0.04
HN			~1	0.209	0.17
Uni	poly	2	NA	0.297	0.75
HR			Habitat category	0.564	1.93
HR			Observer	0.295	2.00
HN			Observer	0.216	2.09
HN			Habitat category	0.142	3.36
HN			Habitat category + Observer	0.177	4.93

ISBN: 978-82-575-1547-8 ISSN:1894-6402







Norwegian University of Life Sciences NINA Postboks 5685 Torgarden NO-7485 Trondheim, Norway www.nina.no

Skandinaviska Björnprojektet Tackåsen – Kareliusväg 2 SE-79498 Orsa, Sweden bearproject.info

Postboks 5003 NO-1432 Ås, Norway +47 67 23 00 00 www.nmbu.no